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EXPLANATORY NOTES

This post-effective amendment on Form SB-2 serses @ost-effective amendment to the initial regt&n statement on Form SB-2. This
purpose of this post-effective amendment is to tepttee financials and other information, and tonéliate or modify information regarding
those selling stockholders listed in the initisdistration statement who have sold or otherwissegd®eneficial ownership of their shares
pursuant to the registration statement.

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

PROPOSED PROPOSED

MAXIMUM MAXIMUM AMOUNT OF

TITLE OF EACH CLASS OF SECURITIES AMOUNT TO BE OFFERING PRICE  AGGREGATE REGISTRATION

TO BE REGISTERED REGISTERED (1) PER UNIT OFFERING PRICE FEE (2)
Common Stock, $.01 par value (3) 220,000 $ 3.00 $ 660,000 $ 77.68
Common Stock, $.01 par value 150,000 $ 250 $ 375,000 $ 44.14
Common Stock, $.01 par value 180,000 $ 375 % 675,000 $ 79.45
Common Stock, $.01 par value 200,000 $ 2.00 $ 400,000 $ 47.08
Common Stock, $.01 par value/ 360,000 $ 5.46 $ 2,000,000 $ 235.40
Underlying a Convertible Note (4)
Common Stock, $.01 par value/ 50,000 $ 3.00 $ 150,000 $ 17.65
Underlying Warrants (5)
TOTAL 1,160,000 N/A $ 4,260,000 $ 501.40

(1) In accordance with Rule 416 under the Secsritiet of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), this regisbn statement also covers any additic
shares of common stock which may become issualderdsy reason of any stock dividend, stock spitcapitalization or any other similar
transaction effected without the consideration Wwhigsults in an increase in the number of regisgaitstanding shares of common stock.
(2) This calculation is made solely for the purposédetermining the registration fee pursuanhtogrovisions of Rule 457 under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. THIS FEE WAEWYRUSLY PAID UPON THE FILING OF THE INITIAL FORM 8-2
REGISTRATION STATEMENT.

(3) Shares of Common Stock issuable upon the ceioreof a Convertible Debenture.

(4) Shares of Common Stock issuable upon the csioreof a Convertible Note with exercise pricesgiag from $4.50 to $7.50 per share,
with an average weighted conversion price of $pdb6share.

(5) Shares of Common Stock issuable upon the eseeafiWarrants.

THE REGISTRANT HEREBY AMENDS THIS REGISTRATION STAMENT ON SUCH DATE OR DATES AS MAY BE
NECESSARY TO DELAY ITS EFFECTIVE DATE UNTIL THE REISTRANT SHALL FILE A FURTHER AMENDMENT WHICH
SPECIFICALLY STATES THAT THIS REGISTRATION sTATEMENSHALL THEREAFTER BECOME EFFECTIVE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 8(A) OF THE SECURITIES AGDF 1933 OR UNTIL THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT SHALL
BECOME EFFECTIVE ON SUCH DATE AS THE SECURITIES ANEXCHANGE COMMISSION, ACTING PURSUANT TO SAID
SECTION 8(A), MAY DETERMINE.



THE INFORMATION IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT COMPLETAND MAY BE CHANGED. THE SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
MAY NOT SELL THESE SECURITIES UNTIL THE REGISTRATIR STATEMENT FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION IS EFFECTIVE. THIS PROSPECTUSNOT AN OFFER TO SELL THESE SECURITIES AND THE
SELLING STOCKHOLDERS ARE NOT SOLICITING AN OFFER TBUY THESE SECURITIES IN ANY STATE WHERE THE OFFE
OR SALE IS NOT PERMITTED.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED MAY 16, 2006

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
552,100 SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

This prospectus relates to the offering for resélgp to 222,100 shares of our common stock, $padvalue ("Common Stock") currently
held by certain selling stockholders, 220,000 shafeCommon Stock issuable upon the conversion@élzenture currently held by a selling
stockholder, 60,000 shares of Common Stock issugila the conversion of a Convertible Note curgehdld by a selling stockholder, and
50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon theecsion of warrants. For a list of the selling &toaiders, please see "Selling
Stockholders." We are not selling any shares ofGammon Stock in this offering and therefore wik meceive any proceeds from the sale
thereof. We may, however, receive the benefit oEpeds upon the conversion of the Debenture atitddConvertible Note held by certain
selling stockholders for which we are registering tinderlying shares of Common Stock. Upon coneersf any portion of the Debenture
and/or the Convertible Note, we will apply the preds received directly to the debt for which thé&weure and/or Convertible Note was
issued and the principal amount(s) of the Noteamithe Debenture will be reduced accordingly. Aiddially, we may receive proceeds of
approximately $300,000 upon the exercise of wastamhich we would apply toward general operatingesses. We will bear all expenses,
other than selling commissions and fees of théngeditockholders, in connection with the registmatand sale of the shares being offered by
this prospectus.

These shares may be sold by the selling stockiofdam time to time in the over-the-counter maikebther national securities exchange or
automated interdealer quotation system on whichGmmmon Stock is then listed or quoted, througlotiated transactions or otherwise at
market prices prevailing at the time of sale anegotiated prices.

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCapKkdt under the symbol "RICK." On May 11, 2006, It reported sales price of
our Common Stock was $7.33 per share.

INVESTING IN OUR COMMON STOCK INVOLVES A HIGH DEGRE E OF RISKS. PLEASE REFER TO THE "RISK
FACTORS" BEGINNING ON PAGE 2.

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NORNY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION HAS APPROVED C
DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES, OR DETERMINED IHIE PROSPECTUS IS TRUTHFUL OR COMPLETE. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENES

THE DATE OF THIS PROSPECTUS IS , 200
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights selected infornoaticontained in this prospectus. This summary doésontain all of the information you
should consider before investing in the securiBafore making an investment decision, you shoedtirthe entire prospectus carefully,
including the risk factors section, the financi@tsments and the notes to the financial statem¥nts should also review the other available
information referred to in the section entitled 'Héfe you can find more information" on page 4&is prospectus and any amendment or
supplement hereto. Unless otherwise indicatedteitnes the "Company," "we," "us," and "our" refedaelate to Rick's Cabaret International,
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

THE COMPANY

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. \Wieantly own and operate a total of ten adult réghds that offer live adult entertainment,
restaurant and bar operations. Five of our clulesaip under the name "Rick's Cabaret" and founettubs operate under the name "XTC".
Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin and San Aitohexas; Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapdhnnesota; and New York, New Yol
In January 2005, we acquired a club in New YorkwNéork which opened in September 2005. In June 2@@4converted our original Ricl
Cabaret nightclub in Houston's Galleria DistridbifiClub Onyx", an upscale venue that welcomesustomers but cater especially to urban
professionals, businessmen and professional ashMte also own or operate premiere adult entergimnimternet websites.

Our online entertainment sites are xxxPassword.&uoaplesTouch.com, CouplesClick.net, and NaughtyB@m. The site xxxPassword.c
features adult content licensed through Voice Mddie. CouplesTouch.com and CouplesClick.net aregrals sites for those in the
swinging lifestyle. Naughtybids.com is our onlirgu#i auction site. It contains consumer-initiatedtéons for items such as adult videos,
apparel, photo sets, adult paraphernalia and etia¢ica. There are typically approximately 10,00thv& auctions at this site at any given
time. We charge the seller a fee for each sucdemssétion. All of our sites use proprietary softegnatforms written by us to deliver the best
experience to the user without being constrainedfbhe-shelf software solutions.

THE OFFERING
Outstanding 4,901,148 shares (as of May 11, 2@@nmon Stock

Common Stock Up to 222,100 shares of Common Stelklty certain selling Offered stockholders, 220,8B8ares of Common Stock
issuable upon the conversion of a Convertible Delyen60,000 shares of common stock issuable upmexercise of a Convertible Note
(with conversion prices ranging from $7.00 to $7p80 share), and 50,000 shares of Common Stocabfsupon the exercise of warrants.

Offering Price Determined at the time of sale by $klling stockholders.
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Risk Factors The securities offered hereby invalvegh degree of risk.

See "Risk Factors" herein.
RISK FACTORS

An investment in our Common Stock involves a higlgree of risk. You should carefully consider ttssidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our Common Stock. If any oétleats, contingencies, circumstances or conditi@ssribed in the risks below actually
occurs, our business, financial condition or resaftoperations could be seriously harmed. Thertgagrice of our Common Stock could, in
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

RISKS RELATED TO THE COMPANY AND THE OFFERING

OUR BUSINESS OPERATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO REGULATORWOERTAINTIES WHICH MAY AFFECT OUR ABILITY TO
CONTINUE OPERATIONS OF EXISTING NIGHTCLUBS ACQUIREDDITIONAL NIGHTCLUBS OR BE PROFITABLE.

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpstdte and federal regulations. Our businesgjislaged by local zoning, local and state
liquor licensing, local ordinances and state amigffal time place and manner restrictions. The ahtkrtainment provided by our nightclubs
has elements of speech and expression and, therefgoys some protection under the First Amendretite United States Constitution.
However, the protection is limited to the express&nd not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileroghtclubs are generally well established
in their respective markets, there can be no assarthat local, state and/or federal licensing@heér regulations will permit our nightclubs
to remain in operation or profitable in the future.
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WE MAY NEED ADDITIONAL FINANCING OR OUR BUSINESS EX PANSION PLANS MAY BE SIGNIFICANTLY LIMITED.

If cash generated from our operations is insuffitie satisfy our working capital and capital exgi¢ure requirements, we will need to raise
additional funds through the public or private safl@ur equity or debt securities. The timing antbant of our capital requirements will
depend on a number of factors, including cash #ioa cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadditional funds are raised through the
issuance of equity or convertible debt securities,percentage ownership of our then-existing $tudders will be reduced. We cannot assure
you that additional financing will be available tamms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equityancing, if available, may result in dilutic

to existing shareholders, and debt financing, #ikble, may include restrictive covenants. Anyuia by us to procure timely additional
financing will have material adverse consequencesu business operations.

THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL COMPETITION IN THE NIGHTCLUB E  NTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY WHICH MAY AFFECT
OUR ABILITY TO OPERATE PROFITABLY OR ACQUIRE ADDITI ONAL CLUBS.

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these atitgys may have greater financial and managenssaturces than us. Additionally, the
industry is subject to unpredictable competitivantts and competition for general entertainmenadalThere can be no assurance that we
will be able to remain profitable in this compet#iindustry.

RISK OF ADULT NIGHTCLUB OPERATIONS

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauram bar industry has been an extremely volatile stgu The industry tends to be extremely
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatwéeonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainindastry revenues increase, and when
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnrehistry revenues decline. Coupled with this econ@ansitivity are the trendy personal
preferences of the customers who frequent adulireéh We continuously monitor trends in our custetastes and entertainment
preferences so that, if necessary, we can makeppgte changes which will allow us to remain ohéhe premiere adult cabarets. However,
any significant decline in general corporate candi or uncertainties regarding future economicpeets that affect consumer spending
could have a material adverse effect on our busirasaddition, we have historically catered tdientele base from the upper end of the
market. Accordingly, further reductions in the amtsuof entertainment expenses allowed as dedudtionsincome under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, could adverf$ety sales to customers dependent upon corpoxainse accounts.

PERMITS RELATING TO THE SALE OF ALCOHOL

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesiirithe sale of alcoholic beverages. In Texas, thieoaity to issue a permit to sell alcoholic
beverages is governed by the Texas Alcoholic Bge@ommission (the "TABC"), which has the authgriityits discretion, to issue the
appropriate permits. Rick's presently holds a MiBederage Permit and a Late Hours Permit (the "R€imThese Permits are subject to
annual renewal, provided we have complied witmats and regulations governing the permits. Rehefva permit is subject to protest,
which may be made by a law enforcement agency @r fmgmber of the general public. In the event pfodest, the TABC may hold a hear
at which time the views of interested parties aq@essed. The TABC has the authority after suchimgaot to issue a renewal of the
protested
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alcoholic beverage permit. While we have never ks#ject to a protest hearing against the renefv@lioPermits, there can be no assurance
that such a protest could not be made in the fuhaecan there be any assurance that the Permitklvbe granted in the event such a protest
was made. Other states may have similar laws whi limit the availability of a permit to sell aleolic beverages or which may provide
suspension or revocation of a permit to sell altiochm®verages in certain circumstances. The tenmpanapermanent suspension or
revocations of either of the Permits or the in&pild obtain permits in areas of expansion wouldeh@a material adverse effect on the
revenues, financial condition and results of openatof the Company.

WE MUST CONTINUE TO MEET THE NASDAQ SMALL CAP MARKE T CONTINUED LISTING REQUIREMENTS OR WE
RISK DELISTING.

Our securities are currently listed for tradingtba Nasdaq Small Cap Market. We must continuetisfgaNasdaq's continued listing
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaanerse effect on our business. If our securitiesger de-listed from the Nasdag, it may
trade on the over-the-counter market, which mag kess liquid market. In such case, our sharehsldeility to trade or obtain quotations of
the market value of shares of our common stock evbalseverely limited because of lower trading r@s and transaction delays. These
factors could contribute to lower prices and larggneads in the bid and ask prices for our seesrifihere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the Nasdaq continusting requirements.

IN THE FUTURE, WE WILL INCUR SIGNIFICANT INCREASEOCOSTS AS A RESULT OF OPERATING AS A PUBLIC COMPANY,
AND OUR MANAGEMENT WILL BE REQUIRED TO DEVOTE SUBSANTIAL TIME TO NEW COMPLIANCE INITIATIVES.

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-OxlegfR€002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), as
well as new rules subsequently implemented by #€,$ave imposed various new requirements on pabligpanies, including requiring
changes in corporate governance practices. Ourgeamant and other personnel will need to devotéatantial amount of time to these new
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agltations will increase our legal and financiahgdiance costs and will make some
activities more time-consuming and costly. For egbanwe expect these new rules and regulationsatcerit more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain director and officebility insurance, and we may be required to inabrssantial costs to maintain the same or
similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, amathgr things, that we maintain effective intercahtrols for financial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures. In partic@ammencing in fiscal 2007, we must perform systaoh grocess evaluation and testing of
our internal controls over financial reporting ttoev management and our independent registeredgabtounting firm to report on the
effectiveness of our internal controls over finahceporting, as required by Section 404 of théb&ages-Oxley Act. Our testing, or the
subsequent testing by our independent registerklicpaccounting firm, may reveal deficiencies irr mternal controls over financial
reporting that are deemed to be material weakne@sgscompliance with Section 404 will require tha incur substantial accounting
expense and expend significant management efidiéscurrently do not have an internal audit groungl we will need to hire additional
accounting and financial staff with appropriate [pmbompany experience and technical accountingwedge. Moreover, if we are not able
to comply with the
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requirements of Section 404 in a timely manneif we or our independent registered public accagnfirm identifies deficiencies in our
internal controls over financial reporting that de=med to be material weaknesses, the marketqfrmar stock could decline, and we could
be subject to sanctions or investigations by th€ $Eother regulatory authorities, which would requadditional financial and management
resources.

UNINSURED RISKS

We maintain insurance in amounts we considers adedar personal injury and property damage to tithie business of the Company may
be subject. However, there can be no assurancenh@tured liabilities in excess of the coveragavjmted by insurance, which liabilities may
be imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusimilar "Dram Shop" statutes or common lavotles of liability in other states
where we operate or expand. The Texas "Dram Stiafpite provides a person injured by an intoxicgeon the right to recover damages
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldimhoeverages to such person if it was apparetitéserver that the individual being sold,
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wagausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgatelear danger to himself and others.
An employer is not liable for the actions of itsgoyee who overserves if (i) the employer requiteemployees to attend a seller training
program approved by the TABC;

(i) the employee has actually attended such aitrgiprogram; and (iii) the employer has not diyeot indirectly encouraged the employe!
violate the law. It is our policy to require théditservers of alcohol working at our clubs be deti as servers under a training program
approved by the TABC, which certification giveststary immunity to the sellers of alcohol from dageacaused to third parties by those \
have consumed alcoholic beverages at such estalgigtpursuant to the Texas Alcoholic Beverage CéHere can be no assurance,
however, that uninsured liabilities may not arideal could have a material adverse effect on the@my.

LIMITATIONS ON PROTECTION OF SERVICE MARKS

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick’'s" and "Riclab&et" are established under the common law hased our substantial and continuous
use of these trademarks in interstate commerce sinieast as early as 1987. "RICK'S AND STARS OE$!and "RICK'S CABARET"
logos are registered through service mark registratissued by the United States Patent and Trade@féice ("PTO"). There can be no
assurance that these steps taken by the Compgngteat its Service Marks will be adequate to detesappropriation of its protected
intellectual property rights. Litigation may be easary in the future to protect our rights frontimjement, which may be costly and time
consuming. The loss of the intellectual properghts owned or claimed by us could have a mategiaise affect on our business.

ANTI-TAKEOVER EFFECTS OF ISSUANCE OF PREFERRED STOCK

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspeéaul,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in ormmeare series, to fix the number of shares
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigihtd preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by the
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock &Bthard of Directors could adversely affect théntsgof the holders of Common Stock. For
example, such issuance could result in a classafrities outstanding that would have preferendés mespect to voting rights and dividends
and in liquidation over the Common Stock, and cdufztbn conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to Common Stock.
The Board's authority to issue Preferred Stockatdigcourage potential takeover attempts and odeilaly or prevent a change in control of
the Company through merger, tender offer, proxytestror otherwise by making such attempts morécditfto achieve or more costly. There
are no issued and outstanding shares of Preferred

Page £



Stock; there are no agreements or understandingseassuance of Preferred Stock, and the BoaRirefctors has no present intention to
issue Preferred Stock.

WE DO NOT ANTICIPATE PAYING DIVIDENDS ON COMMON SHA RES IN THE FORESEEABLE FUTURE.

Since our inception we have not paid any dividesd®ur common stock and we do not anticipate pagimgdividends in the foreseeable
future. We expect that future earnings, if any) bl used for working capital and to finance grawth

FUTURE SALES OF OUR COMMON STOCK MAY DEPRESS OUR STOCK PRICE.

The market price of our common stock could deddisa result of sales of substantial amounts ofoommon stock in the public market, or
a result of the perception that these sales coeddroIn addition, these factors could make it ndifficult for us to raise funds through future
offerings of common stock.

THERE IS A LIMITED PUBLIC TRADING MARKET FOR OUR CO MMON STOCK.

Our stock is currently traded on the Nasdag Smafi Market under the trading symbol "RICK". Thera igmited public trading market for
our common stock. Without an active trading marktegre can be no assurance of any liquidity orleegaue of our common stock, and
stockholders may be required to hold shares otommon stock for an indefinite period of time.

OUR STOCK PRICE HAS BEEN VOLATILE AND MAY FLUCTUATE IN THE FUTURE.
The trading price of our securities may fluctuagmiicantly. This price may be influenced by mdagtors, including:

- our performance and prospects;

- the depth and liquidity of the market for our seiies;

- sales by selling shareholders of shares issueswable in connection with the Debenture andfmm@rtible Note;
- investor perception of us and the industry inckhive operate;

- changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recordatens by analysts;

- general financial and other market conditions an

- domestic economic conditions.

Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexe, extreme price and trading volume volatilithese broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our securities
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OUR MANAGEMENT CONTROLS A SIGNIFICANT PERCENTAGE OF OUR CURRENT OUTSTANDING COMMON STOCK
AND THEIR INTERESTS MAY CONFLICT WITH THOSE OF OUR SHAREHOLDERS.

As of May 11, 2006, our Directors and executiveogffs and their respective affiliates collectivalyd beneficially owned approximately
23.6% of our outstanding common stock, includingvalrrants exercisable within 60 days. This coneitn of voting control gives our
Directors and executive officers and their respecéffiliates substantial influence over any matiehich require a shareholder vote,
including, without limitation, the election of Dittors, even if their interests may conflict witlodle of other shareholders. It could also have
the effect of delaying or preventing a change intic of or otherwise discouraging a potential dogpufrom attempting to obtain control of
us. This could have a material adverse effect emtarket price of our common stock or prevent diarsholders from realizing a premium
over the then prevailing market prices for thesrgls of common stock.

WE ARE DEPENDENT ON KEY PERSONNEL.

Our future success is dependent, in a large paurgtaining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ouedfitent and Chief Executive Officer. Mr.
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive kgmndédur industry. While Mr. Langan has no preggans to leave or retire in the near
future, his loss could have a negative effect anopeerating, marketing and financial performanogéfare unable to find an adequate
replacement with similar knowledge and experientthivour industry. We maintain key-man life insnca with respect to Mr. Langan.
Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agredr@ndescribed herein), there can be no assuthatklr. Langan will continue to be
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hamegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.

CUMULATIVE VOTING IS NOT AVAILABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS.

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporatiorcedrdingly, the holder or holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of our commaoglstmay elect all of our Directors. Managementgdagercentage ownership of our
outstanding common stock helps enable them to miaittieir positions as such and thus control oftauginess and affairs.

OUR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS HAVE LIMITED LIABILITY A ND HAVE RIGHTS TO INDEMNIFICATION.

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provids, @ermitted by governing Texas law, that our Diestind officers shall not be personally
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongtiamages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dineotoofficer, with certain exceptions. The
Articles further provide that we will indemnify oliirectors and officers against expenses and iiegsilthey incur to defend, settle, or satisfy
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bigeDirectors or officers unless, in such
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegtigence or willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleaynhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors and
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholderaanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Daescand officers for breach of their
duty of
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care, even though such an action, if successfghtatherwise have benefited us and our stockhslder

The Articles provide for the indemnification of cofificers and Directors, and the advancement tmtbEexpenses in connection with any
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent piechby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvyisimns meant to facilitate the indemnite
receipt of such benefits. These provisions cowanray other things: (i) specification of the metliddietermining entitlement to
indemnification and the selection of independeninse! that will in some cases make such deternoinatii) specification of certain time
periods by which certain payments or determinatioost be made and actions must be taken, anth@igstablishment of certain
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisimmder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteadors, officers and controlling persons
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have labssed that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such
indemnification is against public policy as expezb the Securities Act and is therefore unentainte

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We are including the following cautionary statemienthis Form SB-2 to make applicable and take athge of the safe harbor provision of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B%@r any forward-looking statements made by usrobehalf of us. Forward-looking
statements include statements concerning planscigs, goals, strategies, future events or padoce and underlying assumptions and
other statements, which are other than stateméhistorical facts. Certain statements in this F&B12 are forward-looking statements.
These statements are subject to risks and uncietaand are based on the beliefs and assumptionartagement and information currently
available to management. The use of words suchel®Ves," "expects," "anticipates,” "intends,"dip$," "estimates," "should," "likely" or
similar expressions, indicates a forward-lookirgtestnent. Such statements are subject to risks reettainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those projected. Suctksi@nd uncertainties are set forth below. Our etgtiens, beliefs and projections are
expressed in good faith and we believe that theg laareasonable basis, including without limitatioar examination of historical operating
trends, data contained in our records and other @ailable from third parties. There can be nomsse that our expectations, beliefs or
projections will result, be achieved, or be accast@d. In addition to other factors and mattersudised elsewhere in this Form SB-2, the
following are important factors that in our viewubd cause material adverse affects on our finamcadtition and results of operations: the
risks and uncertainties related to our future dp@nal and financial results, the risks and undeties relating to our Internet operations,
competitive factors, the timing of the opening®tifer clubs, the availability of acceptable finamgcto fund corporate expansion efforts, our
dependence on key personnel, the ability to mapnpgeations and the future operational strength afialyement, and the laws governing the
operation of adult entertainment businesses. We hawbligation to update or revise these forwanking statements to reflect the
occurrence of future events or circumstances.
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For a discussion of some additional factors that osuse actual results to differ materially froragé suggested by the forward-looking
statements, please read carefully the informatiateu "Risk Factors" beginning on page 2. The idieation in this document of factors that
may affect future performance and the accuracyfdrd-looking statements is meant to be illustetind by no means exhaustive. All
forward-looking statements should be evaluated thighunderstanding of their inherent uncertainty.

We operate in a very competitive and rapidly chagginvironment. New risks emerge from time to tand it is not possible for our
management to predict all risks, nor can we adbessnpact of all risks on our business or the mixte which any risk, or combination of
risks, may cause actual results to differ from ¢hosntained in any forward-looking statements.févard-looking statements included in
this prospectus are based on information avail@bles on the date of the prospectus. Except textent required by applicable laws or rules,
we undertake no obligation to publicly update afise any forwardeoking statement, whether as a result of new mftdion, future events
otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forwhroking statements attributable to us or persotis@on our behalf are expressly qualified
in their entirety by the cautionary statements amd throughout this prospectus.

You may rely only on the information contained histprospectus. We have not authorized anyoneadqe information different from that
contained in this prospectus. Neither the delivarthis prospectus nor the sale of Common Stocknséaat information contained in this
prospectus is correct after the date of this pretsige This prospectus is not an offer to sell dicgation of an offer to buy these securities in
any circumstances under which the offer or solicitais unlawful.

THE BUSINESS

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. \Wieently own and operate a total of ten adult réghts that offer live adult entertainment,
restaurant and bar operations. Five of our clulesaip under the name "Rick's Cabaret" and foune@ttubs operate under the name "XTC".
Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin and San Aitphexas; Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapadlinnesota; and New York, New Yol
In January 2005, we acquired a club in New YorkwNeork which opened in September 2005. In June 2@@4converted our original Ricl
Cabaret nightclub in Houston's Galleria DistriabifiClub Onyx", an upscale venue that welcomeswtomers but cater especially to urban
professionals, businessmen and professional ashMte also own or operate premiere adult enter@imirimternet websites.

Our online entertainment sites are xxxPassword.&@wouaplesTouch.com, and NaughtyBids.com. The siiassword.com features adult
content licensed through Voice Media, Inc. Couptsgih.com is a personals site for those in the swinlifestyle. Naughtybids.com is our
online adult auction site. It contains consumetiated auctions for items such as adult videosaegdpphoto sets, adult paraphernalia and
other erotica. There are typically approximatelyODQ active auctions at this site at any given tile charge the seller a fee for each
successful auction. All of our sites use proprigtftware platforms written by us to deliver tresbexperience to the user without being
constrained by off-the-shelf software solutions.
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Our website address is www.ricks.com. We make abikglfree of charge our Annual Report on Form 1®KQuarterly Reports on Form 10-
QSB, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendmenthose reports as soon as reasonably pradiaétbl such material is electronically
filed with the SEC under Securities Exchange Act@84, as amended. Information contained in thesitelshall not be construed as part of
this prospectus.

References to us include our 100%-owned, 85%-ovameld51%-owned consolidated subsidiaries.
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabare1 @83 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclubrimss was characterized by small
establishments generally managed by their owneer&ing policies of these establishments were déenthe sites were generally dimly lit,
standards for performers' personal appearanceemsdmmality were not maintained and it was custorfarperformers to alternate between
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and qualitbar service was low and food was not frequyeofiered. Music was usually "hard"
rock and roll, played at a loud level by a disk@g Usually, only cash was accepted. Many busmesasfelt uncomfortable in such
environments. Recognizing a void in the marketfdirst-class adult nightclub, we designed Riclabéret to target the more affluent
customer by providing a unique quality entertaintevironment. The following summarizes our arefagparation that distinguish us:

Female Entertainment. Our policy is to maintairhhégandards for both personal appearance and @ditgdor the topless entertainers and
waitresses. Of equal importance is a performeilgyatn present herself attractively and to talklwcustomers. We prefer that the performers
we hire be experienced dancers. We make a deteranires to whether a particular applicant is suitddased on such factors of appearance,
attitude, dress, communication skills and demeafiball clubs, except for our Minnesota locatiame entertainers are independent
contractors. We do not schedule their work hours.

Management. We often recruit staff from inside thy@ess industry, as well as from large restauaadtclub chains, in the belief that
management with experience in the sector addsrtakility to grow and attract quality entertaindvianagement with experience is able to
train new recruits from outside the industry.

Compliance Policies/Employees. We have a policgnsfuring that our business is carried on in conityrmith local, state and federal laws.
In particular, we have a "no tolerance" policy adlegal drug use in or around the premises. Pegtlaced throughout the nightclubs
reinforce this policy, as do periodic unannounceatehes of the entertainers' lockers. Entertagmetdswaitresses who arrive for work are not
allowed to leave the premises without the permissfomanagement. If an entertainer does leaverémipes, she is not allowed to return to
work until the next day. We continually monitor thehavior of entertainers, waitresses and custotonarssure that proper standards of
behavior are observed.
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Compliance Policies/Credit Cards. We review altldreard charges made by our customers. We hapkade a formal policy requiring that
all credit card charges must be approved, in vwgjtby management before any charges are acceptathddment is trained to review credit
card charges to ensure that the only charges apgfov payment are for food, drink and entertaintnen

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the suscé®ur branded adult nightclubs is a qualitystfitlass bar and restaurant operation to
compliment our adult entertainment. We employ ssrvhanagers who recruit and train professionalstadftand ensure that each customer
receives prompt and courteous service. We emplefsahlith restaurant experience. Our bar manageler amventory and schedule bar staff.
We believe that the operation of a first classa@sint is a necessary component to the operatiarpcdmiere adult cabaret, as is the provi
of premium wine, liquor and beer in order to endtied the customer perceives and obtains good v@luerestaurant operations provide
business lunch buffets and full lunch and dinnenmgervice with hot and cold appetizers, saladspse, steak, and lobster. An extensive
selection of quality wines is available.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls aseatial to the successful operation of a cashsnte nightclub and bar business. We have
designed and implemented internal procedures amlate designed to ensure the integrity of our apenal and accounting records.
Wherever practicable, we separate management peisioom all cash handling so that managemenbisisd from and does not handle any
cash. We use a combination of accounting and palisigentory control mechanisms to maintain a Hegtel of integrity in our accounting
practices. Information technology plays a significeole in capturing and analyzing a variety obimhation to provide management with the
information necessary to efficiently manage andamthe nightclub. Deposits of cash and creditigaceipts are reconciled each day to a
daily income report. In addition, we review on ayhasis (i) cash and credit card summaries whiehogether all cash and credit card
transactions occurring at the front door, the lrathe club and the cashier station, (ii) a sumnudrhe daily bartenders' check-out reports,
and (iii) a daily cash requirements analysis whietonciles the previous day's cash on hand toeiipginements for the next day's operations.
These daily computer reports alert managementyfariances from expected financial results basebistorical norms. We conduct a
monthly independent overview of our financial cdiwdi and operating results.

Atmosphere. We maintain a high design standardifrfaxilities and decor. The furniture and furnigds in the nightclubs are designed to
create the feeling of an upscale restaurant. Thedseystem is designed to provide quality sourewatls where conversations can still take
place. The environment is carefully monitored farsic selection, entertainer and waitress appeai@mteall aspects of customer service on a
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on servimgupper-end of the businessmen's market, somer afightclubs include a VIP room,
which is open to individuals who purchase membesshA VIP room provides a higher level of serviog &uxury.
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Advertising and Promotion. Our consumer marketimgtsgy is to position Rick's Cabarets as prensgatertainment facilities that provide
exceptional topless entertainment in a fun, yatrdist, environment. We use a variety of highly ééed methods to reach our customers: f
publications, local radio, cable television, newsga, billboards, taxi-cab reader boards, andrttexrniet, as well as a variety of promotional
campaigns. These campaigns ensure that the Riakar& name is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amountedia exposure over the years in national magazueh as Playboy, Penthouse, Glamour
Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time Magazind,Teexas Monthly Magazine. Segments about Rickie la&ed on national and local
television programs such as "Extra" and "Insideiudi, and we have provided entertainers for Pas\Rew features as well. Business
stories about Rick's Cabaret have appeared in TdeStfeet Journal, Los Angeles Times, Houston Bess Journal, and numerous other
regional publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name "Rickisatet" in Houston, Texas, Minneapolis, MinnesGtaarlotte, North Carolina, and New
York, New York. We also operate a nightclub in Himués Galleria District as "Club Onyx", an upscadsue that welcomes all customers but
caters especially to urban professionals, businessnd professional athletes. Additionally, we daur nightclubs in San Antonio, Austin,
and Houston, Texas that operate under the name WECalso own and operate a sports bar called "Riggorts Cabaret". We sold our New
Orleans nightclub in March 1999, but it continuesise the name "Rick's Cabaret" under a licengjngement.

RECENT NIGHTCLUB TRANSACTIONS

1. On May 9, 2006, the Company purchased Joint\est Inc., an operator of an adult nightclub imt8ddouston, Texas, formerly known
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HauBked. The purchase price was for $840,000 paichish. The club, located in Houston
suburbs, has been converted to an XTC Cabaret.

2. On April 5, 2006, the Company's wholly ownedsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. completed the acquisitof real property located at 9009
Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas where the Companyrently operates Rick's Sports Cabaret (previouslgnkhers Sports Bar and XTC South
clubs). Pursuant to the terms of the AgreementCitiapany paid a total sales price of $1,300,00&whonsisted of $500,000 in cash and
160,000 shares of the Company's restricted comtoek.sAs part of the transaction, the Company lgmeed to file a registration statement
for the resale of such restricted common stock.i#atthlly, nine months after the filing of the Refgation Statement, the Seller shall have
right, but not the obligation, to have the Comphuny the shares at a price of $5.00 per shareateaf no more than 10,000 shares per m
until such time as the Seller receives a total@f000 from the sale of such shares. Alternatjubly Seller shall have the option to sell such
shares in the open market upon the effectivenedgedRegistration Statement. The transaction wasdsult of arms-length
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negotiations between the parties.

3. On June 10, 2005, our wholly owned subsidiag| Rntertainment (North Carolina), Inc., a Northr@ana corporation entered into a
Purchase Agreement with Top Shelf, LLC, a Northdlima limited liability company and Tony Hege, thelder of Top Shelf's membership
interests, to purchase all of the issued and mdatg membership interests of Top Shelf which owaetghtclub known as "The Manhattan
Club" located in Charlotte, North Carolina. RCI Ho€arolina has been managing the Club under theeriRick's Cabaret" since February
2005.

The Purchase Agreement provides for a purchase pfi$1,000,000 which is payable with 180,000 shafeour common stock (the
"Shares") valued at $3.75 per share (the "Valub®Shares") and a seven year promissory notéNiie") in the amount of $325,000
bearing interest at the rate of 7% per annum. Ttite ¢ payable with an initial payment due Novermhe2005, of interest only for the period
of time from the date of Closing until October 2005, plus a principal reduction payment in the am@f $3,009.29. Thereafter, RCI North
Carolina will make eighty-three

(83) successive equal monthly payments commenceagibber 1, 2005, of principal and interest in ti@ant of $4,905.12 until paid in full.
The Note is secured by the assets of RCI North lDaro

The results of operations of the club are incluisheolur consolidated statement of operations frotoré&ry 1, 2005, when we assumed risk of
loss for the club's operations under a managengeaement.

4. On March 31, 2005, we entered an Stock Purchgesement with MBG Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware lted liability company to sell all

of the issued and outstanding shares of RCI Eimentgnt (Houston), Inc., our wholly owned subsidjaspich owned and operated an adult
entertainment cabaret known as Rick's Cabaret thSooated at 15301 Gulf Freeway, Houston, Texag. Agreement provided for a sales

price of $550,000, which was paid in cash uponistpsVe recorded a gain of $291,987.

The club's business was accounted for as discattioperations under accounting principles geneealtepted in the United States of
America and therefore, the club's results of openatand cash flows have been removed from the @ogip consolidated results of
continuing operations and cash flows for all pesipdesented in this document and such assetsatilities as of September 30, 2004 have
been netted in one line item on the balance sheet.

5. On September 15, 2004, our wholly-owned subsidRCI Entertainment (New York), Inc., a New Yarérporation, entered into a
definitive Stock Purchase Agreement with PeregEnterprises, Inc., a New York corporation and litareholders, pursuant to which RCI
New York agreed to purchase all of the shares ofaon stock of Peregrine. Peregrine owned and agebeat adult entertainment cabe
located in midtown Manhattan. The cabaret clulbdsited near the Empire State Building and Madisquum& Garden, and is less than 10
blocks from Times Square. We completed this traiimaon January 18, 2005.
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Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreemempuichase price of the transaction was $7,625@@@ble $2,500,000 in cash at closing
and $5,125,000 payable in a promissory note beaimgle interest at the rate of 4.0% per annum.Hiteenissory Note is payable
commencing 120 days after Closing as follows: if@)gayment of $58,333.33 per month for twenty-four

(24) consecutive months; (b) the payment of $63338r twenty-four (24) consecutive months; (@ frayment of $68,333.33 for twelve
(12) consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymthte remaining balance to be paid on the sikst-{61st) month. $2,000,000 of the
principal amount of the Promissory Note is conlsetinto shares of our restricted common stockiaep ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per
share. As of May 11, 2006, the Holder of the Natd bonverted a total of $1,575,000 of the debt shi@res of our restricted common stock.
The parties also entered a Stock Pledge AgreemenBacurity Agreement to secure the Promissory .Note

Upon closing of the transaction, the owners of §éne entered into a fivgear covenant not to compete with Peregrine, RGV Nerk or the
Company. After an extensive renovation, we opehectlub in September 2005 as "Rick's Cabaret”, vbézupies 10,000 square feet on
three levels, with an additional 4,000 square &@ilable for office space.

The results of operations of the club are inclusleolur consolidated statement of operations fronuday 18, 2005.

6. On March 3, 2004, we acquired the assets anddsassof a 7,000 square foot gentlemen's club ithiNgouston, which became our fourth
XTC Cabaret. As a part of the transaction, we ect@nto a new five-year lease with an option feefadditional years. The $265,000 all-cash
purchase transaction generated goodwill of $20e0@Dproperty and equipment at $245,000.

The results of operations of this new venue arkidex in the accompanying consolidated financietleshents from the date of acquisition.

7. In April 2003, we organized RCI Ventures, Incacquire Nocturnal Concepts, Inc., which operatean addition to our XTC Cabaret
group, called "XTC Galleria". As part of this tragsion, we transferred our ownership of Tantriceptises, Inc. (our subsidiary that oper:
Club Encounters) to RCI Ventures, Inc. As a resfithese transactions we owned a 51% interest inNR@tures, Inc. On September 30,
2004, we sold our shares in RCI Ventures, Incnt@kated third parties for $15,000 cash and a $®8bnote receivable with an annual
interest rate of 6% over five years. As a parheftransaction, the Purchaser entered into a #a-fease for Club Encounters with an option
for five additional years. We recorded a $163,78Rded gain related to this transaction for tharynded September 30, 2004. The gain
be recognized upon collection of the note recewabl

The club's business was accounted for as discatinperations under accounting principles geneealtepted in the United States of
America and therefore, the club's results of opamatand cash flows have been removed from the @agip consolidated results of
continuing operations and cash flows for all pesipdesented in this document.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT W EB SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet Web site operati@ur xxxPassword.com website features adult abtitmnsed through Voice Media, Inc.
We added CouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a datingaiézing to those in the swinging lifestyle. Weawtty purchased CouplesClick.net, a
competing site of our CouplesTouch.com site, ireotd broaden our membership throughout the UrStates. As part of this transaction, we
organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operagean addition to our internet operations, to aeqbouplesClick.net from ClickMatch,
LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouamdo RCI Dating and, as a result of the transactice obtained an 85% interest in F
Dating, with the remaining 15% owned by ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasehof traffic from third-party adult sites or Imtet domain owners and the purchase of
banner advertisements or "key word" searches fraariet search engines. In addition, the bulk oftaiffic now comes from search engines
on which we don't pay for preferential listings.efé& are numerous adult entertainment sites omthenket that compete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SIT ES

Our adult auction site features erotica and otdeitanaterials that are purchased in a bid-ask atetWe charge the seller a fee for each
successful auction. Where previously we operateéhsividual auctions sites, now we have combirfezse into one main site,
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redagnof this site. The site contains new and usidtariented consumer initiate
auctions for items such as adult videos, appaheltqsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBidsjppsoximately 10,000 items for sale at
any given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third pasgbmasters an opportunity to create residual incivaome web surfers through the
NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third pawebmasters a percentage of every closing austtmin which the buyer original
came from the affiliate webmaster's site. Therenaraerous auction sites on the Internet that affledt products and erotica.

TRANSACTION WITH VOICE MEDIA

In May 2002, we purchased 700,000 shares of ourammmmon stock from Voice Media, Inc. for an aggtegaice of $918,700 (or $795,302
adjusted for imputed interest) that equals appraséty $1.32 per share. That purchase price wasvbmlarket value on the date of the
purchase. Voice Media, Inc. presently owns noneuofshares of common stock. These shares are fiyelelu as treasury shares. We may
cancel these shares at a later date. The contsbpef Voice Media, Inc. is Ron Levi, who was aedator until June 2002. The terms of this
transaction were the result of arms-length negotiatbetween Voice Media, Inc. and us. We beliéecttansaction was favorable to us in
view of the market value of our common stock arelghyment terms, although no appraisal or fairopsson was done. All management
contracts previously signed relating to the managgerof xxxPassword.com will remain in effect. Pansuto the transaction, the payment
schedule is as follows:
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(&) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2003;

(b) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2004;

(c) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2805;

(d) A final payment in the amount of $229,675 duelanuary 10, 2006.
We have made all payments due under this transactio
TRANSACTION WITH TAURUS ENTERTAINMENT

On June 12, 2003, we entered into an Asset Purdkgreement with Taurus Entertainment Companies, imereby we acquired all the
assets and liabilities of Taurus in exchange 863,008 shares of Taurus out of the 4,002,008katwned plus $20,000 in cash. We also
executed an Indemnification and Transaction Feed&ment with Taurus for which we received $270,00€eish, with $140,000 payable at
closing, $60,000 due on July 15, 2003 and $70,@@0ah August 15, 2003. We have received the $6Qq@9ment and have restructured the
remaining balance originally due August 15, 200B8hw& note receivable bearing 12% annual interest a five year term. Taurus is not
current in its payment obligation and we have atéd steps to collect the amount owing.

COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businesgisiyricompetitive with respect to price, service éomhtion. All of our nightclubs compete
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, somavbbse names may have name recognition that ethadlsf Rick's Cabaret or XTC.
While there may be restrictions on the locatio ab-called "sexually oriented business”, therenarbarriers to entry into the adult cabaret
entertainment market. For example, there are appaigly 50 adult nightclubs located in the Houstioea, all of which are in direct
competition with our Houston cabarets. In Minne&gdRick's Cabaret is favorably located downtowd &na short walk from the Metrodor
Stadium and the Target Center. There are two adylitclubs in Minneapolis in direct competition vits. In Charlotte, there are 5 main
competitors. We are centrally located with easyeasdo our location from the airport and the spedium. There are approx 16 adult clubs
in Manhattan of which 7 compete with Rick's. Onhemf those competitors' is located in Mid-townckd location is one block from the
Empire State Building and one block from Madisou&g Garden. All the local trains have station stwwjth one block of Rick's location a
we are located just 9 blocks from Times Square.

The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret" and "XT®&at" are proprietary. We believe that the comtimnaof our existing brand name
recognition and the distinctive entertainment emwinent that we have created will allow us to compdtectively in the industry and within
the cities where we operate. Although we beliea te are well positioned to compete successfiligre can be no assurance that we wi
able to maintain our high level of name recognitionl prestige within the marketplace.
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We are subject to various federal, state and laged affecting our business activities. In particuin Texas the authority to issue a permit to
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the Texash®lic Beverage Commission, which has the autpon its discretion, to issue the
appropriate permits. We presently hold a Mixed Bage Permit and a Late Hour Permit. These Permetsubject to annual renewal,
provided we have complied with all rules and retiofes governing the permits. Renewal of a permstisject to protest, which may be made
by a law enforcement agency or by the public. lnakent of a protest, the TABC may hold a heartnghach time the views of interested
parties are expressed. The TABC has the authdtéy such hearing not to issue a renewal of théegted alcoholic beverage permit. Rick's
has never been the subject of a protest hearirigsighe renewal of Permits. Minnesota, North Gamland New York have similar laws tl
may limit the availability of a permit to sell alcolic beverages or that may provide for suspensiaevocation of a permit to sell alcoholic
beverages in certain circumstances. It is our pppcior to expanding into any new market, to tateps to ensure compliance with all
licensing and regulatory requirements for the sékgcoholic beverages as well as the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements etifeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in Houstmi in many other cities, the location of a
topless cabaret is subject to restriction by citlirtance. Topless nightclubs in Houston, Texasabgect to "The Sexually Oriented Business
Ordinance", which contains prohibitions on the tawaof an adult cabaret. The prohibitions dealagafty with distance from schools,
churches, and other sexually oriented businessksanmiain restrictions based on the percentagesidences within the immediate vicinity
the sexually oriented business. The granting afxu8lly Oriented Business Permit is not subjedtisaretion; the Business Permit must be
granted if the proposed operation satisfies thairements of the Ordinance. (See "Legal Proceeting®in.)

In Minneapolis, we are required to be in complianith state and city liquor licensing laws. Ourdtion in Minneapolis is presently zoned to
enable the operation of a topless cabaret. We avetaintiff in civil litigation against the defendCity of Minneapolis. On September 16,
2003, the suit was settled mainly on the basistti@City of Minneapolis will enact a late hourfgeoation ordinance and allows qualifying
liquor establishments, including us at our curtenation, to operate until 3:00 a.m. We believd,thrathe long run, the restoration of late
hours operation on a permanent basis is prefetalgjeing forward with the litigation and in our bésterest.

In San Antonio and Austin, Texas, we are requiceblet in compliance with city or county sexuallyemtied business ordinances. In New
York, we are required to be in compliance withstdite and local laws governing the sale of liquat zoning for adult oriented businesses.
We feel we are in compliance with these laws & time. In Charlotte we are required to be in céamge with city or county sexually
oriented business ordinances.

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the trademarks "Rick's" and "Rickab@ret" are established under common law, based ayposubstantial and continuous use
of these trademarks in interstate commerce sinemst as early as 1987. We have registered ouceanark, 'RICK'S AND STARS
DESIGN", with the United States Patent and Tradé&nfice. We have also obtained service mark regjisins from the Patent and
Trademark Office for the "RICK'S CABARET" service
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mark. There can be no assurance that the stepaweetéiken to protect our service marks will be adégjto deter misappropriation.
EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2005, we had approximatelyetflloyees, of which 64 are in management positioafjding corporate and
administrative operation and approximately 379 bfolr are engaged in entertainment, food and beeesaryice, including bartenders,
waitresses, and entertainers. None of our emplogeesepresented by a union and we consider oulogaprelations to be good.
Additionally, we have independent contractor relaships with more than 600 entertainers, who dfeesgployed and perform at our
locations on a non-exclusive basis as independsritactors. Our entertainers in Minneapolis, Mirotasact as commissioned employees.

SHARE REPURCHASES

As of May 11, 2006, we owned 908,530 treasury shaf@ur common stock that we acquired in open etgskrchases and from investors
who originally acquired the shares from us in prevansactions. At this time, we do not have day po use these shares to acquire any
assets.

On September 16, 2003, our board of directors aizémb us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofcoummon stock. No shares have been
purchased under this program.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS ORDINANCE OF HOUSTON, TE XAS

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofudton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance reguthg location of and the conduct
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the "Ordindncehe Ordinance established new minimum distaticasSexually Oriented Businesses
may be located from schools, churches, playgroandsother sexually oriented businesses. There mepgovisions in the Ordinance
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance9B¥1we were informed that one of our
Houston locations at 3113 Bering Drive failed toatie requirements of the Ordinance and accorglihg renewal of our Business License
at that location was denied.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagde renewal of its operating permit due to clearig distance requirements under the
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafar a period of time (the "Amortization Periodf'fhe owner were unable to recoup, by
the effective date of the Ordinance, its investnienie business that was incurred through the dfatiee passage and approval of the
Ordinance.

We filed a request with the City of Houston requmstn extension of time during which operationswatnorth Houston facility could
continue under the Amortization Period provisiohthe Ordinance since we were unable to recouprmastment prior to the effective date
of the Ordinance. An administrative hearing wasitl the City of Houston to determine the apprdpriamortization Period to be granted to
us. At the Hearing, we were granted an
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amortization period that has since been reached&Ve the right to appeal any decision of the Hhepaifficial to the district court in the St:
of Texas.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodility of the entire Ordinance was
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the UD&trict Court for the Southern District of Tex&tguston Division, struck down certain
provisions of the Ordinance, including the prouisinandating a 1,500 foot distance between a cldtsahools, churches and other sexually
oriented business, leaving intact the provisiothef750 foot distance as it existed prior to thdi@ance.

The City of Houston has appealed the District Csuidings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. the event that the City of Houston is
successful in the appeal, we could be out of caanpk and such an outcome could have an adversetiopaur future. Our nightclub in our
south Houston location has a valid permit/licerse will expire in December 2005. The permits far north Houston location and our
Bering Drive location have expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texalnance, such as provisions governing the levégbfing in a sexually oriented business,
the distance between a customer and dancer wiildahcer is performing in a state of undress aadigions regarding the licensing of
dancers and club managers that were upheld byotme which may be detrimental to our business. Wepncert with other sexually orient
businesses, are appealing these aspects of theaDcgi.

In November, 2003, a three judge panel from thi#hFfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opiniahich affirmed the Trial Court's rulir
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjom distances and licensing of dancers and. Staff Court of Appeals, however, did not
follow the Trial Court's ruling regarding the dist@ from which a club may be located from a churnchchool. The Court of Appeals held
that a distance measurement of 1,500 feet woulgpbheld upon a showing by the City of Houston tkeatlaims that there were alternative
sites available for relocating the clubs could blessantiated. The case was remanded for trial ®@iis8ue of the alternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could extditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whigtre not decided at the trial level during
the initial phase of the case. It is anticipateat these technical issues will be joined in thalM@ourt. The City has not sought to modify any
of the terms of the injunction against enforcenadrany location provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Coulitigslin 1998 has been exhausted. The Trial Castdntered a new scheduling order which
places trial on the remaining issues for June 200@ler the holding of the Fifth Circuit Court of pgals, the City of Houston has the burden
of proof to show that, under the distance measungsr@ntained in the 1997 ordinance, there are 280 alternate sites available for
relocation. If the City of Houston can meet thigiah burden, then the Trial Court will consideetremaining location issues which were not
decided during the initial summary phase of theechsthe event the City of Houston can meet itglbn and the Trial Court moves forward
with the case, an appeal is anticipated. A rulinghe remaining issues in favor of the City of Homscould have an adverse impact on the
Rick's locations in Houston, Texas.
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OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On May 2, 2003, a lawsuit was filed in the Unitedt8s District Court for the Western District ofXés, San Antonio division, on behalf of
XTC Cabaret, and others, as a result of the Citgaf Antonio having adopted a new ordinance, whnigng other things, banned nude
dancing. This suit asked the Court to declare td&ance unconstitutional and enjoin the City frenforcing it. Prior to a resolution of this
litigation, XTC Cabaret withdrew as a party to thesuit. Although a settlement was reached withrémeaining parties in June 2005, it did
not include nude dancing. XTC has elected to addfes constitutionality of the ordinance by appegakny conviction obtained by the City
through the state courts.

On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the 80tiditial District Court of Harris County, Texas, Ity Cause No. 2004-18510, Charity Renee
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, €eflaik is a wrongful death and personal injury acagainst two individuals based on
negligence theories and five entertainment estahints including Rick's based on alleged "dram shimgations arising from a two-car
collision. Plaintiffs have also sued Ford Motor Guany under a theory of products liability. Plaifgtiinclude the children of the decedents, a
minor passenger and the mothers of the deceddaistif’s are seeking unspecified damages inclugihgsical pain and suffering, mental
anguish, pecuniary loss, past and future loss wipamionship and consortium, loss of mental andléttial function, past and future
physical impairment, reduction in earning capaditgreased education costs and expenses includivegdl and medical costs.

Management believes that we are not liable forafrihe damages and that we are covered by théhader provisions of the Dram Shop
Act, which render certain compliant establishmertsliable for the acts of their patrons. We areaware of any insurance coverage for this
claim. We deny that we have any liability for trezi@ent and are vigorously defending the mattescBiery is ongoing and we have filed a
Motion for Summary Judgment on behalf of Rick's ebhis currently pending.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ©NDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our audited consolidated financial statatseand the related notes to the financial
statements included in this registration statement.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemierthis Form SB2 registration statement to make applicable ane tak/antage of the s:
harbor provision of the Private Securities LitigatiReform Act of 1995 for any forward-looking statents made by us or on behalf of us.
Forward-looking statements include statements aoimog plans, objectives, goals, strategies, fuauents or performance and underlying
assumptions and other statements, which are dihardtatements of historical facts. Certain statesnia this prospectus are forward-looking
statements. Words such as "expects," "believesficlpates," "may," and "estimates" and similar egsions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. Such statements are

Page 2(



subject to risks and uncertainties that could caesaal results to differ materially from thosejpated. Such risks and uncertainties are set
forth below. Our expectations, beliefs and projatdiare expressed in good faith and we believeliegthave a reasonable basis, including
without limitation, our examination of historicgberating trends, data contained in our recordsodimer data available from third parties.
There can be no assurance that our expectatioliesfsbar projections will result, be achieved, @ diccomplished. In addition to other factors
and matters discussed elsewhere in this prospahtigllowing are important factors that in ouewi could cause material adverse affects on
our financial condition and results of operatia& risks and uncertainties related to our futymerational and financial results, the risks and
uncertainties relating to our Internet operati@mnpetitive factors, the timing of the opening®otifer clubs, the availability of acceptable
financing to fund corporate expansion efforts, dependence on key personnel, the ability to manpgeations and the future operational
strength of management, and the laws governingpleeation of adult entertainment businesses. We hawbligation to update or revise
these forward-looking statements to reflect thauo@mnce of future events or circumstances.

GENERAL
We operate in two businesses in the adult enteniin industry:

1. We own and operate upscale adult nightclubdrsgprimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghtaiubs offer live adult entertainme
restaurant and bar operations. We own and opegiieadult nightclubs under the name "Rick's Catiaaed "XTC" in Houston, Austin and
San Antonio, Texas, Charlotte, North Carolina, Miapolis, Minnesota, and New York, New York. We a@m and operate a sports bar
called "Rick's Sports Cabaret" and an upscale vématecaters especially to urban professionalsnbasmen and professional athletes called
"Club Onyx" in Houston. No sexual contact is petedtat any of our locations.

2. We have extensive Internet activities.

a) We currently own two adult Internet membershigb/gites at www.CoupleTouch.com and www.xxxpassword. We acquire
xxxpassword.com site content from wholesalers.

b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtgBidm. This site provides our customers with theoofunity to purchase adult products
and services in an auction format. We earn revehyeharging fees for each transaction conducteth@mutomated site.

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the sale&obr, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover caargnembership fees, independent
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Afidthines, valet parking and other products andcges. Our Internet revenues are
derived from subscriptions to adult content Intémmebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comrissiearned on the sale of products and
services through Internet auction sites, and adhbgvities. Our fiscal year end is September 30.
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Beginning in fiscal 2002 and continuing througlték2005, we greatly reduced our usage of promatipricing for membership fees for our
adult entertainment web sites. This reduced owrregs from these web sites.

We performed our annual evaluation on goodwill impant as of September 30, 2005. No impairmenel®sgere identified as a result of
this evaluation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféettaertain reported amounts in the financialesteents and accompanying notes.
Estimates and assumptions are based on histoxipatience, forecasted future events and variousr assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatessandhations may vary under different assumptiorsoaditions. We evaluate our estime
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believactmunting policies below are critical in the paytal of our financial condition and
results of operations.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedm@dit card charges, which are generally convereazhash in two to five days after a
purchase is made. The Company's accounts receivtiideis comprised of employee advances and otiszellaneous receivables. The
long-term portion of notes receivable are inclugedther assets in the accompanying consolidatethba sheets. The Company recognizes
interest income on notes receivable based on thestef the agreement and based upon managemeaitsgon that the notes receivable and
interest income will be collected. The Company ggipes allowances for doubtful accounts or notesnybased on management judgment,
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaike will not be collected. There is no allowafmedoubtful accounts or notes receivable
as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @othpany merchandise. Inventories are carried dother of cost, average cost, which
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out ("FIFO") basis, or market.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2005 and 200sist of common stock. As of September 30, 20@52004, the Company's
marketable securities were classified as availédieale, which are carried at fair value, with ealized gains and losses reported as other
comprehensive income within the stockholders' gggéttion of the accompanying consolidated balsheets. The cost of marketable equity
securities sold is determined on a specific idemdifon basis. The fair value of marketable eqaeégurities is based on quoted market prices.

Page 2:



Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depiatia computed using the straight-line methodrdkie estimated useful lives of the assets
for financial reporting purposes. Buildings havémeated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeargniure, equipment and leasehold
improvements have estimated useful lives betwaendnd ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsh@tterments that extend the useful
lives are capitalized. Expenditures for normal rtexiance and repairs are expensed as incurred.obhefcassets sold or abandoned and the
related accumulated depreciation are eliminateoh fitte accounts and any gains or losses are chargeddited in the accompanying
statement of operations of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Gobddwd Other Intangibles Assets, which addresseadheunting for goodwill and other
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill iatahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an annual
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFAS#¥e October 1, 2001. The Company's annual evialuatas performed as of
September 30, 2005. No impairment losses wereifahas a result of this evaluation. All of thei@pany's goodwill and intangible assets
relate to the nightclub segment. Definite livedhimgible assets are amortized on a strdigktbasis over their estimated lives. Fully anmesti
assets are written off against accumulated amdidiza

Revenue Recognition

Except for VIP Memberships, we recognize revenubeapoint-of-sale upon receipt of cash, checlcredit card charge. Membership
revenue is deferred and recognized over the egtthmrabmbership usage period, which is estimatee tt?band 24 months for annual and
lifetime memberships, respectively. We recognizerimet revenue from monthly subscriptions to iténenentertainment sites when
notification of a new subscription is received frime third party hosting company or from the creditd company, usually two to three days
after the transaction has occurred. We recognitegriat auction revenue when payment is received fte credit card as revenues are not
deemed estimable nor collection deemed probabde farithat point.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses is primarily pased of costs related to public advertisementsgveaways, which are used for
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketingegiges are expensed as incurred and are incluagxtiating expenses.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe future tax consequences attributable tiefices between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitind their respective tax bases. Deferred tax sasek liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable incomeernytars in which those temporary differences apeeted to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities change
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in tax rates is recognized in income in the petiat includes the enactment date. In addition laatimn allowance is established to reduce
any deferred tax asset for which it is determired it is more likely than not that some portiortled deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Stock Options

At September 30, 2005, the Company has stock aptiatstanding. The Company accounts for its st@tions under the recognition and
measurement principles of Accounting Principles@qdAPB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock lsesd to Employees, and related
Interpretations. The following table illustrate® tbffect on net income and earnings per sharei€Cbmpany had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accountfog Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based eraplopmpensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgbare data as if a fair value accounting methabdeen used to account for stock-based
compensation:

YE AR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004
Net income (loss), as reported $ ( 215,148) $ 775,253
Less total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair value

based method for all awards ( 549,165) (216,616)
Pro forma net income (loss) $ ( 764,313) $ 558,637
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic and diluted - as reported $ (0.05) $ 0.21

Basic and diluted - pro forma $ (0.19) $ 0.15

Common Stock

In January 2005, 20,000 stock options were exatdigethe Company's employees and directors for6Z30,In March 2005, the Company
issued 150,000 shares of common stock to an uackiavestor and received proceeds of $375,000002%0ares of restricted common stock
were issued at a value of $2.26 per share pursoantonsulting agreement, and 25,000 stock optigre exercised by the Company's
employees for $60,025. On June 10, 2005, the Coyniganed 180,000 shares of common stock pursuahetpurchase of a club in
Charlotte, North Carolina. See Note N. In July 2008 sold 200,000 shares of our common stock invafe transaction to 13 persons at
$2.00 per share for a total consideration of $400,h August and September 2005, 25,000 stoclogtivere exercised by the Company's
employees and directors for $54,113.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansi&uaiard ("FASB") issued interpretation 46R ("FINRI, a revision to interpretation 46
("FIN 46"), Consolidation of Variable Interest
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Entities. FIN 46R clarifies some of the provisiaid=IN 46 and exempts certain entities from itsuiegments. FIN 46R was effective at the
end of the first interim period ending after Madd 2004. The adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R ditlmve a material impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, Shased Payment, which is a revision of SFAS 123 080ting for Stock-Based
Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Atitmufor Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R fesymimarily on share-based
payments for employee services, requiring thesenpays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdeffite use of APB 25's intrinsic value
method of accounting for employee stock optionsheen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in the
future will be required to be expensed. The impacthe results of operations of the Company wildbpendent on the number of options
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginninddder 1, 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2004

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, webasolidated total revenues of $14,824,407, coetp# consolidated total revenues of
$13,858,434 for the year ended September 30, Z0Gconsolidated total revenues for period endieygt&nber 30, 2004 did not include
revenues from discontinued operations in the amoL$2,101,250. This was an increase of $965,9%%#%. The increase in total revenues
was primarily due to revenues from our new nighisloperations. Revenues from nightclub operationsdme-location same-period
decreased by 0.74% and for Internet businesse<9BY0

Our loss from continuing operations before minonitgrest for the year ended September 30, 20055868,313 compared to income of
$1,129,079 for the year ended September 30, 20@ld&crease in income from continuing operatiorspvanarily due to the increase in
expenses related to opening new operations. Ounc@ine from continuing operations for nightclukeogtions was $1,723,491 for the year
ended September 30, 2005 compared with $2,68485R€ year ended September 30, 2004. Our net iadoom operations for our Internet
businesses was $114,500 for the year ended Sept8MP2005 compared with $88,958 for the year er@kgutember 30, 2004. Our income
from continuing operations for our nightclub operas for the same-location-sarperiod increased by 3.78%. Our net income for aterhe
operations for the same-web-site-same-period iseathy 28.71%.

Our cost of goods sold for the year ended Septethe2005 was 12.58% of total revenues compardd &2 % of related revenues for the
year ended September 30, 2004. The increase wawidugily to the addition of Rick's clubs, whichve higher cost of goods sold. Our ¢
of goods sold for the nightclub operations for year ended September 30, 2005 was 12.88% of alrtatenues from club operations
compared to 11.86% for the year ended Septemb&(0Bd, We continued our efforts to achieve redustio cost of goods sold of the club
operations through improved inventory managemermt.a¥¢ continuing a program to improve margins fligmor and food sales and food
service efficiency. Our cost of sales from our tn&t operations for the year ended September 35 2@s 7.55% compared to 8.77% of
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related revenues for the year ended Septembei08@, 2Ve have implemented measures to reduce expanear Internet operations.

Our payroll and related costs for the year endexie®eber 30, 2005 were $5,200,976 compared to $4883or the year ended September
30, 2004. The increase was primarily due to thesiase in payroll in opening new clubs. Our payi@ilour nightclub operations for same-
location-same-period decreased by 4.86%. Our pdprotame-site-same-period Internet operationsessed by 1.67%. We believe that our
labor and management staff levels are at apprepesels.

Our other general and administrative expensestoyéar ended September 30, 2005 were $7,458,T2fiazed to $6,036,401 for the year
ended September 30, 2004. The increase was piyndad to the increase in taxes & permit, rent, lI&professional, utilities, and
advertising & marketing expenses from opening navations. Other selling, general and administragixeenses for same-location-same-
period for the nightclub operations decreased b§3%, while the same expenses for same-site sanwer Internet operations increased
by 2.01%.

Our interest expense for the year ended Septenth@085 was $699,678 compared to $324,411 for ¢lae gnded September 30, 2004. The
increase was primarily due to the increase in del#lation to the purchase and renovation of NewkYtlub. We have increased our long
term debt to $13,246,836 as of September 30, 260pared to debt of $3,693,560 as of September(&B}.2

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2005, we had a deficit in wagldapital of $2,047,725 compared to working c&pit$558,797 as of September 30,
2004. Because of the large volume of cash we hasttlagent cash controls have been implemente&eftember 30, 2005, our cash and
cash equivalents were $480,330 compared to $275288ptember 30, 2004. The increase was primduiyto the additional debt.

Our depreciation for the year ended September@5 Zvas $573,706 compared to $479,791 for the greded September 30, 2004. Our
amortization for the year ended September 30, 26635$16,760 compared to no amortization for theodeended September 30, 2004.

Net cash provided by operating activities in tharyended September 30, 2005 was $2,090,030 comfua$d®6,308 for the year end
September 30, 2004. The increase in cash provigegérating activities was primarily due to theraggsse in accounts payable and accrued
expenses and decreases in prepaid expenses anduwtieat assets.

We used $6,307,508 of cash in investing activiieshe year ended September 30, 2005 compare866,306 for the year ended September
30, 2004. $4,801,197 of cash was provided in fimanactivities for the year ended in September2B05 compared to $153,749 used for the
year ended September 30, 20
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Historically, our need for capital was a resultofstruction or acquisition of new clubs, renovatd older clubs, and investments in
technology. Historically, we have also utilized italpto repurchase its common stock as part ofshare repurchase program.

On September 16, 2003, the Company was authorizéd board of directors to repurchase up to artaaal $500,000 worth of our
common stock. No shares have been purchased unsi@ian.

On November 15 and 17, 2004, we borrowed $590,60054,042,000, respectively, from a financial itogibn at an annual interest rate of
10% over a 10 year term. The monthly payments iotjpal and interest are $5,694 and $10,056, résde. The note is secured by our
properties located at 2023 Sable Lane, San Antamibat 410 N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E., Houston, Te@asNovember 30, 2004, we
borrowed $900,000 from an unrelated individuahat tate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thethty payment of principal and
interest is $9,290. The note is secured by ourgntms located at 3501 Andtree, Austin and at F7di&dale, Houston, Texas. On December
30, 2004, we borrowed $1,270,000 from a finaneiatitution at an annual interest rate of 10% ov&d gear term. The monthly payment of
principal and interest is $12,256. The note is sty our property located at 3113 Bering Driveubton, Texas. The money received from
this financing was used for the acquisition andvetion of the New York club.

We entered into a promissory note on January 185 2r $5,125,000 bearing simple interest at #ie of 4.0% per annum with a balloon
payment at the end of five years, part of whicbasvertible to restricted shares of our commonksti@rices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50
share.

On June 10, 2005, we entered into a promissory fioot®325,000 bearing interest at a rate of 7%aoeum for a seven year term. The note is
secured by liens upon the assets of and hereafieirad assets of RCI Entertainment (North Carglihec.

On June 17, 2005, the Company borrowed $160,000 &rehareholder and $100,000 from an unrelatedithgil at an annual interest rate of
12% and 11% over 3 and 10 year terms, respectively.

On July 22, 2005, we entered into a secured cobledebenture with one of our shareholders foriacgpal sum of $660,000, which

includes the loan on June 17, 2005, in the amou$160,000. The term is for three years and ther@st rate is 12% per annum. The
debenture matures on August 1, 2008. The Compaayisdued 50,000 warrants at $3.00 per sharedtioelto this debenture. The debenture
is secured by our ownership in Citation Land, LU@ &CI Holdings, Inc., both of which are wholly osthsubsidiaries.

In July 2005, we received additional borrowingsha amount of $100,000 from the same unrelatedithaal who advanced $100,000 in J
2005, and with whom we had two existing notes. fEnm is for 10 years and the interest rate is 1&¥@pnum. On August 15, 2005, the
notes were amended and the amounts from June §n($200,000) were included in one of the notesaacombined total of $1,341,520.34
payable to this individual.
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In our opinion, working capital is not a true indior of our financial status. Typically, businessesur industry carry current liabilities in
excess of current assets because businessesiimdasiry receive substantially immediate paymensfdes, with nominal receivables, while
inventories and other current liabilities normalbrry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyfiemnaemain flexible with payment tern
providing businesses in our industry with opportigsito adjust to short-term business down turns.céhsider the primary indicators of
financial status to be the long-term trend of rexegrowth, the mix of sales revenues, overall éash and profitability from operations and
the level of long-term debt.

We have not established lines of credit or finagather than the above mentioned notes payableanexisting debt. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlatshould the need arise.

We believe that the adult entertainment industapdard of treating entertainers as independentaaints provides us with safe harbor
protection to preclude payroll tax assessment ffior years. We have prepared plans that we belieN@rotect our profitability in the event
that sexually oriented business industry is reguiineall states to convert dancers who are nowgaddent contractors into employees.

The sexually oriented business industry is higloignpetitive with respect to price, service and lmratas well as the professionalism of the
entertainment. Although we believe that we are \pelitioned to compete successfully in the futthiere can be no assurance that we will be
able to maintain our high level of name recognitionl prestige within the marketplace.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED MARC H 31, 2006 AS COMPARED TO THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31, 2005

For the six months ended March 31, 2006, we hadalmtated total revenues of $11,899,253 comparednsolidated total revenues of
$6,775,600 for the six months ended March 31, 2805ncrease of $5,123,653 or 75.62%. The increek#al revenues was primarily
attributable to the increase in revenues genetatarlir new clubs in Charlotte, North Carolina, &y York, New York, in the amount of
$3,264,866; by the increase in revenues genergtedrbexisting clubs in the amount of $1,811,7928a81% increase; and by the increase in
internet operations in the amount of $46,996, @71%.increase from a year ago. Our club operatiotfoiuston benefited from the NBA All-
Star weekend. Total revenues for same-location-gzemied of club operations increased to $8,788f0t6he six months ended March 31,
2006 from $5,945,885 for same period ended Marct28Q@5. The increase was primarily attributablén®overall increase in revenues in
club operations.

The cost of goods sold for the six months endedchi8d, 2006 was 12.22% of total revenues compard@.48% for the six months ended
March 31, 2005. The decrease was due primarilggaeduction of cost of goods sold in alcoholicdrages and food at Rick's clubs and
reduction in costs of maintaining our internet @piens. The cost of goods sold for the club operatifor the six months ended March 31,
2006 was 12.51% compared to 12.93% for the thregtimseended March 31, 2005. We continue a programpoove margins from liquor
and food sales and food service efficiency. The abgoods sold from our internet operations fa ¢ix months ended March 31, 2006 was
4.32% compared to 4.68% for the six months
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ended March 31, 2005. The cost of goods sold farestcation-same-period of club operations fordixemonths ended March 31, 2006 was
13.39%, compared to 13.03% for the same periodcehtiech 31, 2005.

Payroll and related costs for the six months erddarth 31, 2006 were $3,348,524 compared to $2,481f&r the six months ended March
31, 2005. Payroll for same-location-same-periodlalh operations increased to $2,185,588 for thergirths ended March 31, 2006 from
$1,710,976 for the same period ended March 31,.2D0& increase was primarily due to an increagntertainers payroll in our club in
Minnesota and the addition of new clubs. Manageroernently believes that its labor and managemiafit levels are appropriate.

Other general and administrative expenses forithmanths ended March 31, 2006 were $5,348,545 epatpto $3,362,868 for the six
months ended March 31, 2005. The increase wasrilwaniy to increase in taxes and permits, creditddees, rent, advertising and
marketing, indirect operating expenses, insuraaed ,utilities from adding new locations in New YpNew York and Charlotte, North
Carolina.

Interest expense for the six months ended Marcl2@16 was $534,521 compared to $256,949 for thensixths ended March 31, 2005. The
increase was attributable to our obtaining new ttefihance the purchase and renovation of the iclibew York. As of March 31, 2006, the
balance of long-term debt was $12,599,743 compar§d2,558,047 a year earlier.

Net income for the six months ended March 31, 2086 $1,231,526 compared to $55,594 for the six hwoahded March 31, 2005. T
increase in net income was primarily due to inoegasoverall revenues in our existing clubs. Nebime for same-location-same-period of
club operations increased to $2,132,747 for themgirths ended March 31, 2006 from $1,136,087 foresperiod ended March 31, 2005, or
by 87.73%. Management currently believes that the@any is in the position to continue to be prdifigaby the end of fiscal 2006, but there
are no guarantees with the uncertainties of our clabs.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At March 31, 2006, we had a working capital of $BPP compared to a deficit of $2,047,725 at Sep&zr3b, 2005. The increase in working
capital was primarily due to increases in cashaash equivalents and prepaid expenses, other tassets, and by decreases in accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, current portion afdaerm debt, and line of credit as a result oféased cash flow from operations. The value of
available-for-sale marketable securities incredse$i22,245.

Including cash provided by discontinued operatioes,cash provided by operating activities in tixasonths ended March 31, 2006 was
$1,021,885 compared to $1,226,299 for the six moattded March 31, 2005. The decrease in cash gbig operating activities was
primarily due to the disposition of discontinuedeogttions.

Including cash used by discontinued operationsysezl $268,275 of cash in investing activities dythe six months ended March 31, 2006
compared to $3,501,223 during the six months ehdieth 31, 2005. Including cash used by discontimyeetations, cash of $239,246 was
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provided by financing activities during the six nfenended March 31, 2006 compared to $3,611,588gltlre six months ended March 31,
2005.

Historically, our need for capital was a resultohstruction or acquisition of new clubs, renovatid older clubs, and investments in
technology. Historically, we have also utilized italpto repurchase our common stock as part osbare repurchase program.

On February 6, 2006, we issued an unsecured Cdpieetebenture (the "Debenture") to an unrelategstment group for the principal sum
of $1,000,950 bearing interest at the rate of 1@¥emnum, with a maturity date of February 1, 200®der the terms of the Debenture, we
are required to make three quarterly interest paysieeginning May 1, 2006. Thereafter, we are meguio make nine equal quarterly
principal and interest payments. At any time aB@® days from the date of issuance of this Debentue have the right to redeem the
Debenture in whole or in part at any time during térm of the Debenture. At the election of theddo] the Holder has the right at any tim
convert all or any portion of the principal or ireet amount of the Debenture into shares of oumeomstock at a rate of $4.75 per share,
which approximates the closing price of the Com{mstock on February 6, 2006. The proceeds of gfgebBture was used to payoff certain
debt and increase our working capital.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbkrtdebentures with three shareholders for a ppaicum of $825,000. The term is for
two years and the interest rate is 12% per annurthedelection of the holders, the holders haveitiig at any time to convert all or any
portion of the principal or interest amount of thebenture into shares of our common stock at eofé#6.55 per share. The debenture
provides, absent shareholder approval, that thebruwf shares of our common stock that may be @sbyeaus or acquired by the holders u
conversion of the debenture shall not exceed 19.808te total number of issued and outstandingeshaf our common stock. The proceeds
were partially used to fund the purchase of Joimtdres, Inc., an operator of an adult nightcluBauth Houston, Texas, formerly known as
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HawBhked. The purchase price was for $840,000 paichish. The club, located in the
Houston suburbs, has been converted to an XTC €abar

In the opinion of management, working capital i adrue indicator of the financial status. Typigabusinesses in the industry carry current
liabilities in excess of current assets becausbusess receives substantially immediate payfeesales, with nominal receivables, while
accounts payable and other current liabilities radlyrcarry longer payment terms. Vendors and pusvepften remain flexible with payment
terms providing businesses with opportunities fostdo short-term business down turns. The Compgamgiders the primary indicators of
financial status to be the long-term trend of rexegrowth and mix of sales revenues, overall clast, profitability from operations and the
level of long-term debt.

We have available a $100,000 unsecured line-ofitonéth a bank other than our existing debt. Ingtiie payable monthly on the outstanding
balance at a floating rate of prime plus 1.5%. Hnisngement is subject to renewal in June 200&relvas no outstanding balance under
agreement at March 31, 2006. However, there camlsssurance that we will be able to obtain adutifinancing on reasonable terms in
future, if at all, should the need arise.

In the event the sexually oriented business inglistrequired in all states to convert the entages who perform at our locations, from being
independent contractors to employee
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status, we have prepared alternative plans thdaaleve will protect our profitability. We believkat the industry standard of treating the
entertainers as independent contractors providésisat safe harbor protection to preclude paytall assessment for prior years.

The sexually oriented business industry is higlognpetitive with respect to price, service and lmrgtas well as the professionalism of the
entertainment. Although management believes thaaneavell-positioned to compete successfully inftiiare, there can be no assurance that
we will be able to maintain its high level of naneeognition and prestige within the marketplace.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seas@ubfs. Historically, we have experienced redues@mues from April through September
with the strongest operating results occurringriu®ctober through March. Our experience to daleates that there does not appear to
seasonal fluctuation in our Internet activities.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our club operations can continugréov organically and through careful entry intorkeds and demographic segments with
high growth potential. Upon careful market reseaveth may open new clubs. As is the case with tigaiaition of the New York and North
Carolina clubs, we may acquire existing clubs rattmns that are consistent with our growth andrne targets, and which appear receptive
to the upscale club formula we have developed. \&g fmrm joint ventures or partnerships to redueetsip and operating costs, with our
Company contributing assets in the form of our draame and management expertise. We may also geewelo club concepts that are
consistent with our management and marketing skifls may also acquire real estate in connectioh glitb operations, although some clubs
may be on leased premises.

We also expect to continue to grow our Internefipoenters and plan to focus in the future on higérgin activities that leverage our
marketing skills while requiring a low level of gtaip expense and ongoing operating costs.

MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

MARKET INFORMATION

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCapkdt under the symbol "RICK" The following tabkts forth the quarterly high
and low closing price per share for our commonlst@uir fiscal year ends September 30.

Page 31



First Quarter 2004 $1.84 $1.50
Second Quarter 2004 $2.84 $1.74
Third Quarter 2004 $3.30 $2.40
Fourth Quarter 2004 $2.79 $2.21
First Quarter 2005 $3.03 $2.20
Second Quarter 2005 $4.61 $2.85
Third Quarter 2005 $3.19 $2.65
Fourth Quarter 2005 $3.55 $2.70
First Quarter 2006 $3.84 $2.93
Second Quarter 2006 $5.99 $3.77

On May 11, 2006, the closing price for a sharewfammon stock was $7.33.

RECORD HOLDERS.

As of May 11, 2006, there were approximately 2,B86Mlers of record of our common stock.
DIVIDENDS

We have never declared or paid any dividends orcoommon stock. We do not have any plans to pay dastiends on our common stock.
We plan to retain our future earnings, if any,it@fce operations and expand our business. Theideevhether to pay cash dividends on our
common stock will be made by our Board of Directamsts discretion, and will depend on our finadaondition, operating results, capital
requirements and other factors that our Board oéddrs considers relevant.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

We have had no changes in or disagreements witiuatants on accounting and financial disclosure.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We are not selling any shares of our Common Stoc¢kis offering and therefore will not receive gmpceeds from the sale thereof. We may,
however, receive the benefit of proceeds upon tmeersion of the Debenture and/or the ConvertilidéeNeld by certain selling stockhold
for which we are registering the underlying shae€ommon Stock. Upon conversion of any portiothef Debenture and/or the Convertible
Note, we will apply the proceeds received direttlyhe debt for which the Debenture and/or ConkikrtNote was issued and the princi
amount(s) of the Note and/or the Debenture wiltdmuced accordingly. Additionally, we may receiveqeeds of approximately $300,000
upon the exercise of warrants, which we would apglyard general operating expenses.
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The selling shareholders will pay any underwritthgcounts and commissions and expenses incurréietselling shareholders for brokere
accounting, tax or legal services or any other rgps incurred by the selling shareholders in disgasf the shares. We will bear all other
costs, fees and expenses incurred in effectingetistration of the shares covered by this prosgedabcluding, without limitation, all
registration and filing fees, Nasdaq Small Cap Malisting fees, blue sky registration and filiree$, and fees and expenses of our counsel
and our accountants.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS,
PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Our Directors are elected annually and hold offioél the next annual meeting of our stockholdarartil their successors are elected and
qualified. Officers are elected annually and sextvihe discretion of the Board of Directors. Thisrao family relationship between or among
any of our directors and executive officers. OuaBbof Directors consists of five persons. Thedielhg table sets forth our Directors and
executive officers:

Name Age Position

Eric S. Langan 38 Director, Chairman, Chief E xecutive Officer, President and
Chief Financial Officer

Travis Reese 36 Director and V.P.-Director of Technology

Robert L. Watters 55 Director
Alan Bergstrom 60 Director
Steven Jenkins 48 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 an®@sident since March 1999. Mr. Langan is alsoGhief Financial Officer. He has
been involved in the adult entertainment busines®sl989. From January 1997 through the presertiak held the position of President of
XTC Cabaret, Inc. From November 1992 until Jand®97, Mr. Langan was the President of Bathing Beapinc. Since 1989, Mr. Langan
has exercised managerial control over more thaszardadult entertainment businesses. Through detsdties, Mr. Langan has acquired the
knowledge and skills necessary to successfullyaipexdult entertainment businesses.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been dagckr since 1986. Mr. Watters was our Presidedt@ur Chief Executive Officer from
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters tiased and operated Rick's Cabaret, and adult amerént club in New Orleans,
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alsmuader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GadorBar & Grill, an adult club located
in Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selechegotiated the property purchase and oversawlésign and permitting for the club
that became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas\WMtters practiced law as a solicitor in LondBngland and is qualified to practice law
in New York. Mr. Watters worked in the internatibna
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tax group of the accounting firm of Touche, Ros€& (now succeeded by Deloitte & Touche) from 18¥2983 and was engaged in the
private practice of law in Houston, Texas from 1883986, when he became involved in our full-timenagement. Mr. Watters graduated
from the London School of Economics and Politicaie8ce, University of London, in 1973 with a Baaredf Laws (Honours) degree and in
1975 with a Master of Laws degree from Osgoode Halt School, York University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Judé. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddipaccountant with Pringle Jenkins &
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikids is the President and owner of Pringle Jenkidssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins has a
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.

Alan Bergstrom became our Director in 1999. Sin@@71 Mr. Bergstrom has been the Chief Operatingc@ffof Eagle Securities, which is

investment consulting firm. Mr. Bergstrom is alsregistered stockbroker with Rhodes Securities, Finom 1991 until 1997, Mr. Bergstrom
was a Vice President--Investments with Principabcial Securities, Inc. Mr. Bergstrom holds a B.B)egree in Finance, 1967, from the
University of Texas.

Travis Reese became our Director and V.P.-Direztdrechnology in 1999. From 1997 through 1999, Rieese had been a senior network
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santafew Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compsystems engineer with Deloitte &
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasident with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc.]@ernet service provider. From 1994
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continetalines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was afpilith Hang On, Inc., an airline
company. Mr. Reese has an Associates Degree imAetical Science from Texas State Technical College

There is no family relationship between or among @frour directors and executive officers.
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company has a Compensation Committee whose ersrate Robert Watters, Alan Bergstrom and Stevedemkins. Decisions
concerning executive officer compensation for ikedl year ended September 30, 2005, were madeeb§dampensation Committee. The
primary purpose of the Compensation Committee es/aduate and review the compensation of execuofifieers.

We have an Audit Committee of independent direcidrese members are Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergsttnd Steven Jenkins. In May
2000, our Board of Directors adopted a ChartettferAudit Committee. The Charter establishes tdependence of our Audit Committee
and sets forth the scope of our Audit Committeatted. The purpose of our Audit Committee is todiuget continuing oversight of our
financial affairs. Our Audit Committee conductsargoing review of our financial reports and ottisahcial information prior to their being
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorgtherwise provided to the public. Our Audit Coitiee also reviews our systems,
methods and procedures of internal controls iratieas of: financial reporting, audits, treasuryrapens, corporate finance, managerial,
financial and SEC
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accounting, compliance with law, and ethical corid@ar Audit Committee is objective, and reviewsl assesses the work of our
independent registered public accounting firm

All of our Audit Committee members are independeiméctors. The Board of Directors elects the Merslrour Audit Committee annually.
The Members serve until their successors are debterl and qualified. All Members of the audit Coitte® are free from any relationship
that could conflict with Member's independent jucignn All Members are able to read and understandamental financial statements,
including a balance sheet, income statement, astufé@av statement. At least one Member has past@ment experience in finance or
accounting, requisite professional certificatiormotounting, or other comparable experience ordrackd, including a current or past
position as a chief executive or financial officgrother senior officer with financial oversighspansibilities. Steven L. Jenkins serves as
Chairman of the Audit Committee, having been eléttethe Members of our Audit Committee. Stevedenkins serves as the Audit
Committee's Financial Expert, having been elected bnanimous vote of the Members of our Audit Cattaa. The Audit Committee

Charter was previously filed as an exhibit to otzXy Statement filed with the Securities and Exg@@ommission on June 3, 2005, and can
be found on our website at www.ricks.com.

We have a Nominating Committee composed of indepetndirectors Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergstrom &teven L. Jenkins. In July 2004,
the Board unanimously adopted a Charter with retratte process to be used for identifying andwatithg nominees for director. The
Charter establishes the independence of our Nomgn&ommittee and sets forth the scope of the Natiig Committee's duties. The
Nominating Committee Charter can be found on oursite at www.ricks.corr

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41&@Rjuires our directors and executive officersl persons who own beneficially more
than ten percent of our common stock, to file répof ownership and changes of ownership with taeuities and Exchange Commission.
Based solely on the reports we have received avaritten representations from certain reportingspes, we believe that the directors,
executive officers, and greater than ten percenétigal owners have complied with all applicakileng requirements, with the exception of
one greater than 10% shareholder who was lateanitbrm 4 filing for one transaction.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindixalcutive and Senior Financial Officers, which \wasviously filed as Exhibit 14 to our
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended Septembef803, as filed with the SEC on December 29, 2003.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table reflects all forms of comperisatfor services to us for the fiscal years endegt&mber 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 of
certain executive officers. No other executiveasfiof ours received compensation that exceeded,$00 during fiscal 2005. Mr. Langan is
Chairman of the Board, a Director, Chief Executdfficer, President and Chief Financial Officer. NReese is Director and V.P.-Director of
Technology.
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SUMMARY COMPE NSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation Long Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
Other Securities
Name and Annua I Restricted Underlying All Othe r
Principal Compe n-  Stock Options/ LTIP  Compen-
Position  Year Salary Bonus  satio n (1) Awards SARs Payouts sation
(%) (%) $ ) (%) #) (%) (%)

Eric Langan

2005 $ 344,100 -0- -0- -0- 5,000 -0- - 0-

2004 $ 326,038 -0- -0- -0- 280,000 -0- - 0-

2003 $ 260,000 -0- -0- -0- 5,000 -0- - 0-
Mr. Langan is our Chairman, a Director, Chief Execu tive Officer, President and Chief Financial Officer
Travis Reese

2005 $ 165,531 -0- -0- -0- 5,000 -0- - 0-

2004 $ 161,000 -0- -0- -0- 55,000 -0- - 0-

2003 $ 158,855 -0- -0- -0- 5,000 -0- - 0-
Mr. Reese is a Director and V.P.-Director of Techno logy

(1) We provide certain executive officers certagmgmnal benefits. Since the value of such benddies not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or
10% of annual compensation, the amounts are omitted

OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR ( INDIVIDUAL GRANTS)

Number of Percent of Total
Securities Options/SARs
Underlying Granted To

Options/SARs  Employees In Exercise of Expiration
Name Granted Fiscal Year Base Price Date

# % $/share
Eric Langan 5,000 shares (1) 5.56 % $ 2.80 7/20/2010
Travis Reese 5,000 shares (1) 5.56 % $ 2.80 7/20/2010

(1) These options were granted to Messrs. LangdrRaese for serving in their capacity as Directdhere were 27,500 shares of options
exercised by Messrs. Langan and Reese duringdta ffear ended September 30, 2005.
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AGGREGATED OPTION/SAR EXERCISES IN
LAST FISCAL YEAR AND FY-END OPTION/SAR VALUES

Number Of Un exercised
Securities U nderlying Value of Unexercised
Options/SARs In-The-Money Options/
Shares At FY-End SARs At FY-End
Acquired On Value  Exercisable/ Exercisable/
Name Exercise Realized Unexercisabl e Unexercisable
# $ # $
Eric Langan 5,000 (1) $ 6,363 290,000 /105,000 $ 178,350/$55,150
Travis Reese 22,500 (1) $ 25,131 47,500/ 30,500 $ 29,975/$14,650

(1) There were 27,500 shares of options exercigdtidse persons during the fiscal year ended Sdyee®0, 2005
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting arainiglg qualified personnel, we believe that ouufatsuccess will depend in part on our
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfiatl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
that equity ownership is an important factor in ability to attract and retain skilled personnele Wave adopted Stock Option Plans for
employee and directors. The purpose of the Platwsfigther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in-
form of stock options to key employees and directano contribute materially to our success andifadaifity. The grants recognize and
reward outstanding individual performances andrifmutions and will give such persons a propriefatgrest in the Company, thus enhant
their personal interest in our continued succedspaogress. The Plans also assist the Companywarsiibsidiaries in attracting and retaining
key employees and directors. The Plans are admietby the Board of Directors. The Board of Dioesthas the exclusive power to select
the participants in the Plans, to establish thmsesf the options granted to each participant, idexthat all options granted shall be granted
at an exercise price equal to at least 85% ofdherfarket value of the common stock covered byothtéon on the grant date and to make all
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

In 1995 we adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan.tal f 300,000 shares may be granted and sold uhdelr995 Plan. As of September 30,
2001, a total of 167,500 stock options had beentgdaand are outstanding under the Plan, none imhwitave been exercised. We do not |
to issue any additional options under the 1995.Plan

In August 1999 we adopted the 1999 Stock Option Rlze "1999 Plan") with 500,000 shares authoripeloe granted and sold under the
1999 Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approvesnaendment to the 1999 Plan (the "Amendment") wlncheased the total number of
shares authorized to 1,000,000. As of Septembe2(@h, 878,000 stock options were outstanding utidel 999 Plan. As of May 11, 2006,
169,000 of these stock options have been exercised.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth all equity compemsafplans as of September 30, 2005:

NUMBER OF SECURITIES

RE MAINING AVAILABLE FOR
NUMBER OF SECURITI ES TO BE FUTU RE ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY
ISSUED UPON EXERC ISE OF WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXERCISE COMPENSATION PLANS
OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, WARRANTS PRICE OF OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, (EXCLU DING SECURITIES REFLECTED
AND RIGHTS WARRANTS AND RIGHTS IN COLUMN (A))
PLAN CATEGORY (A) (B) ©)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 878,000 $ 2.47 52,000
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders 0 0 300,000
TOTAL 878,000 $ 2.47 352,000

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' feasye pay the expenses of our directors in attenboard meetings. In July 2005, we issued
10,000 options to each Director who is a membeuofaudit committee and 5,000 options to our obieectors. These options have a strike
price of $2.80 per share and expire in July 2010.

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a twagrear employment agreement with Mr. Eric S. Langha {Langan Agreement"). The Langan Agreement elgehrough Apri
1, 2008 and provides for an annual base salar¢@®$00. The Langan Agreement also provides fdigyaation in all benefit plans
maintained by us for salaried employees. The Lagarement contains a confidentiality provision amdagreement by Mr. Langan not to
compete with us upon the expiration of the Langgre&ment. We have not established long-term ineepiians or defined benefit or
actuarial plans.

We also have a three-year employment agreementwvitiiravis Reese (the "Reese Agreement"). The ®&gseement extends through
February 1, 2007 and provides for an annual bdaeysaf $175,000. The Reese Agreement also provimtgsarticipation in all benefit plans
maintained by us for salaried employees. The RAgseement contains a confidentiality provision amdagreement by Mr. Reese not to
compete with us upon the expiration of the Reeseeé&gent. We have not established long-term incemtians or defined benefit or actuarial
plans. We intend to enter into a new Employmenteggrent with Mr. Reese at the end of the current.ter

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for its Prindipacutive and Senior Financial Officers, which \wasviously filed as Exhibit 14 to our
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended Septembef803, as filed with the SEC on December 29, 2003.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS
AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain informatianMay 11, 2006, with respect to the beneficial erghip of shares of Common Stock by (i)
each person known to us who owns beneficially nloae 5% of the outstanding shares of Common S{@keach of our directors, (iii) each
of our executive officers and (iv) all of our exéee officers and directors as a group. Unlesswilee indicated, each stockholder has sole
voting and investment power with respect to theeshahown. As of May 11, 2006, there were 4,901st¥88es of common stock outstand

NAME/ADDRESS NUMBER OF SHARES TITLE OF CLASS PERCENT OF
CLASS (9)
Eric S. Langan 1,133,010 (1) Common stock 21.8%

10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

Robert L. Watters 35,000 (2) Common stock <1%
315 Bourbon Street
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

Steven L. Jenkins -0- Common stock 0%
16815 Royal Crest Drive

Suite 160

Houston, Texas 77058

Travis Reese 57,275 (3) Common stock 1.0%
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

Alan Bergstrom 25,000 (4) Common stock <1%
904 West Ave.-Suite 100
Austin, Texas 78701

All of our Directors and 1,250,285 (5) Common stock 23.6%
Officers as a
Group of five (5) persons

E. S. Langan. L.P. 578,632 Common stock 11.8%
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

Ralph McElroy 748,467 (6) Common stock 15.1%
1211 Choquette
Austin, Texas, 78757

William Friedrichs 287,890 (7) Common stock 5.8%
16815 Royal Crest Dr., Suite 260
Houston, Texas 77058

Jeffrey W. Benton 280,773 (8) Common stock 5.7%
47 Summit Avenue
Summit, NJ

(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investment pdameR64,378 shares that he owns directly. Mr. laangas shared voting and investment
power for 578,632 shares that he owns indirectlguph E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langan is the gengainer of E. S. Langan, L.P. This
amount also includes options to purchase up to0B80shares of common stock that are presently saddle. This number specifically
excludes 15,050 shares of common stock held bwilféswhich is separate property.
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(2) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock and eptio purchase up to 30,000 shares of common #tatlare presently exercisable.
(3) Includes 9,775 shares of common stock and ogtio purchase up to 47,500 shares of common gtatlare presently exercisable.
(4) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock and eptio purchase up to 20,000 shares of common #tatlkare presently exercisable.
(5) Includes options to purchase up to 387,500eshaf common stock that are presently exercisable.

(6) Mr. McElroy is a greater than 10% shareholdeahe Company. Mr. McElroy is the beneficial owrdi698,467 shares of Common Stock
and 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upoextreise of warrants. This number excludes 220sb@@es of Common Stock (which
are being registered herein) issuable upon thearsion of a Secured Convertible Debenture at aofd$8.00 per share and also excludes
91,603 shares of Common Stock issuable upon theecsion of a Convertible Debenture at a rate db%@er share as these Debentures
provide, absent shareholder approval, that the mamibshares of our common stock that may be isbyads or acquired by the Mr. McElroy
upon conversion of the Debenture shall not exc&@926 of the total number of issued and outstansirages of our common stock.

(7) Includes 170,000 shares of common stock owyed@/bIF Investments, Inc. Mr. Friedrichs is a confperson of WMF Investments, Inc.

(8) Includes 60,299 shares of common stock helvighdally, 210,726 shares of common stock heldreclly by Fairfield Investment Group,
LLC that are issuable upon the conversion of a edihle debenture, and 9,748 held indirectly byfiedd Investment Group, LLC. Mr.
Benton is the Managing Director of Fairfield Advis@and has investment decision and voting auth@wityhis entity.

(9) These percentages exclude treasury shares ratbulation of percentage of class.

We are not aware of any arrangements that couldtriesa change of control.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION S

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thattausiness affairs will be conducted in all respdxt standards applicable to publicly held
corporations and that we will not enter into anfufe transactions and/or loans between us andfficers, directors and 5% shareholders
unless the terms are no less favorable than cauttbtained from independent, third parties and lélpproved by a majority of our
independent and disinterested directors. In ouwwv#dl of the transactions described below meet skandard.

In May 2002, we loaned $100,000 to Eric Langan vehaur Chief Executive Officer. The promissory nit@insecured, bears interest at 11%
and is amortized over a period of ten years. The oontains a provision that in the event Mr. Lanigaves the Company for any reason, the
note immediately becomes due and payable in fdloAMay 11, 2006, the balance of the note wasO§73,

On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertiblegebture to Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% $iwdder of the Company, for the
principal sum of $660,000 bearing interest at tte of 12% per annum, with a maturity date of Audyf008. Under the terms of the
Debenture,
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we are required to make monthly interest paymeagsnming September 1, 2005. We have the rightdeem the Debenture in whole or in
part at any time during the term of the DebentAtahe election of the Holder, the Holder has tightrto require the Debenture to be repai
thirty (30) equal monthly installments commencirgbFuary 2006. The Holder has the option to corasdedr any portion of the principal
amount of the Debenture into shares of our comrnmeksat a rate of $3.00 per share, subject to &dgist under certain conditions. The
Debenture provides, absent shareholder approatltie number of shares of our common stock thgtlmeassued by us or acquired by the
Holder upon conversion of the Debenture shall noted 19.99% of the total number of issued andauding shares of our common stock.
The Debenture is secured by certain of our asédtiitionally, we issued Mr. McElroy a Warrant torpbhase 50,000 shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $3.00 per share duil 22, 2008. The shares of Common Stock undeglihe principal amount of the
Debenture and the Warrants have piggyback regtraghts.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into a caiide debenture with Ralph McElroy, a greater ti@f6 shareholder of the Company,
for a principal sum of $600,000. The term is footyears and the interest rate is 12% per annurthé¢lection of the holder, the holder have
the right at any time to convert all or any portafrthe principal or interest amount of the debeminto shares of our common stock at a rate
of $6.55 per share. The debenture provides, alsbaneholder approval, that the number of sharé&seoCompany's common stock that may
be issued by the Company or acquired by the halden conversion of the debenture shall not exc8e@P% of the total number of issued
and outstanding shares of the Company's commok.stoc

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The following is a list of the selling stockholdevio own or who have a right to acquire the 552 difiires of Common Stock covered by
prospectus. Currently, 222,100 shares of CommockStee held by certain selling stockholders. Ug20,000 Shares of Common Stock are
issuable upon the conversion of a Secured Conleifibbenture held by one selling stockholder. UpG@00 Shares are issuable upon the
conversion of a Convertible Note held by one sglBtockholder. Up to 50,000 Shares of Common Sawekissuable upon the exercise of
Warrants held by one selling stockholder As sahfbelow and elsewhere in this prospectus, sontieesk selling stockholders hold, or
within the past three years have held, a positiffice or other material relationship with us or quedecessors or affiliates.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordandd Wiule 13d-3 promulgated by the Securities anchBrge Commission, and generally
includes voting or investment power with respecidourities. In computing the number of shares fogakly owned by the holder and the
percentage ownership of the holder, shares of camstaxk issuable upon exercise of the warrant bgldhe holder that are currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days afterdée of the table are deemed outstanding.

The percent of beneficial ownership for the sellibgckholders is based on 4,901,148 shares of constock outstanding as of May 11,
2006. Shares of common stock subject to warrapt&®rms and other convertible securities that areetuly exercisable or exercisable within
60
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days of May 11, 2006, are considered outstandidgbaneficially owned by a selling stockholders vitodds those warrants, options or other
convertible securities for the purpose of computhg percentage ownership of that selling stockdrslthut are not treated as outstanding for
the purpose of computing the percentage ownerdtapyother stockholder.

The shares of common stock being offered undeptitispectus may be offered for sale from timenetduring the period the registration
statement of which this prospectus is a part resneifective, by or for the account of the sellingckholders. After the date of effectiveness
of the registration statement of which this prospeds a part, the selling stockholder may havd solransferred, in transactions covered by
this prospectus or in transactions exempt fronréigéstration requirements of the Securities Acmer all of its common stock. Information
about the selling stockholders may change over.thng changed information will be set forth in amendment to the registration statement
or supplement to this prospectus, to the extentired by law.

The following table sets forth information concempithe selling stockholders, including the numifeshares currently held and the numbe
shares offered by each selling security holdeoutoknowledge as of May 11, 2006. At the time @& #tquisition there were no agreements,
understandings or arrangements with any other peysither directly or indirectly, to distributestkecurities.

BE FORE THE AFTER THE
(0] FFERING OFFERING
Total
N umber of  Number of Percentage
S hares of Sharesto  Number to be
common be Offered of Shares Beneficiall y
Position, stock for the to be Owned
Office or  Ben eficially Accountof Owned  after this
Other Owne d Prior to the Selling after this  Offering
Material the Offering Stockholder Offering 3)
Name of Selling Stockholder Relationship Q) 2) 3) 4)
COMMON STOCK
Ralph McElroy >10%
shareholder 748,467 (5) 270,000 698,467 (5) 15. 3%
Jay Teitelbaum None 26,100 26,100 -0- -0 -
Philip Eisenberg None 110,000 (6) 110,000 -0- -0 -
American Dream Media (7) None 29,650 10,000 19,650 < 1%
William M. Friedrichs, Jr. >5%
shareholder 287,890 50,000 237,890 5. 7%
Wade McElroy Son of >10%
shareholder 38,500 17,500 21,000 < 1%
Timothy Winata Employee 71,350 (8) 25,000 46,350 1. 4%
Jante Simoneaux Wife of CEO 15,050(9) 5,000 10,050 < 1%
Anderson Studebaker Employee 36,945(10) 5,000 31,945 < 1%
Jackie Markham None 5,225 5,000 225 < 1%
Wayne Fenlon Employee 11,000 (11) 2,500 8,500 < 1%
Doris Jane King Sister of a
>10%
shareholder 7,000 5,000 2,000 < 1%
Robert Axelrod Outside
Counsel 90,300 20,000 70,300 < 1%
Zachary Axelrod Son of Outside
Counsel 1,000 1,000 -0- -0 -
TOTAL 552,100
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(1) Includes shares of common stock for which #lkng security holder has the right to acquire dferal ownership within 60 days.

(2) This table assumes that each selling secuoligen will sell all shares offered for sale by iitder this registration statement. Security
holders are not required to sell their shares.

(3) Assumes that all shares of Common Stock ragidtfor resale by this prospectus have been sold.
(4) Based on 4,901,148 shares of Common stockdssné outstanding as of May 11, 2006.

(5) Mr. McElroy is a greater than 10% shareholdeahe Company. Mr. McElroy is the beneficial owrdi698,467 shares of Common Stock
and 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upoexreise of warrants. This number excludes 220sb@bes of Common Stock (which
are being registered herein) issuable upon thearsion of a Secured Convertible Debenture at aofa$8.00 per share and also excludes
91,603 shares of Common Stock issuable upon theecsion of a Convertible Debenture at a rate db%@er share as these Debentures
provide that, absent shareholder approval, thabtimeber of shares of our common stock that magseed by us or acquired by Mr. McEIl
upon conversion of the Debentures shall not ex@8e@b% of the total number of issued and outstandirares of our common stock.

(6) Consists of 50,000 shares of Common Stock &aD6 shares of Common Stock which may be acquiped conversion of the
outstanding principal under a secured convertible with exercise prices ranging from $7.00 to 876r share.

(7) John Gray is the individual with investmentidean and voting power for this non-natural entity.
(8) Includes 25,000 shares of common stock issugide the exercise of options that are exercisatilin 60 days.

(9) Ms. Simoneaux is the wife of Eric Langan, otnié® Executive Officer. Mr. Langan disclaims bewé&fl ownership of Ms. Simoneaux's
shares.

(10) Includes 27,500 shares of common stock issuabn the exercise of options that are exercisaidhén 60 days.
(11) Includes 5,000 shares of common stock issugide the exercise of options that are exercisatilin 60 days.
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

As of the date of this prospectus, we have not lagletsed by the selling stockholders as to any pfatistribution. Shares owned by the
selling stockholders, or by their partners, pledgéenees (including charitable organizationshsferees or other successors in interest, may
from time to time be offered for sale either dihgdty such individual, or through underwriters, s or agents or on any exchange on which
the shares may from time to time be traded, irotrex-the-counter market, or in independently negetl transactions or otherwise. The
methods by which the shares may be sold include:

- a block trade (which may involve crosses) in wattice broker or dealer so engaged will attempetitlse securities as agent but may
position and resell a portion of the block as pgpatto facilitate the transaction;

- purchases by a broker or dealer as principalrasale by such broker or dealer for its own accpunsuant to this prospectus;
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- exchange distributions and/or secondary distidimst

- sales in the over-the-counter market;

- underwritten transactions;

- ordinary brokerage transactions and transactiomgich the broker solicits purchasers; and
- privately negotiated transactions.

Such transactions may be effected by the sellingkbiolders at market prices prevailing at the toheale or at negotiated prices. The selling
stockholders may effect such transactions by gpttie common stock to underwriters or to or throbgsker-dealers, and such underwriters
or broker-dealers may receive compensations iffiottme of discounts or commissions from the sellitackholders and may receive
commissions from the purchasers of the common dtwolkvhom they may act as agent. The selling stolddrs may agree to indemnify any
underwriter, broker-dealer or agent that parti@pah transactions involving sales of the shareinagcertain liabilities, including liabilities
arising under the Securities Act. We have agreadddster the shares for sale under the SecuAtieéand to indemnify the selling
stockholders, certain representatives of the gefiinckholders and each person who participatas amnderwriter in the offering of the shares
against certain civil liabilities, including centaliabilities under the Securities Act. We are rieggi to pay certain fees and expenses incurred
by us incident to the registration of the shares.

In connection with sales of the common stock uttldisrprospectus, upon effectiveness of the registratatement, the selling stockholders
may enter into hedging transactions with broketaetsawho may in turn engage in short sales ottiremon stock in the course of hedging
the positions they assume. The selling stockholdlsis may sell shares of common stock short andete¢hem to close out the short
positions, or loan or pledge the shares of comnmekgo broker-dealers that in turn may sell them.

Because selling stockholders may be deemed taabgaty "underwriters” within the meaning of thecBeties Act, they will be subject to tl
prospectus delivery requirements of the SecurAigs The selling stockholders are subject to thgliapble provisions of the Exchange Act,
and the rules and regulations thereunder whichmastyict certain activities of, and limit the tingirof purchases and sales of securities by,
selling stockholders and other persons particigatina distribution of securities. The selling stlolders may also sell shares under Rule 144
of the Securities Act, if available, rather tharmenthis prospectus. There is no underwriter orainating broker acting in connection with

the proposed sale of the shares by the sellindlstdders.

The selling stockholders and any underwriters,ateadr agents that participate in distributionhaf shares may be deemed to be underwr
and any profit on sale of the shares by them agdi&@tounts, commissions or concessions receiveahigyunderwriter, dealer or agent may
be deemed to be underwriting discounts and comamissinder the Securities Act. The selling stockéisdio not expect these commissions
and discounts to exceed what is customary in thestpf transactions involved.
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We agreed to keep this prospectus effective umgildarlier of (i) January 18, 2010, or (ii) theeithat all of the shares have been sold
pursuant to the prospectus or Rule 144 under therlies Act or any other rule of similar effect.

There can be no assurances that the selling stltekisawill sell any or all of the shares offeredlanthis prospectus.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

GENERAL

The following description of our capital stock ishgect to and qualified in its entirety by our dfécaite of incorporation and bylaws, which :
included as exhibits to the registration statenoémthich this prospectus forms a part, and by thglieable provisions of Texas law.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 16,000 £l@res of which there are 15,000,000 shares ofrmmnstock, par value $.01 per share,
1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value get@hare.

COMMON STOCK

As of May 11, 2006, there were 4,901,148 share®ofmon stock outstanding. The rights of all hold#rhe common stock are identical in
all respects. The holders of the common stock matidexl to receive ratably such dividends, if ang,may be declared by the Board of
Directors out of legally available funds. The cuatrpolicy of the Board of Directors, however, isrébain earnings, if any, for reinvestment.

Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of ti@mpany, the holders of the common stock are edttth share ratably in all aspects of the
Company that are legally available for distributiafter payment of or provision for all debts aiadbilities.

The holders of the common stock do not have preiemptibscription, redemption or conversion rightder our Articles of Incorporation.
Cumulative voting in the election of Directors st permitted. The outstanding shares of commorksdoe validly issued, fully paid and
nonassessable. The rights, preferences and pesilefjholders of common stock will be subject taj enay be adversely affected by, the
rights of holders of shares of any series of pretéstock that are presently outstanding or that Ioeadesignated and issued by us in the
future.

PREFERRED STOCK

Our Board of Directors, without further action etshareholders, is authorized to issue up to 1000Ghares of preferred stock in one or
more series. The Board may, without shareholderoyah determine the dividend rates, redemptiongs; preferences on liquidation or
dissolution, conversion rights, voting rights amy ather preferences. As of the date of this prosjse our Board has not authorized any
series of preferred stock, and there are no agnesnoe understandings for the issuance of any starpreferred stock. Because of its
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broad discretion with respect to the creation asdance of preferred stock without shareholderaygrour Board could adversely affect the
voting power of the holders of our common and,dsping shares of preferred stock with certain eptaonversion and/or redemption rights,
could delay, defer or prevent an attempt to obdaimtrol of our company.

SECURED CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE

On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertiblegebture to Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% $iwdder of the Company, for the
principal sum of $660,000 bearing interest at tite of 12% per annum, with a maturity date of Audyf008. Under the terms of the
Debenture, we are required to make monthly intgraginents beginning September 1, 2005. We havegheto redeem the Debenture in
whole or in part at any time during the term of Bebenture. At the election of the Holder, the Holdas the right to require the Debentur
be repaid in thirty (30) equal monthly installmeatsnmencing February 2006. The Holder has the opticonvert all or any portion of the
principal amount of the Debenture into shares ofommmon stock at a rate of $3.00 per share, sutgjerdjustment under certain conditions.
The Debenture provides, absent shareholder appttradithe number of shares of our common stodknttzsy be issued by us or acquired by
the Holder upon conversion of the Debenture shatlerceed 19.99% of the total number of issuedaanstanding shares of our common
stock. The Debenture is secured by certain of eseta. Additionally, we issued Mr. McElroy a Watrempurchase 50,000 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 pereshatil July 22, 2008. The shares of Common Staaletying the principal amount of the
Debenture and the Warrants have piggyback regtraghts.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbkrtdebentures with three shareholders for a gpaicum of $825,000. The term is for
two years and the interest rate is 12% per annurthedelection of the holders, the holders haveititg at any time to convert all or any
portion of the principal or interest amount of thebenture into shares of the Company's common stiogkate of $6.55 per share. The
debenture provides, absent shareholder approwliith number of shares of the Company's commak ghat may be issued by the
Company or acquired by the holders upon convemsidhe debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of tted mtmber of issued and outstanding
shares of the Company's common stock.

On February 6, 2006, we issued an unsecured Cdpieetebenture to an unrelated investment groupHerprincipal sum of $1,000,950
bearing interest at the rate of 10% per annum, avithaturity date of February 1, 2009. Under thegeof this Debenture, we are required to
make three quarterly interest payments beginning M&006. Thereafter, we are required to make eqal quarterly principal and interest
payments. At any time after 366 days from the d&issuance of this Debenture, we have the righ¢deem the Debenture in whole or in
part at any time during the term of the DebentAtehe election of the Holder, the Holder has tightrat any time to convert all or any
portion of the principal or interest amount of fhebenture into shares of our common stock at aofetd.75 per share, which approximates
the closing price of the Company's stock on Felyr6aR006. The proceeds of the Debenture was wspdytoff certain debt and increase our
working capital.
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SECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTE

On January 18, 2005, we entered a Secured Corleetdie with the Seller of Peregrine Enterprisas, In the amount of $5,125,000 bear
simple interest at the rate of 4.0% per annum.Noi is payable commencing 120 days after Closaplows: (a) the payment of
$58,333.33 per month for twenty-four (24) conse@ithonths; (b) the payment of $63,333.33 for twdaty (24) consecutive months; (c)
payment of $68,333.33 for twelve (12) consecutinths; and (d) a lump sum payment of the remaibadgnce to be paid on the sixty-first
(61st) month. $2,000,000 of the principal amourthef Note is convertible into shares of our regdacommon stock at prices ranging from
$4.00 to $7.50 per share. As of May 11, 2006, thiléet of the Convertible Note has converted a tot&1,575,000 of the principal sum fr
the note, for which we have issued 300,000 shdrearaestricted common stock. The parties alserest a Stock Pledge Agreement and
Security Agreement to secure the Note.

OUTSTANDING WARRANTS

In addition to the stock options discussed hergamhave 50,000 warrants outstanding at an exepcise of $3.00 per share (for which the
underlying shares have been registered herein).

TRANSFER AGENT

The transfer agent for our Common Stock is Amerigtotk Transfer located at 59 Maiden Lane, New Ybigw York 10038. Their
telephone number is 718-921-8275.

INTEREST OF NAMED EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

Axelrod, Smith & Kirshbaum, P.C., who has prepated Registration Statement and Opinion regardiggauthorization, issuance and fully-
paid and non-assessable status of the securiteesambby this Registration Statement, has repredarg in the past on certain legal matters.
Mr. Robert D. Axelrod presently owns 90,300 sharfesur common stock. His entire relationship withhas been as legal counsel, and there
are no arrangements or understandings which wouddhy way cause him to be deemed an affiliate ®@Rfgistrant or a person associated
with an affiliate of the Registrant.

EXPERTS

The financial statements of Rick's Cabaret Intéonal, Inc. at September 30, 2005 and 2004 includeshd made a part of this document
have been audited by Whitley Penn, LLP, independegistered public accounting firm, as set fortlhieir report appearing elsewhere het
and are included in reliance upon such report garethe authority of such firm as experts in actimgnand auditing.
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COMMISSION POSITION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR SECURIES ACT LIABILITIES

Our certificate of incorporation provides that vieals indemnify our directors and officers to théldat extent permitted by Texas law and that
none of our directors will be personally liablethe Company or its stockholders for monetary damégebreach of fiduciary duty as a
director, except for liability:

- for any breach of the director's duty of loyalthythe Company or its stockholders;

- for acts or omissions not in good faith or thtdlve intentional misconduct or a knowing violatiof the law;
- under the Texas Business Corporation Act foruthlewful payment of dividends; or

- for any transaction from which the director deg\an improper personal benefit.

These provisions require us to indemnify our doextand officers unless restricted by Texas lawedimlinate our rights and those of our
stockholders to recover monetary damages fromeztdir for breach of his fiduciary duty of care adiractor except in the situations
described above. The limitations summarized abloeeever, do not affect our ability or that of otwekholders to seek non-monetary
remedies, such as an injunction or rescissionnagaidirector for breach of his fiduciary duty.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisimmder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteadors, officers and controlling persons
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have lasbised that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such
indemnification is against public policy as expexb the Securities Act and is therefore unenfainte

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statenoenEorm SB-2 under the Securities Act, and thesraind regulations promulgated
thereunder, with respect to the common stock afftiereby. This prospectus, which constitutes aqgfate registration statement, does not
contain all of the information set forth in the istcation statement and the exhibits thereto. 8tates contained in this prospectus as to the
contents of any contract or other document théileid as an exhibit to the registration statemeatraot necessarily complete and each such
statement is qualified in all respects by refereodie full text of such contract or document. fother information with respect to us and
common stock, reference is hereby made to thetrafi statement and the exhibits thereto, whidly tme inspected and copied at the
principal office of the SEC, 450 Fifth Street, N,WVashington, D.C. 20549, and copies of all or past thereof may be obtained at
prescribed rates from the Commission's Public Refea Section at such addresses. Also, the SECaimarat World Wide Web site on the
Internet at http://www.sec.gov that contains repgstoxy and information statements and other médron regarding registrants that file
electronically with the SEC. Additional informati@an also be obtained through our website at wwek$eom. We also make available free
of charge our annual, quarterly and current repprtsxy statements and other information upon regue request such materials, please
contact Mr. Eric Langan, our President and Chieddtiive Officer, at 10959 Cutten Road, Houston,aBeX7066.
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We are in compliance with the information and péiéaeporting requirements of the Exchange Act éamdccordance therewith, will file
periodic reports, proxy and information statememts other information with the SEC. Such perioéjgarts, proxy and information

statements and other information will be availdbleinspection and copying at the principal offipeiblic reference facilities and Web site of
the SEC referred to above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Rickabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.safx$idiaries, as of September 30, 2
and 2004, and the related consolidated stateménfseoations, changes in stockholders' equity,cash flows for the years then ended. Tl
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany's management. Our responsibility is to&sgan opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration terimal control over financial reporting as a bdsisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tingpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveinéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nolsopinion. An audit also includes examining, omst basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemastessing the accounting principles used andfis@mt estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statehpeesentation. We believe that our audits progideasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Rick's
Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiaries &&egitember 30, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidesedts of their operations and their cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity witt@unting principles generally accepted in the bhiBtates of America.

/sl Wiitley Penn
Dal | as, Texas
Decenber 2, 2005
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RICK'S CABARET INTER

CONSOLIDATED BALA

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
Trade
Other
Marketable securities
Inventories
Net assets of discontinued operations
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net

Other assets:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles
Definite lived intangibles, net
Other

Total other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Line-of-credit

Total current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Minority interest
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares
authorized, none outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares
authorized, 5,220,678 and 4,608,678 shares issu
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in treas

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.

NATIONAL, INC.
NCE SHEETS

SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004

$ 480,330 $ 275,243

310,692 72,909
118,872 204,093
28,919 122,350
257,626 232,746
- 27,674
87,991 976,577
1,284,430 1,911,592
13,416,755 8,681,440
9,836,560 1,898,926
126,262 -
365,011 268,919
10,327,833 2,167,845

$25,029,018 $12,760,877

$1,034,508 $ 291,650

852,865 568,835
1,349,894 492,310
94,888 -
3,332,155 1,352,795
193,648 20,048
11,896,942 3,201,250
15,422,745 4,574,093
31,337 40,808
ed, respectively 52,207 46,087
13,004,567 11,273,149
15,572 109,002
(2,203,630) (1,988,482)
10,868,716 9,439,756
ury, at cost 1,293,780 1,293,780
9,574,936 8,145,976

$25,029,018 $12,760,877




RICK'S CABARET INTE

CONSOLIDATED STATE

Revenues:
Sales of alcoholic beverages
Sales of food and merchandise
Service revenues
Internet revenues
Other

Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold

Salaries and wages

Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits
Charge card fees
Rent
Legal and professional
Advertising and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Other

Income from continuing operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Gain on sale of marketable securities
Other
Income (loss) from continuing operations before min

Minority interest

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of a subsidiary

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

Weighted average number of common shares outstandin

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.

RNATIONAL, INC.

MENTS OF INCOME

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

2005 2004
$ 5,431,049 $ 5,343,858
1,688,043 1,581,851
6,632,201 5,839,759
787,617 796,353
285,497 296,613
14,824,407 13,858,434
1,865,630 1,623,915
5,200,976 4,803,515
1,985,989 1,815,883
229,397 236,894
558,435 248,074
685,291 543,550
752,866 756,586
590,466 479,791
2,656,277 1,955,623
14,525,327 12,463,831
299,080 1,394,603
33,434 28,887
(699,678) (324,411)
- 19,807
(1,149) 10,193
ority interest (368,313) 1,129,079
9,472 (4,777)
(358,841) 1,124,302
(148,294) (349,049)
291,987 -
143,693 (349,049)
$ (215,148) $ 775,253
$ (0.09) $ 0.30
0.04 (0.09)
$ (0.05) $ 0.21
g 3,937,565 3,700,148




RIC K'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED ST ATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
COMMON S TOCK ACCUMULATED TREASURY STOCK
-------------------- ADDITIONAL OTHER
NUMBER PAID-IN  COMPREHENSIVE ACCUMULATE D NUMBER
OF SHARES AMOUNT  CAPITAL INCOME DEFICIT OF SHARES AMOUNT
Balance at September 30, 2003 4,608,678 $ 46,087 $11,273,149 $ 120,000 $(2,763,73 5) 908,530 $(1,293,780)
Net income - - - - 775,25 3 - -
Reclassification from unrealized to
realized gain - - - (13,222) - - -
Change in available-for-sale
securities - - - 2,224 - - -

Comprehensive income - - - - - - R

Balance at September 30, 2004 4,608,678 46,087 11,273,149 109,002 (1,988,48 2) 908,530 (1,293,780)
Shares issued 612,000 6,120 1,624,762 - - - -
Stock warrants issued - - 106,656 - - - -
Net loss - - - - (215,14 8) - -
Change in available-for-sale
securities - - - (93,430) - - -

Comprehensive loss - - - - - R

Balance at September 30, 2005 5,220,678 $ 52,207 $13,004,567 $ 15,572 $(2,203,63 0) 908,530 $(1,293,780)
TOTAL
STOCKHOLDER s'
EQUITY
Balance at September 30, 2003 $ 73817 21
Net income 775,2 53
Reclassification from unrealized to
realized gain (13,2 22)
Change in available-for-sale
securities 2,2 24
Comprehensive income 764,2 55
Balance at September 30, 2004 8,145,9 76
Shares issued 1,630,8 82
Stock warrants issued 106,6 56
Net loss (215,1 48)
Change in available-for-sale
securities (93,4 30)
Comprehensive loss (308,5 78)
Balance at September 30, 2005 $ 95749 36

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.



RICK'S CABARET INTERNA TIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (358,841) $ 1,124,302
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from conti nuing
operations to net cash provided by operating ac tivities:
Depreciation 573,706 479,791
Amortization 16,760 -
Bad debts 75,995 -
Issuance of warrants 5,925 -
Minority interests (9,472) 4,777
Stock issued for professinal services 27,120 -
Gain on sales of marketable securities - (19,807)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (179,583) (19,465)
Inventories (24,880) (40,435)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 975,432 (967,975)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 987,868 175,120
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,090,030 736,308
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions (2,650,000) (265,000)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 550,000 -
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities - 21,459
Purchases of property and equipment (4,242,368) (630,988)
Note receivable payments 34,860 7,323
Net cash used in investing activities (6,307,508) (867,206)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of stock 928,762 -
Proceeds from long-term debt 4,762,000 300,000
Payments on long-term debt (889,565) (453,749)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 4,801,197 (153,749)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operati ons (378,632) 56,666
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent s 205,087 (227,981)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 275,243 503,224
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 480,330 $ 275,243
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 695962 $ 331,765

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended September 30, 2004, the Coyrfipzanced the purchase of a vehicle with a natgaple in the amount of $31,235.

During the year ended September 30, 2004, the Coynglimested a business, see Note M. As a restiteoflivestiture, the Company recei\
a note receivable in the amount of $235,000, rezbeddeferred gain of $163,739, and removed $7&072t assets.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynmarchased a 9,000 square foot office buildingheil 2,739, payable with a $86,279
cash at closing and a $426,460 fifteen-year prammyssote, bearing interest rate at 7%.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynparchased a club in New York for $7,775,000,gtdy with $2,500,000 cash at
closing and a five-year secured convertible proamssote, bearing interest at 4%, in the amour$5125,000, and transaction costs of
$150,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, 12,08@s'of restricted common stocks were issued ap@osation pursuant to a consulting
agreement for a total value of $27,120, and weseeld as part of the transaction costs relatecetolttb in New York.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynmarchased a club in Charlotte for $1,0000,0@9aple with a $325,000 seven-year
secured promissory note, bearing interest at 7% 180,000 shares of stock valued at $675,000.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsisients.



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
A. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. (the "Comparig'a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. The@any currently owns and operates
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment taesant, and bar operations. These nightclubsogegdd in Houston, Austin and San Antonio,
Texas, as well as Minneapolis, Minnesota, Charldttath Carolina, and New York, New York. The Compalso owns and operates several
adult entertainment Internet websites. The Compasorporate offices are located in Houston, Texas.

B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the Company's significant accountintigies consistently applied in the preparationh&f accompanying consolidated
financial statements follows:

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accounts are maintained and the consolidateddial statements have been prepared using theshbasis of accounting in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include tw®ants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Siant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiettaertain reported amounts in the financialesteents and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimated assumptions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith a maturity of three months or less when pasgt to be cash equivalents. At
September 30, 2005 and 2004, the Company had ihoisuestments. The Company maintains deposits pilyria one financial institution,
which may at times exceed amounts covered by inserprovided by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insur&arporation ("FDIC"). At
September 30, 2005, the uninsured portion of tdepesits approximated $27,000. There were no uredsueposits at September 30, 2004.
The Company has not incurred any losses relatéd tash on deposit with financial institutions.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedrafdit card charges, which are generally convadezash in two to five days after a
purchase is made. The Company's accounts receivtiideis comprised of employee advances and otiszellaneous receivables. The
long-term portion of notes receivable are incluttedther assets in the accompanying consolidatithba sheets. The Company recognizes
interest income on notes receivable based on thestef the agreement and based upon managemeaitston that the notes receivable and
interest income will be collected. The Company gggpes allowances for doubtful accounts or notesnybased on management judgment,
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaigks will not be collected. There is no allowafmedoubtful accounts or notes receivable
as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities at September 30, 2005 and 200sist of common stock. Statement of Financ@loddnting Standards ("SFAS") No.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt &uaglity Securities, requires certain investmentsdgerded at fair value or amortized ¢
The appropriate classification of the investmentsarketable equity is determined at the time a€pase and re-evaluated at each balance
sheet date. As of September 30, 2005 and 200&£dhgany's marketable securities were classifieal/aBable-for-sale, which are carried at
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses raqubats other comprehensive income within the stddiing’ equity section of the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Thetaostrketable equity securities sold is determioed specific identification basis. The
fair value of marketable equity securities is basedjuoted market prices. There has been no rdajaas related to marketable securities
the year ended September 30, 2005. Marketableiesureld at September 30, 2005 and 2004 havstebesis of approximately $13,000.

INVENTORIES

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @ochpany merchandise. Inventories are carried dbther of cost, average cost, which
approximates actual cost determined on a firstifist-out ("FIFO") basis, or market.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depi@tia computed using the straight-line methodrdlie estimated useful lives of the assets
for financial reporting purposes. Buildings havémeated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeargniure, equipment and leasehold
improvements have estimated useful lives betwaendnd ten years. Expenditures for major renewadshetterments that extend the useful
lives are capitalized. Expenditures for normal rteriance and repairs are expensed as incurred.obhefcassets sold or abandoned and the
related accumulated depreciation are eliminateoh fitte accounts and any gains or losses are chargeddited in the accompanying
statement of operations of the respective period.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Goddwd Other Intangibles Assets, which addresseadheunting for goodwill and other
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill imtahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an annual
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFAS#¥e October 1, 2001. The Company's annual evialuatas performed as of
September 30, 2005. No impairment losses wereifahas a result of this evaluation. All of the@pany's goodwill and intangible assets
relate to the nightclub segment. Definite livedaimgible assets are amortized on a strdigbtbasis over their estimated lives. Fully anzmti
assets are written off against accumulated amdidiza

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise and seraideg point-of-sale upon receipt of
cash, check, or credit card charge. This inclu@ély dnd annual VIP memberships.

Under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenuec&gnition in Financial Statements, membership raeeshould be deferred and
recognized over the estimated membership usagedoéfianagement estimates that the weighted aveisafel lives for memberships are 12
and 24 months for annual and lifetime membershgspectively. The Company does not track memberstage by type of membership,
however it believes these lives are appropriatecandervative, based on management's knowledge dfént base and membership usage at
the clubs. The Company began deferring such revientlre quarter ended March 31, 2004, and this amiguecorded in accrued liabilities.

If the Company had deferred membership revenugesajnized it based on the lives above prior taildgnl, 2004, the impact on revenue
and net income recognized would have been incredsgsproximately $3,600 and $47,000 for the yeaded September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. This would have also resulted inramease in the deferred revenue balance of appabeiyn$0 and $12,000 as of Septembe
2005 and 2004, respectively. Management does fievbehe impact of this difference in accountingatment is material to the Company's
annual and quarterly financial statements.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgmsthibscriptions to its online entertainment sitéemnotification of a new subscription
is received from the third party hosting companyrom the credit card company, usually two to thdegs after the transaction has occurred.
The Company recognizes Internet auction revenuenywhgment is received from the credit card as reesrare not deemed estimable nor
collection deemed probable prior to that point.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
ADVERTISING AND MARKETING

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilpeosed of costs related to public advertisementsgiveaways, which are used for
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketingegrges are expensed as incurred and are incluageiating expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditialmethod in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Aceting for Income Taxes. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for theré tax consequences attributable to differebetseen the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrtfesipective tax bases. Deferred tax assets dnilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yearghith those temporary differences are expectduttrecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changexirates is recognized in income in the period ithdudes the enactment date. In addition, a
valuation allowance is established to reduce afigrom tax asset for which it is determined th& inore likely than not that some portion of
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Company reports comprehensive income in acnoed@ith the provisions of SFAS No. 130, Reportt@mprehensive Income.
Comprehensive income consists of net income antsdlisses) on available-for-sale marketable seesiiand is presented in the
consolidated statements of changes in stockholdgusty.

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The Company computes earnings per share in acamdeith SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share. SFASI1®8.provides for the calculation

of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basidmgsrper share includes no dilution and is compbtedividing income available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Diluted egsper share reflect the potential
dilution of securities that could share in the &ags of the Company. The impact of dilutive stogitions does not change earnings per share,
therefore basic and diluted earnings per sharéharsame.

Stock options of approximately 733,000 for the yeraded September 30, 2004, have been excludedefaonings per share due to the stock
options being anti-dilutive. All options were exdkd for the year ended September 30, 2005 duetGdmpany's net loss.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with the reporting requirements cASMNo. 107, Disclosures About Fair Value of Finahthstruments, the Company
calculates the fair value of its assets and liaddiwhich
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED

qualify as financial instruments under this statetraand includes this additional information in ti@es to consolidated financial statements
when the fair value is different than the carryuadue of these financial instruments. The estimé@dvalue of accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate thairying amounts due to the relatively short mayusitthese instruments. The carrying value
of short and long-term debt also approximatesvaline since these instruments bear market rategesest. None of these instruments are
held for trading purposes.

STOCK OPTIONS

At September 30, 2005, the Company has stock aptiatstanding, which are described more fully indN@. The Company accounts for its
stock options under the recognition and measurepramtiples of Accounting Principles Board ("APBDpinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, and related InterpogtstiThe following table illustrates the effectrmt income and earnings per share if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition mions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Bag&mimpensation, to stock-based
employee compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgbarre data as if a fair value accounting methadde®n used to account for stock-based
compensation:

Y EAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004
Net income (loss), as reported $ (215,148) $ 775,253
Less total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair value
based method for all awards (549,165) (216,616)
Pro forma net income (loss) $ (764,313) $ 558,637

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted - as reported $ (0.05) $ 0.21

Basic and diluted - pro forma $ (0.19) $ 0.15

IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansi&aiard ("FASB") issued interpretation 46R ("FINRI, a revision to interpretation 46
("FIN 46"), Consolidation of Variable Interest Bigs. FIN 46R clarifies some of the provisions 8flB6 and exempts certain entities fron
requirements. FIN 46R was effective at the endheffirst interim period ending after March 15, 2004e adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R
did not have a material impact on the Company'salifated financial statements.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, SBased Payment, which is a revision of SFAS 123 08iating for Stock-Based
Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Aditaufor Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R fesywmimarily on share-based
payments for employee services, requiring thesenpays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdeffite use of APB 25's intrinsic value
method of accounting for employee stock optionsheen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in the
future will be required to be expensed. The impacthe results of operations of the Company wiltbpendent on the number of options
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginninddder 1, 2006.

C. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

SEPTEMBER 30,

2005 2004
Buildings and land $9,531,112 $ 8,967 ,481
Leasehold improvements 4,099,666 565 ,385
Furniture 939,550 547 574
Equipment 2,079,895 1,260 , 763
Total property and equipment 16,650,223 11,341 ,203
Less accumulated depreciation 3,233,468 2,659 , 763
Property and equipment, net $13,416,755 $ 8,681 ,440

For the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2G)€aimpany capitalized approximately $128,000 anaepectively, of interest to
property and equipment in leasehold improvements.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
D. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thiofahg:

SEPTEMBER 30,

2005 2004

Indefinite useful lives:

Goodwill $1,898,926 $1,898,926

Licenses 7,937,634

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives:

Discounted lease 18 years 43,022

Non-compete agreement 5 years 100,000 -

Less accumulated amortization (16,760)
Total goodwill and intangible assets $9,962,822 $1,898,926

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization atedeiper 30, 2005 for each of the years in the
five-year period ending September 30, 2010 andedftar is 2006 - $22,347, 2007 - $22,347, 2008327, 2009 - $22,347, 2010 - 7,347,
and thereafter - $29,527.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
E. LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consisted of the following:

SEPTEMBER 30,

2005 2004

Note payable at prime (as determined by

the Wall Street Journal) plus 1%,

matures December 2004 *$ - $ 296,163
Notes payable at 9%, mature February 2008  * 2,035,303 2,120,680
Notes payable at 12%, mature March 2026 * 140,802 142,263
Note payable at 9%, matures March 2006 * 289,308 293,224
Note payable with imputed interest at 7%,

matures January 2006, unsecured 214,649 415,255
Notes payable at 11%, mature August 2015 * 1,335,338 367,072
Notes payable at 10%, mature December 2014

and January 2015 * 2,868,224 -
Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012,

collateralized by assets of RCI

Entertainment North Carolina, Inc. 325,000 -
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2004  * - 27,667
Convertible note payable at 12%, matures

August 2008 559,270 -
Convertible note payable at 4%, matures

May 2010, collateralized by assets of RCI

Entertainment New York, Inc. 5,042,362 -
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2019  * 414,057 -
Note payable at 8.99%, matures

October 2007, collateralized by a vehicle 22,523 31,236
Total debt 13,246,836 3,693,560
Less current portion 1,349,894 492,310
Total long-term debt $ 11,896,942 $3,201,250

* Collateralized by real estate

The Company had an unsecured note payable at 189 emount of $188,051 at September 30, 2004 ,hwhias part of discontinued
operations.

In June, July and November 2004, the Company badd®100,000, $100,000, and $900,000, respectifrely, an unrelated individual at the
rate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thesmiamgs were an addition to a previous note. Dufisgal year 2005, the monthly paym
of principal and interest of the new borrowing 16%34, and $3,445 for the old note. The notesecared by our properties located at 3501
Andtree, Austin and at 5718 Fairdale,
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
E. LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED
Houston, Texas. The money received from this nearfting was used for the acquisition and renovaifahe New York club.

On November 15, November 17, and December 30, 28842ompany borrowed $590,000, $1,042,000, ar2i’f$1000, respectively, from a
financial institution at an annual interest ratel% over a 10 year term. The monthly paymentsiatjpal and interest are $5,694, $10,056,
and $12,256, respectively. The notes are securedibgroperties located at 2023 Sable Lane, Saorat410

N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E., and 3113 Bering Drive, $fon, Texas. The money received from this finaneag used for the acquisition a
renovation of the New York club.

As a part of the purchase the North Carolina diné,Company issued 180,000 shares of the Compemyison stock valued at $3.75 per
share and entered into a seven year promissoryimtte amount of $325,000 bearing interest atrale of 7% per annum. The note is
payable with an initial payment due November 1,%Qf interest only for the period of time from ttate of Closing until October 31, 2005,
plus a principal reduction payment in the amour§009. Thereafter, RCI Entertainment North Caslinc., the Company's subsidiary,
will make eighty-three (83) successive equal mgnplalyments commencing December 1, 2005, of priheipd interest in the amount of
$4,905 until paid in full. The note is secured bg aissets of RCI Entertainment North Carolina, fursuant to the terms of the note, on or
after November 1, 2005, the holder shall have igifg,rbut not the obligation to have the Companschase from the holder 4,285 shares per
month, calculated at a price per share equal t6583ntil the holder has received a total of $1,000,from the sale of the shares less the
amount of the note. At the Company's election duany given month, the Company may either buy tbathly shares or, if the Company
elects not to buy the monthly shares from the holthen the holder shall sell the monthly sharethénopen market. Any deficiency between
the amount which the holder receives from the shthe monthly shares and the value of the shdrallse paid by the Company within thi
(3) days of the date of sale of the monthly shdtesg that particular month. The Company's obi@ato purchase the monthly shares from
the holder shall terminate and cease at such titleesholder has received a total of $1,000,00® filee sale of the shares, less the amount of
the note.

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdatorvertible debenture with one of its sharehalder a principal sum of $660,000. The
debenture is convertible into 220,000 shares ofCtimpany's common stock at a conversion price df@fer share at the option of the
holder. The term is for three years and interdstigaat 12% per annum. The debenture matures gnstd, 2008. The Company also issued
50,000 detachable warrants at $3.00 per shardaitiore to this debenture. The value of the discmmhotes payable was estimated to be
$106,656 at the date of grant using a Black-Schappéi®n-pricing model. For the year ending Septandfe 2005, the Company recorded
$5,925 interest expense. The debenture is secyr€dimpany's ownership in Citation Land, LLC and R®Idings, Inc., both are wholly
owned subsidiaries.

As a part of the purchase the New York club, thenfany obtained a $5.125 million in a promissoryerte¢aring simple interest at the rate of
4.0% per annum with a balloon payment at end & yigars. Two million dollars of the principal ambohthe Promissory Note is
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
E. LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED
convertible into shares of restricted common seitgbrices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per share.

In December 2004, as a part of the purchase diG0%quare-foot office building, the Company oledia fifteen year promissory note in the
amount of $426,460 with interest at 7%.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of filllowing:

2006 $ 1,349,894
2007 835,062
2008 3,312,223
2009 909,149
2010 2,894,275
Thereafter 3,946,233

F. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense for the years presented dfffens the "expected” federal income tax expense edetpby applying the U.S. federal
statutory rate of 34% to earnings before incomegdxr the years ended September 30, as a reshi &llowing:

2005 2004
Computed expected tax expense (benefit) $(73,151) $ 263,586
State income taxes (6,454) 23,257
Deferred tax asset valuation
Allowance 79,605 (286,843)
Total income tax expense $ - $

2005 2004
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Goodwill $ (138, 150) $ 284,018
Property and equipment (254, 788) (161,881)
Net operating losses 1,165, 143 654,405
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (5, 762) (40,331)
Other 72, 975 16,646
Valuation allowance (839, 418) (752,857)
$ $



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

F. INCOME TAXES - CONTINUED

The Company has established a valuation allowambdly reserve the deferred tax assets at SepteB8)e2005 and 2004 due to the

uncertainty of the timing and amounts of futureatabe income. At September 30, 2005, the Companynkadperating loss carryforwards of
approximately $3,149,000, which expire in 2017 tiglo 2020.

G. STOCK OPTIONS

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oftlan (the "1995 Plan") for employees and directorgiugust 1999 the Company
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the "1999 Rl@dllectively, "the Plans"). The options grantedler the Plans may be either incentive
stock options, or non-qualified options. The Plarsadministered by the Board of Directors or lopapensation committee of the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclugigeer to select individuals to receive grantsgtablish the terms of the options grante
each participant, provided that all options grarsiedll be granted at an exercise price equal leaat 85% of the fair market value of the
common stock covered by the option on the graré datl to make all determinations necessary or algisinder the Plans.

Following is a summary of options for the yearsesh@eptember 30:

WEIG HTED WEIGHTED

AVE RAGE AVERAGE

EXER CISE EXERCISE

2005 PR ICE 2004 PRICE

Outstanding at beginning of year 908,000 $ 2.39 498,000 $ 2.35
Granted 90,000 2.80 575,000 2.46
Expired (50,000) 2.49 (165,000) 2.29
Exercised (70,000) 2.21 - -
Outstanding at end of year 878,000 2.47 908,000 2.42
Exercisable at end of year 583,000 $ 2.40 408,000 $ 2.32

Weighted-average remaining
contractual life 2.84 years 3.12 years

As of September 30, 2005, the range of exercisegifior outstanding options was $1.40 -$2.80.

The Company has elected to follow APB No. 25 ahated interpretations in accounting for its empkgtock options because the alterne
fair value accounting provided for under SFAS N23,JAccounting for Stock Based Compensation, reguine use of option valuation
models that were not developed for use in valumgleyee stock options. See footnote B for relatiedldsures.
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G. STOCK OPTIONS - CONTINUED

Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is reconthen the exercise price of the Company's emplst@ck option equals the fair
value of the underlying stock on the date of gr&umpensation equal to the intrinsic value of erpgdostock options is recorded when the
exercise price of the stock option is less tharfdirevalue of the underlying stock on the dategent. Any resulting compensation is
amortized to expense over the remaining vestingp@egiof the options on a straight-line basis. heryears ended September 30, 2005 and
2004, no amounts were recorded to compensatiomsgpelated to stock options issued to employees.

Information regarding pro forma net income is reediby SFAS 123, and has been determined as @dnapany had accounted for its
employee stock options under the fair value methfd8IFAS No. 123. The fair value of these options wstimated at the date of grant usir
Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the follogsweighted average assumptions:

2005 2004

Volatility 137% 137%
Expected lives 3years 3.3 years
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rates 4.31% 3.45%

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was deuetibfor use in estimating the fair value of tradptions, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofiygsubjective assumptions including the
expected stock price volatility. Because changehlérsubjective input assumptions can materiafigcathe fair value estimate, in
management's opinion, the existing models do ncessarily provide a reliable single measure ofélrevalue of its employee stock options.

H. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
LEASES

The Company leases certain equipment and facilitefer operating leases, of which rent expenseappoximately $558,000 and $536,000
for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 20§gectvely.

Rent expense for the Company's operating leasashwbnerally have escalating rentals over the trthe lease, is recorded using the
straight line method over the initial lease termevdiby an equal amount of rent expense is attribiotedch period during the term of the
lease, regardless of when actual payments are rGaterally, this results in rent expense in exoéssish payments during the early years of
a lease and rent expense less than cash payméheslater years. The difference between rent esgpeecognized and actual rental payments
is recorded as other long-term liability in the solidated balance sheets.
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Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $epéz 30, 2005 are as follow:

2006 $ 964,307
2007 984,472
2008 929,076
2009 788,114
2010 552,882
Thereafter 8,517,755

LEGAL MATTERS
Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance Of Houston, as

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofuddton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance reguthg location of and the conduct
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the "Ordindncehe Ordinance established new minimum distaticasSexually Oriented Businesses
may be located from schools, churches, playgroandsother sexually oriented businesses. There meepgovisions in the Ordinance
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance9B¥1the Company was informed that
one of the Company's Houston locations at 3113ngeDirive failed to meet the requirements of theiadce and accordingly the renewal of
the Company's Business License at that locationdeaged.

The Ordinance provided that a business which waiede renewal of its operating permit due to clearig distance requirements under the
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafar a period of time (the "Amortization Periodf'fhe owner were unable to recoup, by
the effective date of the Ordinance, its investnienie business that was incurred through the ofatiee passage and approval of the
Ordinance.

The Company filed a request with the City of Hoastequesting an extension of time during which apens at the Company's north
Houston facility could continue under the AmortipatPeriod provisions of the Ordinance since thenBany was unable to recoup its
investment prior to the effective date of the Oadlice. An administrative hearing was held by thg GitHouston to determine the appropri
Amortization Period to be granted to the Compartyth& Hearing, the Company was granted an amddizgeriod that has since been
reached. The Company has the right to appeal acigide of the Hearing official to the district coum the State of Texas.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitudility of the entire Ordinance was
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the U.S.
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District Court for the Southern District of Texdguston Division, struck down certain provisiongteé Ordinance, including the provision
mandating a 1,500 foot distance between a clutsahdols, churches and other sexually oriented basjdeaving intact the provision of the
750 foot distance as it existed prior to the Ordo®a

The City of Houston has appealed the District Csuittings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. the event that the City of Houston is
successful in the appeal, the Company could befozampliance and such an outcome could have aeragimpact on the Company's futi
The permits for the Company's north Houston locatind Bering Drive location have expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texaklirfance, such as provisions governing the levégbfing in a sexually oriented business,
the distance between a customer and dancer wiildahcer is performing in a state of undress aadigions regarding the licensing of
dancers and club managers that were upheld byotlm¢ which may be detrimental to the Company'simgs. The Company, in concert with
other sexually oriented businesses, is appealiegethspects of the Ordinance.

In November, 2003, a three judge panel from th#hFfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opiniahich affirmed the Trial Court's rulir
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjom distances and licensing of dancers and. Staff Court of Appeals, however, did not
follow the Trial Court's ruling regarding the dista from which a club may be located from a chumckchool. The Court of Appeals held
that a distance measurement of 1,500 feet woulthbeld upon a showing by the City of Houston ttetiaims that there were alternative
sites available for relocating the clubs could blessantiated. The case was remanded for trial ®istue of the alternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could amfditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whigdre not decided at the trial level during
the initial phase of the case. It is anticipateat these technical issues will be joined in thall@ourt. The City has not sought to modify any
of the terms of the injunction against enforcenwdrany location provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Coulitigslin 1998 has been exhausted. The Trial Castdntered a new scheduling order which
places trial on the remaining issues for June 20@@ler the holding of the Fifth Circuit Court of pgals, the City of Houston has the burden
of proof to show that, under the distance measungsr@ntained in the 1997 ordinance, there are 280 alternate sites available for
relocation. If the City of Houston can meet thigiah burden, then the Trial Court will consideetremaining location issues which were not
decided during the initial summary phase of theechsthe event the City of Houston can meet itslbn and the Trial Court moves forward
with the case, an appeal is anticipated. A rulinghe remaining issues in favor of the City of Homscould have an adverse impact on the
Rick's locations in Houston, Texas.
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OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On May 2, 2003, a lawsuit was filed in the Unitedt8s District Court for the Western District ofXBs, San Antonio division, on behalf of
XTC Cabaret, and others, as a result of the Citgasf Antonio having adopted a new ordinance, wlanigng other things, banned nude
dancing. This suit asked the Court to declare tdnance unconstitutional and enjoin the City frenforcing it. Prior to a resolution of this
litigation, XTC Cabaret withdrew as a party to thesuit. Although a settlement was reached withrémaining parties in June 2005, it did
not include nude dancing. XTC has elected to addtes constitutionality of the ordinance by appegakny conviction obtained by the City
through the state courts.

On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the 80tkditial District Court of Harris County, Texas, lety Cause No. 2004-18510, Charity Renee
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, €etlaik is a wrongful death and personal injury acagainst two individuals based on
negligence theories and five entertainment estahnlksnts including Rick's based on alleged "dram ‘shimgations arising from a two-car
collision. Plaintiffs have also sued Ford Motor Guany under a theory of products liability. Plaifgtiinclude the children of the decedents, a
minor passenger and the mothers of the deceddaistif’s are seeking unspecified damages inclugihgsical pain and suffering, mental
anguish, pecuniary loss, past and future loss wfpamionship and consortium, loss of mental andlédteial function, past and future
physical impairment, reduction in earning capaditgreased education costs and expenses includiveydl and medical costs.

Management believes that the Company is not littslany of the damages and that the Company isredvay the safe harbor provisions of
the Dram Shop Act, which render certain compliatalelishments not liable for the acts of their past The Company is not aware of any
insurance coverage for this claim. The Companyegetiiat the Company has any liability for the aeetdand is vigorously defending the
matter.

Discovery is ongoing and the Company has filed d@idtiofor Summary Judgment on behalf of Rick's whihurrently pending.

For all the above legal matters, no contingentrieseas liabilities have been recorded in the apamying balance sheets as such potential
losses are not deemed probable or estimable.

I. LINE-OF-CREDIT

The Company has available a $100,000 unsecuredfingedit with a bank. Interest is payable monthfythe outstanding balance at a
floating rate of prime plus 1.5% (8.25% at Septendfy 2005). This arrangement is subject to renéwaline 2006. The amount outstanding
under this agreement at September 30, 2005 wa88®84yith the remainder available for future boritogv
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The following information is presented in accordamdth SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segmensdnterprise and Related
Information. The Company is engaged in adult ngghbs and adult entertainment websites ("Interndtie Company has identified such
segments based on management responsibility anththee of the Company's products, services and.cbsere are no major distinctions in
geographical areas served as all operations dhe ibnited States. The Company measures segmditt(foss) as income

(loss) from operations. Total assets are thosdsassatrolled by each reportable segment.

The following table sets forth certain informatiainout each segment's financial information forybar ended September 30:

2005 2004
Business segment sales:
Night clubs $1 4,708,159 $15,163,331
Internet 788,513 796,353
Discontinued operations (672,265) (2,101,250)
$1 4,824,407 $13,858,434
Business segment operating income:
Night clubs $ 2,283,535 $2,542,482
Internet 114,500 88,958
General corporate ( 2,098,955) (1,565,871)
Discontinued operations - 329,034
$ 299,080 $ 1,394,603
Business segment capital expenditures:
Night clubs $ 4,763,060 $ 659,073
Internet 58,153 5,580
General corporate 516,500 35,546
Discontinued operations (28,693)  (55,634)
$ 5,309,020 $ 644,565
Business segment depreciation and amortization:
Night clubs $ 455,690 $ 385,425
Internet 34,231 43,308
General corporate 122,277 115,404
Discontinued operations (21,732)  (64,346)
$ 590,466 $ 479,791
Business segment assets:
Night clubs $1 9,037,102 $ 6,640,888
Internet 99,148 108,595
General corporate 5,892,768 6,450,276
Discontinued operations - (438,882
$2 5,029,018 $12,760,877
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K. COMMON STOCK

In January 2005, 20,000 stock options were exatdigethe Company's employees and directors for6Z%0,In March 2005, the Company
issued 150,000 shares of common stock to an uackiavestor and received proceeds of $375,000002%0ares of restricted common stock
were issued at a value of $2.26 per share pursoantonsulting agreement, and 25,000 stock optigre exercised by the Company's
employees for $60,025. On June 10, 2005, the Coyniganed 180,000 shares of common stock pursuahetpurchase of a club in
Charlotte, North Carolina. See Note N. In July 2008 sold 200,000 shares of our common stock invafe transaction to 13 persons at
$2.00 per share for a total consideration of $400,0h August and September 2005, 25,000 stoclogtivere exercised by the Company's
employees and directors for $54,113.

L. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In May 2002, the Company loaned $100,000 to Eriagaa, Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tl¢ens unsecured, bears interest at
11% and is amortized over a period of ten years.Adte contains a provision that in the event Mingan leaves the Company for any
reason, the note immediately becomes due and gayahlll. The balance of the note was approxinya$219,000 and $86,000 at September
30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is includeatfier assets in the accompanying consolidatechbalsheets.

M. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the "Plamtjch covers all of the Company's corporate eygxs. The Plan allows the corpot
employees to contribute up to the maximum amouatvald by law, with the Company making a matchingtdbution of 3% of the
employee's salary. Expenses related to matchingibotions to the Plan approximated $28,000 andGXBfor the years ended September
30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

N. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

On March 3, 2004, the Company acquired the assétbasiness of a 7,000 square foot gentlemen'sicidiorth Houston and it became the
Company's fifth XTC Cabaret. As a part of the teanti®n, the Company entered into a new five-yeasdewith an option for five additional
years. The results of operations of this new vearaancluded in the accompanying consolidated firdrstatements from the date
acquisition. The $265,000 all-cash purchase trammsagenerated goodwill of $20,000. Proforma resaftoperations have not been provided,
as the amounts were not deemed material to theolidated financial statements. The transactiorofed the Company's growth strategy.

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered intock Surchase Agreement with an unrelated thirtiypamereby the Company sold all
its 510 shares of common stock of RCI Ventures, florc$15,000 cash and a $235,000 note receivadery interest at a rate of 6%
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over a five year period. As a part of the transaGtTrumps, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compamd Tantric, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of RCI Ventures., entered into a fivanjease agreement for the property located at Halr@lale, Houston, Texas. The Company
has recorded a $163,739 deferred gain relatedgdrémsaction for the year ended September 304.20%e gain will be recognized upon
collection of the note receivable. The club's besinwas accounted for as discontinued operatiater @rccounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and tbegethe club's results of operations and cashsfloawve been removed from the Company's
consolidated results of continuing operations ashdlows for all periods presented in this docunaer such assets and liabilities as of
September 30, 2004 have been netted in one limedtethe balance sheet. The deferred gain is natjaihst the note receivable, included in
other assets in the accompanying balance sheet.

On January 18, 2005, the Company's wholly-ownedididry, RCI Entertainment New York, Inc., a NewrkKa@orporation ("RCI New

York") completed the acquisition of Peregrine Epties, Inc. ("Peregrine"), which operated the &amClub in Midtown Manhattan, New
York (50 West 33rd Street). Peregrine owns andaiperan adult entertainment cabaret located inowittManhattan. The cabaret club is
located near the Empire State Building and MadBquare Garden, and is less than 10 blocks from SBggiare. The total consideration \
for $7.775 million for the assets and stock offivener Paradise Club, which had operated on tleefeitmore than a decade. The transaction
consisted of $2.5 million in cash and $5.125 millin a promissory note bearing simple intereshatrate of 4.0% per annum with a balloon
payment at end of five years and transaction afst450,000. The Promissory Note is payable comingnt51 days after Closing as
follows: (a) the payment of $58,333.33 per monthtfeenty-four (24) consecutive months; (b) the papbof $63,333.33 for twentipur (24)
consecutive months; (c) the payment of $68,333083elve

(12) consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymfthte remaining balance to be paid on the sikst-{61st) month. $2,000,000 of the
principal amount of the Promissory Note is coneetinto shares of restricted common stock at priemging from $4.00 to $7.50 per share.
The parties also entered into a Stock Pledge Ageeéand Security Agreement to secure the Promidsotg. The results of operations of
club are included in the Company's consolidatetéstant of operations from January 18, 2005.

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 150,000
Discounted lease 43,022
Non-compete agreement 100,000
License 7,481,978

Net assets acquired $7,775,000

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of the
immediate preceding period. Peregrine's operatomgor the calendar year 2004. The pro forma médion is not necessarily
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indicative of what would have occurred had the &itjan been made as of such periods, nor is icati/e of future results of operations. ~
pro forma amounts give effect to appropriate adjesits for the fair value of the assets acquiredyrimation of intangibles and interest
expense.

2005 2004
Revenues $ 15,310,407 $16,206,998
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (638,841) 425,320
Net income (loss) (495,148) 87,370
Net income (loss) per share - basic and diluted $ (0.13) $ 0.02

On March 31, 2005, the Company completed the dade®of its clubs known as 'Rick's South' to MB@géisition LLC for cash $550,000.
In connection with the sale, the Company recordgdia of $291,987. The club's business was accddateas a discontinued operation ur
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hStates of America, and therefore, the clulsslte of operations and cash flows have
been removed from the Company's consolidated sestittontinuing operations and cash flows for alipds presented and such assets and
liabilities as of September 30, 2004 have beenudad under "Net assets of discontinued operatiottié accompanying balance sheet.
Goodwill in the amount of $83,923 was eliminatedhasresult of this transaction.

On June 10, 2005, the Company's whallyned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment North Carolina,, a North Carolina corporation ("RCI Na
Carolina™) completed the acquisition of a 30,000asg foot nightclub in Charlotte, North Carolind€Thame of the club had been changed
from 'The Manhattan Club' (5300 Old Pineville Rotwl)Rick's Cabaret'. The purchase price of thesation was $1,000,000 through the
issuance of 180,000 shares of restricted commak st@ued at $675,000 and a seven-year promissueyaf $325,000, bearing interest at a
rate of 7% per annum. The note is secured by lipos the assets of and hereafter acquired assBSIdEntertainment (North Carolina), Inc.
The results of operations of the club are incluithealur consolidated statement of operations frofor&&y 1, 2005, when the Company
assumed risk of loss for the club's operations uadeanagement agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the note, on or after Nthar 1, 2005, the holder shall have the right,nmitthe obligation to have the Company
purchase from the holder 4,285 shares per monltylaged at a price per share equal to $3.75 th#iholder has received a total of
$1,000,000 from the sale of the shares less theianud the note. At the Company's election during given month, the Company may eil
buy the monthly shares or, if the Company electambuy the monthly shares from the holder, thentiolder shall sell the monthly shares in
the open market. Any deficiency between the amuaidnith the holder receives from the sale of the iigrgahares and the value of the shares
shall be paid by the Company within three (3) dafythe date of sale of the monthly shares durirag plarticular month. The Company's
obligation to purchase the monthly shares fromhiblder shall terminate and cease at such timeeas th
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holder has received a total of $1,000,000 fromstile of the shares, less the amount of the nadéorPra results of operations have not been
provided, as the amounts were not deemed materiaktconsolidated financial statements. The ti@iwafollows the Company's growth

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 111,752
Property & equipment, net depreciation 640,192
Licenses 455,656

Other assets 5,020

Current liabilities assumed (212,620)

Net assets acquired $1,000,000

On July 12, 2005, the Company organized RCI Dafiavices, Inc. ("RCI Dating"), which operates asddition to the Company's internet
operations, to acquire CouplesClick.net from Cligktbh LLC ("ClickMatch"). The Company transferresl @wnership in CouplesTouch.com
to RCI Dating and as a result of the transactienGbmpany obtained an 85% interest in RCI Datirty tiie other 15% owned by

ClickMatch.
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PART | FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Iltem 1. Financial Statements.

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. A ND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHE ETS
ASSETS

3/31/06 9/30/05

(UNA UDITED) (AUDITED)
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $14 73,186 $ 480,330
Accounts receivable
Trade 2 31,152 310,692
Other, net 1 40,009 118,872
Marketable securities 51,164 28,919
Inventories 2 26,254 257,626
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2 57,802 87,991
Total current assets 2,3 79,567 1,284,430
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Buildings, land and leasehold improvements 13,6 63,451 13,630,778
Furniture and equipment 3,2 76,540 3,019,445
16,9 39,991 16,650,223
Accumulated depreciation (3,6 90,565) (3,233,468)
Total property and equipment, net 13,2 49,426 13,416,755
OTHER ASSETS:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles 9,8 36,560 9,836,560
Definite lived intangibles, net 1 15,089 126,262
Other 3 50,936 365,011
Total other assets 10,3 02,585 10,327,833
Total assets $25,9 31,578 $25,029,018




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SH

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable - trade
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Line of credit

Total current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt less current portion

Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
MINORITY INTERESTS

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares
authorized; none issued and outstanding

Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares
authorized; 5,499,678 and 5,220,678 shares issu

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Accumulated deficit

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in treas
at cost

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

EETS
S EQUITY
3/31/06  9/30/05
(UNAUDITED)  (AUDITED)

$ 510,442 $1,034,508

702,328 852,865
948,898 1,349,894
--- 94,888
2,161,668 3,332,155
258,674 193,648
11,650,845 11,896,942
14,071,187 15,422,745
32,681 31,337
ed 54,997 52,207
14,000,780 13,004,567
37,817 15,572

(972,104) (2,203,630)
ury,
(1,293,780) (1,293,780)

$25,931,578 $25,029,018




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL
CONSOLIDATED STATEMEN

F

Continuing Operations:

Revenues:

Sales of alcoholic beverages $2,21
Sales of food and merchandise 67
Service revenues 2,84
Internet revenues 20
Other 18

Total revenues 6,11

Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold 74

Salaries and wages 1,67

Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits 77
Charge card fees 10
Rent 29
Legal and professional 18
Advertising and marketing 31
Depreciation and amortization 23
Other 81

Total operating expenses 5,15

Income from continuing operations 96

Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense 27
Minority interests (
Other

Net income (loss) from continuing
operations 70

Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of subsidiary

Net income $ 70

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations ~ $
Income from discontinued operations

Net income, basic $

Net income, diluted $

Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding:
Basic 4,40

Diluted 5,34

, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
TS OF OPERATIONS

OR THE THREE MONTHS FOR THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31, ENDED MARCH 31,
2006 2005 2006 2005
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)

5,489 $1,192,768 $4,385,484 $2,403,044
7,275 413,996 1,315,999 791,098
1,119 1,586,890 5,435,920 3,092,841
3,751 180,729 412,909 367,960
1,882 69,007 348,941 120,657

9,516 3,443,390 11,899,253 6,775,600

5,295 448,165 1,454,533 845,935
8,813 1,203,595 3,348,524 2,411,544

9,450 477,037 1,474,765 921,627
4,074 55,609 206,310 115,296
6,732 105,875 593,578 177,823
5,288 178,753 335,946 346,079
5,882 215,796 606,550 357,602
5,788 140,453 468,269 267,242
4,713 618,081 1,663,127 1,177,199

6,035 3,443,364 10,151,602 6,620,347

3,481 26 1,747,651 155,253

8,950 11,556 15,386 20,745
1,469) (167,835) (534,521) (256,949)
2,731) (6,877)  (1,344) (6,414)
7,839 46 4,354 (734)

6,070 (163,084) 1,231,526  (88,099)

—  (66,825) —  (148,294)
-~ 291,087 -~ 291,987

6,070 $ 62,078 $1,231,526 $ 55,594

016 $ (0.04) $ 028 $ (0.02)
0.06 0.04

016 $ 002 $ 028 $ 0.02

014 $ 002 $ 026 $ 001

8,237 3,782,481 4,364,649 3,741,315

7,386 3,964,987 4,973,583 3,923,821

Comprehensive income (loss) for the three montde@march 31, 2006 and 2005 were $728,315 and $28and for the six months were
$1,253,771 and ($22,265), respectively. This inetuthe changes in available-for-sale securitiesn@béhcome (loss).

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF C ASH FLOWS

SIX MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31,
2006 2005
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $1,231,526 $ (88,099)
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from
continuing operations to cash provided by opera ting
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 468,269 267,242
Issuance of warrants 17,777
Minority interests 1,344 6,414
Stocks issued for professional services 27,120
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (697,031) 813,580
Cash provided by operating activities 1,021,885 1,026,257
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions to property and equipment (289,768) (988,626)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations 550,000
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired --- (2,650,000)
Payments for notes receivable 21,493 (10,012)
Cash used in investing activities (268,275) (3,098,638)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of common stock 75,000 474,650
Proceeds from stock options exercised 249,003
Proceeds from long-term debt 1,035,425 3,802,000
Payments on line-of-credit (94,888) ---
Payments on long-term debt (1,025,294) (488,973)
Cash provided by financing activities 239,246 3,787,677
CASH FLOW FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Cash provided by operating activities 200,042
Cash used in investing activities -~ (402,585)
Cash used in financing activities - (176,089)
Cash used in discontinued operations --  (378,632)
NET INCREASE IN CASH 992,856 1,336,664
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 480,330 275,243
CASH AT END OF PERIOD $1,473,186 $1,611,907

CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR:
Interest $ 552,227 $ 242,151

Non-cash transactions:
During the quarter ended December 31, 2004, thegaagnpurchased a 9,000 square foot office builfiing516,499, payable with $90,039
cash at closing and a fifteen-year promissory rtgaring interest rate at 7%, in the amount of $&®G

In March 2006, the seller of the New York club certed $675,000 of principal from the related praroiy note into 150,000 shares of
restricted common stock.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2006

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited financial statemente baen prepared in accordance with accountingiple@scgenerally accepted in the
United States of America for interim financial infeation and with the instructions to Form 10-QSBrefyulation S-B. They do not include
all information and footnotes required by accougtiminciples generally accepted in the United StafeAmerica for complete financial
statements. However, except as disclosed heraire ttas been no material change in the informaliseiosed in the notes to the financial
statements for the year ended September 30, 260&lad in the Company's Annual Report on Form 1BK&s amended and filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The interinudited financial statements should be read in earijan with those financial stateme
included in the Form 10-KSB. In the opinion of mgament, all adjustments considered necessaryfiir presentation, consisting solely of
normal recurring adjustments, have been made. @pgnasults for the three months and six monthldedrMarch 31, 2006 are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may Xygeeted for the year ending September 30, 2006.

2. STOCK OPTIONS

The Company accounts for its stock options undergicognition and measurement principles of Acdagrrinciples Board ("APB")

opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Eaygles, and related Interpretations. The followatge illustrates the effect on net income
(loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Compayapplied the fair value recognition provisiofi$Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard ("SFAS") No. 123, Accounting for Stock & €ompensation, to stock-based employee compensdtie following presents pro
forma net income (loss) and per share data afaif &alue accounting method had been used to atdoustock-based compensation:

FOR THE THREE MONTHS FOR THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31, ENDED MARCH 31,
2006 2005 2006 2005
Net income, as reported $70 6,070 $ 62,078 $1,231,526 $ 55,594
Less total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair value
based method for all awards (13 5,630) (128,393) (271,260) (256,786)

Pro forma net income (loss) $57 0,440 $ (66,315) $ 960,266 $(201,192)

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic - as reported $ 016 $ 002 $ 028 $ 0.02
Diluted - as reported $ 014 $ 002 $ 026 $ 0.01
Basic - pro forma $ 0.13 $ (0.02) $ 0.22 $ (0.05)
Diluted - pro forma $ 0.11 $ (0.02) $ 0.19 $ (0.05)




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2006

3. RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiegbbform to the current year presentation.
4. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Company reports comprehensive income in acnoed@ith the provisions of SFAS No. 130, Reportt@mprehensive Income.
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net incass) and gains (losses) on available-for-saleketable securities.

5. COMMON STOCK

On October 11, 2005, 10,000 stock options wereots@a by one of the Company's directors for prosed21,300. In January 2006, 54,(
stock options were exercised by the Company's eraplofor proceeds of $138,240 and in February 2D0600 stock options by one of the
Company's directors for $25,400. Also, 30,000 shafehe Company's common stock was sold to a ngplayee for $75,000 in January
2006. In March 2006, a non-employee exercised 26s8ck options for $64,063 and the seller of tleevNY ork club converted $675,000 of
principal from the related promissory note into JBO shares of restricted common stock.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Below is the financial information related to therffpany's segments:

FOR THE THREE MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31,

FOR THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31,

2006 2005 2006 2005

REVENUES
Club operations $5,915,580 $3,262,661 $11,484,298 $ 6,407,640
Internet websites 203,936 180,729 414,955 367,960

$6,119,516 $3,443,390 $11,899,253 $ 6,775,600
NET INCOME
Club operations $1,317,697 $ 317,999 $2,340,205 $ 947,568
Internet websites 30,447 27,226 79,296 58,412
Corporate expenses (642,074) (508,309) (1,187,975) (1,094,079)
Discontinued operations -- 225,162 143,693

$1,231,526 $ 55,594




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2006

7. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, and seraicthe point-of-sale upon receipt of
cash, check, or credit card charge. This inclu@ddly,cannual and lifetime VIP memberships.

Under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenuec8gnition in Financial Statements, membership reeeshould be deferred and
recognized over the estimated membership usagedpodfianagement estimates that the weighted aversefel lives for memberships are 12
and 24 months for annual and lifetime membershgspectively. The Company does not track memberstage by type of membership,
however it believes these lives are appropriatecandervative, based on management's knowledge dfént base and membership usage at
the clubs.

If the Company had deferred membership revenueeraijnized it based on the lives above, the impacevenue and net income
recognized would have been an increase of appraaiyn$0 and $4,243 for the three months and areas® of $0 and $3,936 for the six
months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectiVaig.would have also resulted in a deferred reedralance of approximately $0 and
$2,066 as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectivanagement does not believe the impact of thfemifce in accounting treatment is
material to the Company's annual and quarterlynfire statements. However, the Company began twrdeevenues in such manner effec
January 1, 2004, and hence as of March 31, 20@8redfrevenues of approximately $19,200 have besorded related to such memberst

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgmsthibscriptions to its online entertainment sité@mnotification of a new subscription
is received from the third party hosting companyrom the credit card company, usually two to thdegs after the transaction has occurred.
The Company recognizes Internet auction revenuaywhgment is received from the credit card commevenues are not deemed
estimable nor collection deemed probable prioh#d point.

8. LONG-TERM DEBT

On February 6, 2006, the Company issued a Conleilibbenture (the "Debenture™) to an unrelatedstiment group for the principal sum
$1,000,950 bearing interest at the rate of 10%apaum, with a maturity date of February 1, 2009d&frthe terms of the Debenture, the
Company is required to make three quarterly intggagments beginning May 1, 2006. Thereafter, thom@any is required to make nine
equal quarterly principal and interest paymentsaiyt time after 366 days from the date of issuafickis Debenture, the Company has the
right to redeem the Debenture in whole or in pagrgy time during the term of the Debenture. Atdlertion of the Holder, the Holder has
right at any time to convert all or any portiontleé principal or interest amount of the Debentate shares of our common stock at a rate of
$4.75 per share, which approximates the closimemf the Company's stock on February 6, 2006.prboeeeds of the Debenture was used to
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2006

8. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)
payoff certain debt and increase our working capita
9. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

On January 18, 2005, the Company completed thasitiqn of Peregrine Enterprises, Inc., which opedahe Paradise Club in Midtown
Manhattan, New York (50 West 33rd Street). Theltodasideration was for $7.775 million for the @ssend stock of the former Paradise
Club, which had operated on the site for more thdecade. The transaction consisted of $2.5 milfiarash and $5.125 million in a
promissory note bearing simple interest at the sa#0% per annum with a balloon payment at enfivefyears, part of which is convertible
to restricted shares of Rick's Cabaret common sibgkices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per shard,teansaction costs of $150,000. The
results of operations of the club are includedunansolidated statement of operations from Jani@r2005.

The following unaudited pro forma information pretsethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of the
immediate preceding period. The pro forma informais not necessarily indicative of what would hageurred had the acquisition been
made as of such periods, nor is it indicative ¢difel results of operations. The pro forma amouivs gffect to appropriate adjustments for
the fair value of the assets acquired, amortizadfdntangibles and interest expense.

F OR THE THREE MONTHS FOR THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31, ENDED MARCH 31,
2005 2005

Revenues $ 3,443,390 $ 7,261,600
Net income (loss) from continuing

operations $ (163,084) $ (368,099)
Net income (loss) $ 62,078 $ (224,406)
Net income (loss) per share - basic and diluted $ 0.02 $ (0.06)

On March 31, 2005, the Company completed the dada@of its clubs known as 'Rick's South' to MBGgdiisition LLC for $550,000 cash.

In connection with the sale, the Company recordgdia of $291,987. The club's business was accddoteas discontinued operations under
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hBtates of America and therefore, the clubsltesf operations and such assets and
liabilities as of March 31, 2005 have been remdverh the Company's consolidated results of contiguiperations and balance sheet for all
periods presented in this document and the caalsflor the six months ended March 31, 2005 have peavided in the consolidated
statement of cash flow



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2006

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On April 17, May 1, and May 3, 2006, the selletlod New York club converted a total of $900,00@oncipal from the related promissory
note into 150,000 shares of restricted stock.

On April 5, 2006, the Company's wholly owned sulasid RCI Holdings, Inc. completed the acquisitfireal property located at 9009
Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas where the Companyreuntly operates Rick's Sports Bar (previously Hums&ports Bar and XTC South
clubs). Pursuant to the terms of the AgreementCitniapany paid a total sales price of $1,300,00&khonsisted of $500,000 in cash and
160,000 shares of the Company's restricted comnoek.sAs part of the transaction, the Company lgmeed to file a registration statement
for the resale of such restricted common stockiwidfs days after the closing. Additionally, nine miws after the filing of the Registration
Statement, the Seller shall have the right, butm®obligation, to have the Company buy the shatresprice of $5.00 per share at a rate ¢
more than 10,000 shares per month until such terteeSeller receives a total of $800,000 fromstile of such shares. Alternatively, the
Seller shall have the option to sell such sharéséropen market upon the effectiveness of thedRadiion Statement. The transaction was the
result of arms-length negotiations between theigrart

On May 9, 2006, the Company purchased Joint Vestuline., an operator of an adult nightclub in Sddttuston, Texas, formerly known as
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HauBbed. The purchase price was for $840,000 paichsh. The club, located in Houston
suburbs, has been converted to an XTC Cabaret.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbkrtdebentures with three shareholders for a gpaicum of $825,000. The term is for
two years and the interest rate is 12% per annurthédelection of the holders, the holders haveititg at any time to convert all or any
portion of the principal or interest amount of thebenture into shares of the Company's common stioekate of $6.55 per share. The
debenture provides, absent shareholder approwdlitte number of shares of the Company's commak #tat may be issued by the
Company or acquired by the holders upon convemsidhe debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of tted mtmber of issued and outstanding
shares of the Company's common st



PART Il - INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
ITEM 24. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

The officers and directors of the Company are ingiéed as provided by the Texas Business Corpanatict (the "TBCA") and the Bylaws
of the Company. Unless specifically limited by apmration's articles of incorporation, the TBCA@uttically provides directors with
immunity from monetary liabilities. Our Articles trficorporation do not contain any such limitingdaage. Excepted from that immunity &

a. willful failure to deal fairly with the corporian or its shareholders in connection with a mattewhich the director has a material conflict
of interest;

b. a violation of criminal law unless the direct@d reasonable cause to believe that his or helucbrvas lawful or no reasonable cause to
believe that his or her conduct was unlawful;

c. a transaction from which the director derivedraproper personal profit; and

d. willful misconduct.

The Articles of Incorporation provide that the Canp will indemnify its officers, directors, legapresentative, and persons serving at the
request of the Company as a director or officaarafther corporation, or as its representativeparénership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise to the fullest extent legally permissibhder the laws of the State of Texas againsixaknses, liability and loss (including
attorney's fees, judgments, fines and amountsquaial be paid in settlement) reasonably incurresuffered by that person as a result of that
connection to the Company. This right of indemmifion under the Articles is a contract right whinhy be enforced in any manner by such
person and extends for such persons benefit taxatins undertaken on behalf of the Company.

The Bylaws of the Company provide that the Compaithyindemnify its directors and officers to thellest extent not prohibited by Texas
law; provided, however, that the Company may mothify extent of such indemnification by individuahtracts with its directors and

officers; and, provided, further, that the Compahgll not be required to indemnify any directopfficer in connection with any proceeding
(or part thereof) initiated by such person unless

(i) such indemnification is expressly required torhade by law, (ii) the proceeding was authorizethi Board of Directors of the Company,
(iiif) such indemnification is provided by the Commgain its sole discretion, pursuant to the powasted in the Company under Texas law or
(iv) such indemnification is required to be madespant to the Bylaws.

The Bylaws of the Company provide that the Compaiflyadvance to any person who was or is a partig tinreatened to be made a party to
any threatened, pending or completed action, syit@ceeding, whether civil, criminal, administratior investigative, by reason of the fact
that he is or was a director or officer, of the Qamy, or is or was serving at the request of the@amy as a director or executive officer of
another Company, partnership, joint venture, tongither enterprise, prior to the final dispositafrthe proceeding, promptly following
request therefor, all expenses incurred by anytlireor officer in connection with such proceedimmpn receipt of an undertaking by or on
behalf of such person to repay said amounts Haud
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be determined ultimately that such person is ntitled to be indemnified under the Bylaws of then@xany or otherwise.

Our Bylaws provide that no advance shall be madiéyCompany to an officer of the Company (excgptdason of the fact that such offi

is or was a director of the Company in which eubig paragraph shall not apply) in any action, suiproceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative, if a determinatisireasonably and promptly made (i) by the Bodiicectors by a majority vote of a

guorum consisting of directors who were not partiethe proceeding, or (i) if such quorum is nbtainable, or, even if obtainable, a quorum
of disinterested directors so directs, by indepahtégal counsel in a written opinion, that thet§danown to the decision-making party at the
time such determination is made demonstrate cleadyconvincingly that such person acted in bati fai in a manner that such person did
not believe to be in or not opposed to the bestésts of the Company.

ITEM 25. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION.

The following table sets forth estimated expensg@®eted to be incurred in connection with the issgaand distribution of the securities
being registered. All such expenses have beenhyaic.

Securities and Exchange Commission Registration Fee $ 501.40
Printing and Engraving Expenses $ 1,000.00
Accounting Fees and Expenses $ 5,000.00
Legal Fees and Expenses $15,000.00
Blue Sky Qualification Fees and Expenses -0-
Miscellaneous -0-
TOTAL $21,501.40

ITEM 26. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES.

Set forth below is information regarding the isst@and sales of our securities without registratioring the last three years. Except as
otherwise noted, all sales below were made inmmeiaon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1383amended (the "Act") and no such sales
involved the use of an underwriter and no commissiwere paid in connection with the sale of anyisgées. No advertising or general
solicitation was employed in offering the secustitn each instance, the offerings and sales weaderto a limited number of persons, who
were either (i) accredited investors,

(i) business associates of the Company (iii) erygds of the Company, or

(iv) executive officers or directors of the Compahyaddition, the transfer of such securities wesdricted by the Company in accordance
with the requirements of the Act. Furthermore pfithe above-referenced persons were providedadtiess to our filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.
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1. On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into @stible debentures with three shareholders foirecjral sum of $825,000. The term is
two years and the interest rate is 12% per annurthedelection of the holders, the holders haveitiig at any time to convert all or any
portion of the principal or interest amount of thebenture into shares of the Company's common stogkate of $6.55 per share. The
debenture provides, absent shareholder approwltith number of shares of the Company's commak ghat may be issued by the
Company or acquired by the holders upon convemsidhe debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of tte mtmber of issued and outstanding
shares of the Company's common stock.

2. On April 5, 2006, the Company's wholly ownedsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. completed the acquisitof real property located at 9009
Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas where the Companyrently operates Rick's Sports Bar (previously Humsm&ports Bar and XTC South
clubs). Pursuant to the terms of the AgreementCitiapany paid a total sales price of $1,300,00&whonsisted of $500,000 in cash and
160,000 shares of the Company's restricted comnoek.sAdditionally, nine months after the filing tife Registration Statement, the Seller
shall have the right, but not the obligation, tedi¢the Company buy the shares at a price of $508lpare at a rate of no more than 10,000
shares per month until such time as the Selleivesa total of $800,000 from the sale of suchehahlternatively, the Seller shall have the
option to sell such shares in the open market tiperffectiveness of the Registration Statemerg. ffdnsaction was the result of arlasgth
negotiations between the parties.

3. On February 6, 2006, the Company issued a Ctibkebebenture (the "Debenture”) to an unrelateed$tment group for the principal si
of $1,000,950 bearing interest at the rate of 1@¥amnum, with a maturity date of February 1, 200®der the terms of the Debenture, the
Company is required to make three quarterly intggagments beginning May 1, 2006. Thereafter, tom@any is required to make nine
equal quarterly principal and interest paymentsaiyt time after 366 days from the date of issuafickis Debenture, the Company has the
right to redeem the Debenture in whole or in pagrgy time during the term of the Debenture. Atdlertion of the Holder, the Holder has
right at any time to convert all or any portiontleé principal or interest amount of the Debentate shares of our common stock at a rate of
$4.75 per share, subject to adjustment under oertaiditions.

4. In January 2006, we sold 30,000 shares of africeed common stock to a non-employee for $75,000
5. In January 2006, 54,000 stock options were ésextdoy the Company's employees.
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6. On July 22, 2005, we entered into a securedertible debenture with one of our shareholderafprincipal sum of $660,000 which bears
interest at the rate of 12% per annum. The teriorithree years. The debenture matures on AuguXd8. The principal amount of the
debenture is convertible into shares of our comstook at a rate of $3.00 per share. We also isS0gi00 warrants at $3.00 per share in
relation to this debenture. The debenture is sedoyeour ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCIll#iags, Inc., both are wholly owned
subsidiaries. The debenture provides, absent shideshapproval, that the number of shares of the@oy's common stock that may be
issued by the Company or acquired by the holdeos gpnversion of the debenture shall not excee@928 .of the total number of issued and
outstanding shares of the Company's common stock.

7. In July 2005, we sold 200,000 shares of our comstock in a private transaction to 13 persor&4d10 per share for a total consideration
of $400,000.

8. On June 10, 2005, as a part of the purchasaigidclub in Charlotte, North Carolina, we issud&,000 shares of our common stock tc
Seller which, pursuant to the Purchase Agreemesrie walued at $675,000.

9. In March 2005, we sold 150,000 shares of ourmomstock in a private transaction to one inveat®2.50 per share and received
proceeds of $375,000.

10. In March 2005, we issued 12,000 shares of@stricted common stock at a value of $2.26 peresfaarconsulting services.

11. On January 18, 2005, we entered a Secured @idneéNote with the Seller of Peregrine Enterpsisec. in the amount of $5,125,000
bearing simple interest at the rate of 4.0% peuanrThe Note is payable commencing 120 days aftesi@) as follows: (a) the payment of
$58,333.33 per month for twenty-four (24) conse@ithonths; (b) the payment of $63,333.33 for twedaty (24) consecutive months; (c)
payment of $68,333.33 for twelve (12) consecutivths; and (d) a lump sum payment of the remaibadgnce to be paid on the sixty-first
(61st) month. $2,000,000 of the principal amourthefNote is convertible into shares of our resdaccommon stock at prices ranging from
$4.00 to $7.50 per share. From February through, 2696, the Seller converted a total of $1,57580Me principal debt, for which we
issued 300,000 shares of our restricted stock.
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ITEM 27. EXHIBITS.

The following is a list of exhibits filed as parftthis registration statement. Where so indicatgdblotnote, exhibits which were previously
filed are incorporated herein by reference. Anyesteent contained in an Incorporated Document $leatieemed to be modified or superse
for purposes of this Registration Statement toetktent that a statement contained herein or inodimgr subsequently filed Incorporated
Document modifies or supersedes such statementséety statement so modified or superseded shallendeemed, except as so modifier
superseded, to constitute a part of this Registraitatement.

Exhibit
Number Descriptiol

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of Rick's Ca baret International, Inc. (1)

3.2 Bylaws of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. (1)

4.1 Stock Purchase Agreement with Philip Einsen berg dated September 14, 2004
&)

4.2  Secured Convertible Promissory Note with P hilip Eisenberg dated January

18, 2005 (2)

4.3 Purchase Agreement with Tony Hege dated Jun20Db (3)

4.4 Promissory Note (Tony Hege) dated June 10, 28p5

4.5 Subscription Agreement (Jay Teitelbaum) datdariary 24, 2005 (4)
4.6 Secured Convertible Debenture with Ralph Mcgttated July 22, 2005 (4)
4.7 Warrant Agreement (Ralph McElroy) dated July ZI05 (5)

4.8 Subscription Agreement [Form Of] (4)

5.1 Legal Opinion of Axelrod, Smith & Kirshbaum @ .(4)

10.1 Employment Agreement with Eric Langan (6)

10.2 Employment Agreement with Travis Reese (4)

10.3 Improved Real Property Commercial Contract (5)

10.4 Stock Purchase Agreement with Joint Ventunes,(7)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries (4)

23.1 Consent of Whitley Penn, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

99.1 Convertible Debenture with Fairfield Invest ments dated February 6, 2006

99.2 Convertible Debenture with Ralph McElro y dated April 28, 2006

99.3 Convertible Debenture with Wade McElroy dated April 28, 2006

99.4 Convertible Debenture with Ryan McElroy dated April 28, 2006

Footnotes to Exhibits:

(1) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Comparmdsm SB-2 on January 11, 1995 and incorporate€iméy reference.

(2) Previously filed with the Company's Form 8-K &anuary 24, 2005, and incorporated herein by eata.

(3) Previously filed with the Company's Form 8-K&ame 15, 2005, and incorporated herein by referenc

(4) Previously filed with the Company's Form SB-@gistration Statement on August 24, 2005, and puorated herein by reference.
(5) Previously filed with the Company's Form 8-KMarch 27, 2006, and incorporated herein by refezen

(6) Previously filed with the Company's Form 8-K April 14, 2006, and incorporated herein by refesen

(7) Previously filed with the Company's Form 8-KMay 11, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference
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ITEM 28. UNDERTAKINGS.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers alaes are being made, a post-effective amendmehistoegistration statement:
() To include any prospectus required by Sectidfa)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(i) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or dsarising after the effective date of the regtstrastatement (or the most recent post-effective
amendment thereof) which, individually or in thegeggate, represent a fundamental change in themiation set forth in the registration
statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any iaseeor decrease in volume of securities offeretthéitotal dollar value of securities offered
would not exceed that which was registered) andd@wation from the low or high end of the estintateaximum offering range may be
reflected in the form of prospectus filed with thecurities and Exchange Commission pursuant to &4€b) if, in the aggregate, the chan

in volume and price represent no more than a 208agdhin the maximum aggregate offering price sghfio the "Calculation of Registratit
Fee" table in the effective registration statement;

(iii) To include any material information with resgt to the plan of distribution not previously désed in the registration statement or any
material change to such information in the regigtrastatement;

Provided, however, that paragraphs (1)(i), (1¥iiy (1)(iii) of this section do not apply if thegistration statement is on Form S-3 or Form F-
3 and the information required to be included poat-effective amendment by those paragraphs gt in reports filed with or furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission by thistrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(dhefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934
that are incorporated by reference in the registiadtatement, or is contained in a form of progyeéiled pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part
of the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any lispiinder the Securities Act of 1933, each such-ptfective amendment shall be deemed to
be a new registration statement relating to thar#ges offered therein, and the offering of suebigities at that time shall be deemed to be
the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a pditetive amendment any of the securities beingsteged which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

(4) That, for the purpose of determining liabilityder the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:
(i) If the registrant is relying on Rule 430B:
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Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuafuie 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of ¢élgéstration statement as of the date the
prospectus was deemed part of and included inethistration statement; and

Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant te B24(b)(2),

(b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statatre reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offeringde pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i),

(vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the imfoation required by section 10(a) of the Securifiesof 1933 shall be deemed to be part of
and included in the registration statement as @&tirlier of the date such form of prospectusss €ised after effectiveness or the date of the
first contract of sale of securities in the offgridescribed in the prospectus. As provided in R@I@B, for liability purposes of the issuer and
any person that is at that date an underwritelh siate shall be deemed to be a new effective dateagegistration statement relating to the
securities in the registration statement to whiat prospectus relates, and the offering of suchrgis at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, hovegythat no statement made in a registration s&teor prospectus that is part of the
registration statement or made in a document iraratpd or deemed incorporated by reference intodpistration statement or prospectus
that is part of the registration statement willf@s purchaser with a time of contract of salemtd such effective date, supersede or modify
any statement that was made in the registratidaraent or prospectus that was part of the registratatement or made in any such
document immediately prior to such effective date;

(ii) If the registrant is subject to Rule 430C, leg@rospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as @faatregistration statement relating to an
offering, other than registration statements rejyon Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filegliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to
be part of and included in the registration stateinas of the date it is first used after effecte®s Provided, however, that no statement made
in a registration statement or prospectus thahisqf the registration statement or made in a bt incorporated or deemed incorporate
reference into the registration statement or pratsigethat is part of the registration statement; &d to a purchaser with a time of contract of
sale prior to such first use, supersede or modifysdaatement that was made in the registratioestaint or prospectus that was part of the
registration statement or made in any such docuim@ntdiately prior to such date of first use.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakesftirgturposes of determining any liability under Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the
registrant's annual report pursuant to Section)l8(a5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984d where applicable, each filing of an
employee benefit plan's annual report pursuanetdi@ 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of )9Bat is incorporated by reference in
registration statement shall be deemed to be aregistration statement relating to the securitiésred therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to berttialibona fide offering thereof.
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Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingder the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitteditectors, officers and controlling persons
of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing prarisi or otherwise, the registrant has been advisgdn the opinion of the Securities and
Exchange Commission such indemnification is agginbtic policy as expressed in the Securities Ad i@, therefore, unenforceable. In the
event that a claim for indemnification against slighilities (other than the payment by the registrof expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer or controlling person of the rsigant in the successful defense of any actiomosyroceeding) is asserted by such director,
officer or controlling person in connection withetbecurities being registered, the registrant willess in the opinion of its counsel the me
has been settled by controlling precedent, suladtdourt of appropriate jurisdiction the questidrether such indemnification by it is
against public policy as expressed in the Secarfigt and will be governed by the final adjudicatif such issue.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&B33, as amended, the registrant certifiesithets reasonable grounds to believe that it
meets all of the requirements for filing on Form-3Rnd has duly caused this registration statemodne signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the di&thof May, 2006.

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By /s/ Eric Langan

Eric Langan
Presi dent and Chief Executive Oficer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. and each ofuthéersigned do hereby appoint Eric Langan hisandlawful attorney to execute on behalf
of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. and the usigred any and all amendments to this Registr&tatement on Form SB-2 and to file the
same with all exhibits thereto and other documant®nnection therewith, with the Securities andltange Commission; each of such
persons shall have the power to act hereunderarigtithout the other.

In accordance with the requirements of the Seeugrifict of 1933, this Registration Statement has lsemed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates stated.

Signature Title Date

By /s/ Eric Langan Chairman of the Board, Di rector, May 16, 2006
--------------------- President, Chief Executiv e Officer,

Eric Langan And Chief Financial Offic er

By /s/ Travis Reese Vice President and Direct or May 16, 2006

Travis Reese

By /s/ Steven L. Jenkins Director May 16, 2006

Steven L. Jenkins

By /s/ Alan Bergstrom  Director May 16, 2006

Alan Bergstrom
By /s/ Robert Watters  Director May 16, 2006

Robert Watters

Page 58



EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGIST

NAME
Bobby's Novelty, Inc.
Broadstreets Cabaret, Inc.
Citation Land LLC
Joint Ventures, Inc.
Peregrine Enterprises, Inc
RCI Billing, Inc.
RCI Dating Services, Inc.
RCI Debit Services, Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Ft. Worth), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (New York), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Inc.
RCI Entertainment Texas, Inc.

RCI Holdings, Inc.

RCI Internet Holding, Inc.

RCI Internet Services, Inc.

SRD Vending Company

Tantra Dance, Inc.

Tantra Parking, Inc.

Top Shelf LLC

Trumps Inc.

XTC Cabaret, Inc.

RANT
STATE OF ORGANIZATION

Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas

New York
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas

Minnesota
New York

North Carolina
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
North Carolina

Texas

Texas



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the inclusion in this Registratioat&nent on Form SB-2, Post-Effective AmendmentNaof our report dated December 2,
2005, with respect to our audit of the consoliddiathnce sheets of Rick's Cabaret International,da of September 30, 2005 and 2004, and
related consolidated statements of operations,ggsaim stockholders' equity, and cash flows fornytbars then ended, which report appears in
the Prospectus, and is part of this RegistratiateBtent. We also consent to the reference to ourdnder the heading "Experts" in such
Prospectus.

/sl Wiitley Penn LLP

Dal | as, Texas
May 16, 2006



THIS 10% CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHAREISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS 10%
CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNIRETHE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED ("ACT"),
OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THIS 10% CONVERTIBLEEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES ISSUABLE UPON
CONVERSION OF THIS 10% CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE MAY NOBE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED OR
HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISPRION STATEMENT AS TO THIS 10% CONVERTIBLE
DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES ISSUABLE UPON CONWRSION OF THIS 10% CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE UNDE
SAID ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS & AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY
TO RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. THAT SUCH REGTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.

CERTIFICATE: RCI-10% C.D. NO. 001

10% CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE
OF
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL,INC., a Texas corporation with its principal offioeated at 10959
Cutten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 (the "COMPANWYHgonditionally promises to pay to Fairfield Invasint Group, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, whose address is 47 Sutwenue, Summit, New Jersey 07901, or the reggst@ssignee, upon presentation of
this 10% Convertible Debenture (the "DEBENTURE")thg registered holder hereof (the "HOLDER") atdfffice of the Company, the
principal sum of $1,000,950 (the "PRINCIPAL AMOUNJTtogether with any accrued and unpaid interestetbn, subject to the terms and
conditions set forth below, on February 1, 200@ ((MATURITY DATE"), if not sooner paid. The date ekecution and issuance of this
Debenture is February 6, 2006 ("DATE OF ISSUANCE").

The following terms shall apply to this Debenture:
1. SCHEDULE FOR PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST.

The Company shall pay to the Holder three (3)ahjtayments of interest only on the Principal Amioauttstanding hereunder, in cash,
quarterly, in arrears, at the rate of ten percéd¥) per annum from the Date of Issuance, commgngith the first quarterly payment due
May 1, 2006 and quarterly payments thereafter dauhe first day of August, 2006 and November, 2006 TEREST PAYMENT DATE"),
and, thereafter, the Company shall pay to the Hdlue Principal Amount of this Debenture and alénest accrued thereon, but not yet paid,
in nine (9) equal



quarterly payments commencing on February 1, 280d continuing thereafter on the first day of MAygust, November and February until
the outstanding Principal Amount of this Debentuas been paid in full.

2. PAYMENT. Payment of any sums due to the Holdwtar the terms of this Debenture shall be madeniteld States Dollars by wire
transfer. Payment shall be made in accordancethathvritten wire transfer instructions providedhe Company by the Holder from time to
time and appearing in the records of the Compdrgny payment hereunder would otherwise becomeaddeayable on a day on which
banks are closed or permitted to be closed in Hoystexas, such payment shall become due and gagalihe next succeeding day on
which banks are open and not permitted to be closetbuston, Texas ("BUSINESS DAY"). The forwardiafjsuch funds shall constitute a
payment of outstanding principal and/or interesebiader and shall satisfy and discharge the lighfilir principal and interest on this
Debenture to the extent of the sum represented ddy gayment.

3. THE COMPANY'S OPTION TO REDEEM. At any time af866 days from the Date of Issuance, this Debentult be subject to
redemption at the option of the Company, in whaolengart, at 100% of the principal face amountitef Debenture redeemed plus any
accrued and unpaid interest (the "REDEMPTION AMOUNdn the Redemption Payment Date (as hereinaéfned), at any time and fro
time to time, upon not less than 10 nor more tiad&ys notice to the Holder.

After 366 days from the Date of Issuance, the Camshall have the right to deliver to the Holdex paovided for in Section 20 hereof, a
written Notice of Redemption (the "NOTICE OF REDEMBPN") specifying the date for the redemption ({(REDEMPTION PAYMENT
DATE"), which date shall be at least 10 but not enttran 20 days after the date of the Notice of Rgydien (the "REDEMPTION PERIOD")
and shall state the portion of the Principal Amathetreof to be redeemed. The Notice of Redemptioanagiven in the manner herein
provided in Section 20 shall be conclusively preedrto have been duly given, whether or not the éfoldceived the Notice of Redemption.
A Notice of Redemption shall not be effective widispect to any portion of this Debenture for whtod Holder has previously delivered a
Notice of Conversion (as hereinafter defined) ordonversions elected to be made by the Holdemamtsto Section 4 during the Redempt
Period. The Redemption Amount shall be determirseifl the Holder's conversion elections had beenpterad immediately prior to the date
of the Notice of Redemption. On the Redemption RayrDate, the Redemption Amount must be paid irddoods to the Holder. A new
debenture in the principal amount equal to the deeened portion thereof, if any, also will be issurethe name of the Holder upon
cancellation of the original Debenture. After thed@mption Payment Date, unless the Company sHallldén the payment of the
Redemption Amount, interest will cease to accru¢henrDebenture or the portion thereof called foleraption. In the event the Company f
to pay the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Raymate as set forth herein, then such Redemplititce shall be null and void.
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Notwithstanding anything else contained hereirh&odontrary, in no event shall a partial Redempfiorount be for less than a princig
amount of $100,000 without the express written eahsf the Holder.

4. CONVERSION RIGHTS OF HOLDER.

(a) Conversion. The Holder of this Debenture wall/a the right, at the Holder's option, to convérbmany portion of the Principal Amount
hereof and any accrued but unpaid interest thargorshares of common stock, par value $.01 perestiathe Company ("Common Stock")
at any time prior to the Maturity Date (unless iealedeemed or otherwise paid) at the conversime pf $4.75 per share (the
"CONVERSION PRICE") (subject to adjustment as diésat herein). The right to convert the Principal dunt or interest thereon of this
Debenture called for redemption will terminatels tlose of business on the business day pridret®edemption Payment Date for such
Debenture, unless the Company subsequently fapaydahe applicable Redemption Amount. The shar€ommon Stock to be issued upon
such conversion are hereinafter referred to asGE@NVERSION SHARES".

(b) Mechanics of Holder's Conversion. In the ewhat the Holder elects to convert this Debentute @ommon Stock, the Holder shall give
notice of such election by delivering an executed eompleted notice of conversion ("NOTICE OF CONR&EON") to the Company. The
Notice of Conversion shall (i) provide a breakdawmeasonable detail of the Principal Amount ancraed interest that is being convert

(i) state the denominations in which such Holdéshes the certificate or certificates for the Casian Shares to be issued and (iii) surrender
this Debenture to the Company. On each Conversaie [as hereinafter defined) and in accordanceitgitNotice of Conversion, the
Company shall make the appropriate reduction tdPtirecipal Amount and accrued interest as enteréts records and shall provide written
notice thereof to the Holder within five (5) busisedays after the Conversion Date. Each date ochvehNotice of Conversion is delivered or
telecopied to the Company in accordance with tlogipions hereof shall be deemed a Conversion Diage"CONVERSION DATE").

Pursuant to the terms of the Notice of Converdioa,Company will issue instructions to the transfgent as soon as practicable thereafter, to
cause to be issued and delivered to the Holdeficatés for the number of full shares of Convens&hares to which such Holder shall be
entitled as aforesaid and, if necessary, the Coynghall cause to be issued and delivered to thddid@ new debenture representing any
unconverted portion of this Debenture. The Comrall not issue fractional Conversion Shares upmversion, but the number of
Conversion Shares to be received by any Holder gparersion shall be rounded down to the next whalaber and the Holder shall be
entitled to payment of the remaining principal amiclly a Company check. In the case of the exeofiiee conversion rights set forth herein
the conversion privilege shall be deemed to haes lexercised and the Conversion Shares issuableayph conversion shall be deemed to
have been issued upon the date of receipt by thep@oy of the Notice of Conversion. The Holder shaltreated for all purposes as the
record holder of the Conversion Shares, unlessitider provides the Company written instructionshte contrary.
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(c) Adjustment Provisions. The Conversion Price aaghber and kind of shares or other securitie®ts$ued upon conversion pursuant to
this Debenture shall be subject to adjustment ftiome to time upon the happening of certain evertdenthis conversion right remains
outstanding, as follows:

() Reclassification. In case of any reclassifioaficonsolidation or merger of the Company witlinbw another entity or any merger of ano
entity with or into the Company, or in the caseny sale, transfer or conveyance of all or subistiyntll of the assets of the Company
(computed on a consolidated basis), each Debetiteneoutstanding will, without the consent of anyld¢r, become convertible only into the
kind and amount of securities, cash or other pitgpeceivable upon such reclassification, constilicie merger, sale, transfer or conveyance
by a Holder of the number of shares of Common Shoeitkwhich such Debenture and the accrued andidmpizrest thereon was convertible
immediately prior thereto, after giving effect toyaadjustment event.

(i) If the number of shares of Common Stock outdtag at any time after the date hereof is incrédsea subdivision or split of Common
Stock, or by the declaration of a dividend on tlwen@on Stock, which dividend is wholly or partialtythe form of additional shares of
Common Stock or any other securities of the Comptirgn immediately after the effective date of ssghdivision or split-up, or the record
date with respect to such dividend, as the caselraathe Conversion Price shall be appropriatedyced so that the holder of this Debenture
thereafter exchanged shall be entitled to recdigepercentage of shares of Common Stock which lsolcker would have owned immediately
following such action had this Debenture been emgbkd immediately prior thereto;

(iii) If the number of Common Stock outstandingaay time after the date hereof is decreased byrdbicmtion of the outstanding Common
Stock or reverse split, then, immediately aftereffective date of such combination, the Conver$tdoe shall be appropriately increased so
that the holder of this Debenture thereafter exgkdrshall be entitled to receive the percentagharfes of Common Stock which such ho
would have owned immediately following such acti@d this Debenture been exchanged immediately fhréveto;

(iv) Cash Dividend. If within the first 366 daygafthe Date of Issuance the Company makes a peash dividend or a dividend that is paid
entirely in cash to its shareholders, the dividantunts paid per share in cash on all issued atstboding shares shall reduce the per share
Conversion Price set for in section 4(a) aboverbgguivalent amount.

(d) Issuance of New Debenture. Upon any partialemsion of this Debenture, a new Debenture comtgittie same date and provisions of
this Debenture shall be issued by the Companyediibider for the principal balance of this Debeatand interest which shall not have been
converted or paid. The Holder shall not pay anys;dees or any other consideration to the Companthe production and issuance of a new
debenture.



(e) Reservation of Shares. The Company shall givadis reserve for issuance and maintain availalieof its authorized but unissued
Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effectimg full conversion of the Debenture, the full numbkshares of Common Stock
deliverable upon the conversion of the Debentuwmftime to time outstanding. The Company shall ftone to time (subject to obtaining
necessary director and stockholder action), in @mztce with the laws of the State of Texas, in@ahs authorized number of shares of its
Common Stock if at any time the authorized numbieshares of its Common Stock remaining unissuell sbibe sufficient to permit the
conversion of the Debenture.

5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANYh& Company represents and warrants to the Holdér th

(a) Organization. The Company is validly existimglan good standing under the laws of the staffexas and has the requisite power to
own, lease and operate its properties and to carits business as now being conducted. The Comigadyly qualified to do business and is
in good standing in each jurisdiction in which tteracter or location of the properties owned aséel by the Company or the nature of the
business conducted by the Company makes suchiqgattih necessary or advisable, except where thedao do so would not have a
material adverse effect on the Company.

(b) Power and Authority. The Company has the retgupower to execute, deliver and perform this Debee, and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby. The executiordatigdery of this Debenture by the Company andctresummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby have been duly authorizedlimeakssary corporate action on the part of the @y This Debenture has been duly
executed and delivered by the Company and coregtitutegal, valid and binding obligation of the Quamy and is enforceable against the
Company in accordance with its terms except (i) snah enforcement may be subject to bankruptsglwency, moratorium or similar laws
affecting creditors' rights and (ii) that the remed specific performance and injunctive and otteems of equitable relief are subject to
certain equitable defenses and to the discretidgheo€ourt before which any proceedings therefoy beabrought.

6. EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. The followingeadeemed to be an event of default ("EVENT OF DBEA") hereunder: (i
the failure by the Company to pay any installmdrinterest on the Debenture as and when due arabp@gnd the continuance of any such
failure for 30 days, (ii) the failure by the Compan pay all or any part of the principal on theb@ature when and as the same becomes due
and payable, as set forth above, at maturity, loglacation or otherwise, (iii) the failure of the@@pany to perform any conversion of
Debenture required under the Debenture and théncamice of any such failure for 10 days, (iv) thiufre by the Company to observe or
perform any other covenant or agreement contaimélgei Debenture and the continuance of such faitura period of 30 days after the
written notice is given to the Company by the Hoddév) the assignment by the Company for the beok€reditors, or an application by the
Company to any tribunal for the appointment ofiestiee or receiver of a substantial part of thetasse
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of the Company, or the commencement of any proogsdilating to the Company under any bankrup&y,ganization, arrangement,
insolvency, readjustment of debts, dissolutiontbeoliquidation law of any jurisdiction; or thdifig of such application, or the
commencement of any such proceedings against thg@uy and an indication of consent by the Comparsuth proceedings, or the
appointment of such trustee or receiver, or andicfion of the Company bankrupt or insolvent, ppraval of the petition in any such
proceedings, and such order remains in effect@addys; or (vi) a default in the payment of priradipr interest when due which extends
beyond any stated period of grace applicable tbanetin acceleration for any other reason of mgtofiany indebtedness for borrowed
money of the Company with an aggregate principalamin excess of $500,000 and (vii) final unsa&fudgments not covered by
insurance aggregating in excess of $500,000, abaaytime rendered against the Company and natédtépnded or discharged within 75
days.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuingh@tthan an Event of Default specified in claugeapove with respect to the Company), t

in every such case, unless the Principal Amouth@Debenture shall have already become due arabjggyhe Holder of the Debenture tt
outstanding, by notice in writing to the Compang {Acceleration Notice"), may declare all princigald accrued and unpaid interest thereon
to be due and payable immediately. If an Event efaDIt specified in clause (v) above occurs witpet to the Company, all principal and
accrued and unpaid interest thereon will be imntedialue and payable on the Debenture without a&wyadation or other act on the part of
the Holder. The Holder may rescind such accelerafithe existing Event of Default has been curedaived.

7. LIMITATION ON MERGER, SALE OR CONSOLIDATION. Th€ompany may not, directly or indirectly, consotelavith or merge into
another person or sell, lease, convey or trandifer aubstantially all of its assets (computedsotonsolidated basis), whether in a single
transaction or a series of related transactionantaher person or group of affiliated personsesskither

(a) in the case of a merger or consolidation, tam@any is the surviving entity or (b) the resultisgrviving or transferee entity is a
corporation or limited liability company organizadder the laws of any state of the United Statéseapressly assumes by supplemental
agreement all of the obligations of the Compangannection with the Debenture.

Upon any consolidation or merger or any transfealbbr substantially all of the assets of the Campin accordance with the foregoing, the
successor corporation or limited liability compdoymed by such consolidation or into which the Campis merged or to which such
transfer is made, shall succeed to, and be sutestifar, and may exercise every right and powdghefCompany under the Debenture with
same effect as if such successor corporation dteléhtiability company had been named therein asGbmpany, and the Company will be
released from its obligations under the Debentxeept as to any obligations that arise from a eessult of such transaction.
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8. REGISTRATION RIGHTS.

(&) On or prior to thirty (30) days after the Dafdssuance of this Debenture, the Company shaflgme and file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the "Commission") a Registma8tatement on Form SB-2, S-3 or other similamfdp register for resale, from time
to time by the Holder, all of the shares into whilsb Debenture may be converted. The Company gbelits best efforts to cause the
Registration Statement to become effective undeScurities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act'Prasnptly as is practicable and to keep
the Registration Statement continuously effectindar the Act for a period of the earlier of (i) tyears from the effective date or (ii) until all
of the shares which were registered for resale baea sold.

(b) From time to time, the Company shall prepar fila with the Commission a post-effective amendine the Registration Statement or a
supplement to the related Prospectus or a supplesn@mendment to any document incorporated thérgireference or any other required
document, so that such Registration Statementwilcontain any untrue statement of a materialdacimit to state a material fact require
be stated therein or necessary to make the stateitienein not misleading, and so that, as thexed#livered to purchasers of the securities
being sold thereunder, such Prospectus will notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact ort@émstate a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statertm@rtsn, in light of the circumstances under whindly were made, not misleading; provide
the Holder copies of any documents filed in sucimbers as the Holder shall reasonably request;rdndm the Holder that the Company has
complied with its obligations and that the Registra Statement and related Prospectus may be oséle purpose of selling all or any of
such securities (or that, if the Company has fdgubst-effective amendment to the RegistrationeStant which has not yet been declared
effective, the Company will notify the Holder taatteffect, will use its best efforts to secure pptlisnthe effectiveness of such post-effective
amendment and will immediately so notify the Holddren the amendment has become effective).

9. NO PERSONAL LIABILITY OF SHAREHOLDERS, OFFICERS]RECTORS. No recourse shall be had for the payroktihe principal
or the interest on this Debenture, or for any clhased thereon, or otherwise in respect theredfased on or in respect of any Debenture
supplemental thereto, against any incorporatockstolder, officer, or director (past, present, wufe) of the Company, whether by virtue of
any constitution, statute, or rule of law, or bg #nforcement of any assessment or penalty orwigerall such liability being by the
acceptance hereof, and as part of the consideratiadhe issue hereof, expressly waived and retkase

10. LISTING OF REGISTERED HOLDER OF DEBENTURE. THigbenture will be registered as to principal ia Holder's name on the
books of the Company at its principal office in ldtan, Texas, after which no transfer hereof shalNddid unless made on the Company's
books at the office of the Company, by the Holdenebf, in person, or by attorney duly authorizediiting, and similarly noted hereon.
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11. HOLDER OF DEBENTURE NOT DEEMED A STOCKHOLDER:.iiW respect to shares for which conversion righteain unexercised
and outstanding in accordance with Section 4 herepHolder, as such, of this Debenture shall et to vote or receive dividends or be
deemed the holder of shares of the Company fopangose, nor shall anything contained in this Délenbe construed to confer upon the
Holder hereof, as such, any of the rights of aldtolder of the Company or any right to vote, givemthhold consent to any corporate action
(whether any reorganization, issue of stock, redfi@ation of stock, consolidation, merger, conuege or otherwise), receive notice of
meetings, receive dividends or subscription rigbtgtherwise.

12. WAIVER OF DEMAND, PRESENTMENT, ETC. Anythingsel contained herein to the contrary notwithstandimg Company hereby
expressly waives demand and presentment for paymetite of nonpayment, protest, notice of protestice of dishonor, notice of
acceleration or intent to accelerate, bringinguif and diligence in taking any action to collest@unts called for hereunder and shall be
directly and primarily liable for the payment of aims owing and to be owing hereunder, regardieasd without any notice, diligence, act
or omission as or with respect to the collectiomwy amount called for hereunder.

13. ATTORNEY'S FEES. The Company agrees to pagasils and expenses, including without limitatioamsenable attorney's fees, which
may be incurred by the Holder in collecting any amtadue under this Debenture or in enforcing anaifier's conversion rights as
described herein.

14. ENFORCEABILITY. In case any provision of thigBenture is held by a court of competent jurisditto be excessive in scope or
otherwise invalid or unenforceable, such provishall be adjusted rather than voided, if poss#xethat it is enforceable to the maximum
extent possible, and the validity and enforceabditthe remaining provisions of this Debenturel wdt in any way be affected or impaired
thereby.

15. INTENT TO COMPLY WITH USURY LAWS. In no eventilvthe interest to be paid on this Debenture eddbe maximum rate
provided by law. It is the intent of the partiesctumply fully with the usury laws of the State afx@s; accordingly, it is agreed that
notwithstanding any provisions to the contraryhis tDebenture, in no event shall such Debentureireghe payment or permit the collection
of interest (which term, for purposes hereof, simllude any amount which, under Texas law, is d=bto be interest, whether or not such
amount is characterized by the parties as inteirestjcess of the maximum amount permitted by défeslof the State of Texas. If any excess
of interest is unintentionally contracted for, aped or received under this Debenture, or in thaethee maturity of the indebtedness
evidenced by the Debenture is accelerated in wioie part, or in the event that all of part of faencipal Amount or interest of this
Debenture shall be prepaid, so that the amoumtefdst contracted for, charged or received uridsiiebenture, on the amount of the
Principal Amount actually outstanding from timetitoe under this Debenture shall exceed the maxiranmount of interest permitted by the
applicable usury laws, then in any such evenh@)grovisions of this paragraph shall govern anmdrog (ii) neither the Company nor any
other person or entity now or hereafter liabletfar payment thereof, shall be obligated to pay
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the amount of such interest to the extent thatiit iexcess of the maximum amount of interest péechby such applicable usury laws, (iii)
any such excess which may have been collectedlshalther applied as a credit against the theaidngincipal amount thereof or refunded
to the Company at the Holder's option, and (iv)dffective rate of interest shall be automaticadiguced to the maximum lawful rate of
interest allowed under the applicable usury lawsa@s or hereafter construed by the courts havinigdiction thereof. It is further agreed that
without limitation of the foregoing, all calculatis of the rate of interest contracted for, chamgyekceived under the Debenture which are
made for the purpose of determining whether sutthegceeds the maximum lawful rate of interestll fliamade, to the extent permitted by
applicable laws, by amortizing, prorating, allongtind spreading in equal parts during the periddeofull stated term of the Debenture
evidenced thereby, all interest at any time coteihéor, charged or received from the Company betise by the Holders in connection
with this Debenture.

16. GOVERNING LAW; CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. This benture shall be governed by and construed in dacce with the laws of
the State of Texas without regard to the conflfidaws provisions thereof. In any action betweemmiong any of the parties, whether rising
out of this Debenture or otherwise, each of théigmirrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdicand venue of the federal and/or state
courts located in Harris County, Texas.

17. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER. Any waiver or amendmengheto shall be in writing signed by the Holder. fdidure on the part of the
Holder to exercise, and no delay in exercising, i@yt hereunder shall operate as a waiver therewfshall any single or partial exercise by
the Holder of any right hereunder preclude any otinéurther exercise thereof or the exercise of ather rights. The remedies herein
provided are cumulative and not exclusive of ameptemedies provided by law.

18. RESTRICTIONS AGAINST TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT.

(a) This Debenture may not be sold, transferresigaed, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise dispokbyd the registered Holder hereof, in
whole or in part, unless and until either (i) theenture has been duly and effectively registesedesale under the Act and under any then
applicable state securities laws; or (ii) the resgisd Holder delivers to the Company a written @piracceptable to its counsel that an
exemption from such registration requirements énthvailable with respect to any such proposedsatiésposition. The Company has the
absolute right, in its sole discretion, to approvelisapprove such transfer. Any transfer othenpisenissible hereunder shall be made on
the principle office of the Company upon surrenafethis Debenture for cancellation and upon thenpayt of any transfer tax or other
government charge connected therewith, and uporsaety transfer a new Debenture or Debentures wilssued to the transferee in
exchange therefor. The transferee of this Debersiuaé be bound by the provisions of this Debentlites register of the transfer of this
Debenture shall occur upon the delivery of this &ehre, endorsed by the registered Holder or Hisaluthorized attorney, signature
guaranteed, to the Company or its transfer ageh Bebenture instrument issued upon the tranftbisoDebenture shall have the
restrictive legend contained herein conspicuouslyrinted on it.



(b) In the event the Company successfully effesggstration of the Common Stock into which this Beture is convertible, the Company
may stop or prevent the transfer of such CommookSfar a period not to exceed 60 days in the etrenCompany files a registration
statement for the sale of its securities, and foindefinite period of time if the Company, in gsle but commercially reasonable discretion,
believes that such security holder has materiatipuiic information.

19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; HEADINGS. This Debenture ctinges the entire agreement between the Holdett@@€ompany pertaining
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all nidrcontemporaneous agreements, representationsidadstandings, written or oral, of
such parties. The headings are for reference pespmsly and shall not be used in construing orpméging this Debenture.

20. NOTICES. All notices and other communicatiorsvided for herein shall be in writing and shalldeemed to have been duly given if

delivered personally, transmitted by facsimile sraission (fax) or sent by registered or certifiegilnreturn receipt requested, postage
prepaid, or overnight air courier guaranteeing raxt delivery:

(a) If to the Company, to it at the following adskse

10959 Cutten Road Houston, Texas 77066 Attn: Eziegan
(fax) 281-397-6765

(b) With a copy to:

Robert D. Axelrod Axelrod, Smith & Kirshbaum 530GMorial Drive, Ste. 700 Houston, Texas 77007
(fax) 713-552-0202

(c) If to registered Holder, then to the addrestet on the front of this Debenture, unless changgdotice in writing as provided for herein.
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A notice or communication will be effective (i)dklivered in person or by overnight courier, ontiasiness day it is delivered, (ii) if

transmitted by telecopier, on the business daytfeh confirmed receipt by the addressee therewaf (&) if sent by registered or certified
mail, three (3) business days after dispatch.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Ricks Cabaret Internationat.lhas caused this 10% Convertible Debenture thubeexecuted in its corporate
name by the manual signature of its President.

Dated: February 6, 2006.

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

/sl Eric Langan

Eric Langan,
President and Chief Executive Oficer
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THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES S8JABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS CONVERTIBLE
DEBENTURE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED ("ACT"), OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES LAWS. THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THEOMMON SHARES ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS
CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FORALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF
AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AS TO THIS CONSRTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES
ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENJRE UNDER SAID ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLSATISFACTORY TO RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL,
INC. THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.

CERTIFICATE -RCI-C.D. NO. 501

CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE
OF
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL,INC., a Texas corporation with its principal offioeated at 10959
Cutten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 (the "COMPANWHonditionally promises to pay to Ralph McElroyhage address is 1211
Choquette, Austin, Texas 78757, or the registessiyaee, upon presentation of this Convertible Delve (the "DEBENTURE") by the
registered holder hereof (the "HOLDER") at the adfof the Company, the principal sum of $600,000t68 "PRINCIPAL AMOUNT"),
together with any accrued and unpaid interest tireeend other sums as hereinafter provided on 80riR008 (the "MATURITY DATE"), if
not sooner paid.

The following terms shall apply to this Debenture:
1. PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST.

(a) Interest on the Principal Amount outstandingebader shall be paid in cash, monthly, in arregtrthe rate of twelve percent (12%) per
annum from the date of issuance commencing witHitbemonthly payment due June 1, 2006 and morghlyments thereafter due on the
first day of each successive month ("INTEREST PAYWIEDATE"), to the person in whose name(s) such Délre is registered at the cl
of business on the 15th day immediately precedinty $nterest Payment Date (the "RECORD DATE");
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(b) The Company shall pay to the Holder the Priacmount of this Debenture and all interest acdriereon, but not yet paid, on the
Maturity Date, subject to any of the events speditielow:

(i) The Company in its sole discretion choosestteem all or any part of the outstanding Princfpabunt in accordance with Section 3
hereof; or

(i) The Holder in its sole discretion chooses ¢mwert all or any portion of the outstanding PrpatiAmount in accordance with Section 4
hereof.

2. PAYMENT. Payment of any sums due to the Holdetar the terms of this Debenture shall be madenitted States Dollars by check or
wire transfer at the option of the Company. Paynsball be made to any account or address desighgttéte Holder any time prior to any
payment due hereunder. If any payment hereundeldvadbierwise become due and payable on a day ochwit@inks are closed or permitted
to be closed in Houston, Texas, such payment bbahme due and payable on the next succeedingrdatioh banks are open and not
permitted to be closed in Houston, Texas ("Busifi¥sg’). The Company may prepay all or any parhef principal of this Debenture before
maturity without penalty, and interest shall imnadly cease to accrue on any amount so prepaid.

3. THE COMPANY'S OPTION TO REDEEM. The Debenturdl wé subject to redemption at the option of therPany, in whole or in part,
at 100% of the principal face amount of the Debentadeemed plus any accrued and unpaid intehestREDEMPTION AMOUNT") on
the Redemption Payment Date (as hereinafter défia¢dny time and from time to time, upon not lg&s 10 nor more than 30 days notice
to the Holder.

The Company shall deliver to the Holder a writtestibe of Redemption (the "NOTICE OF REDEMPTION"esffying the date for the
redemption (the "REDEMPTION PAYMENT DATE"), whictate shall be at least 10 but not more than 30 dfigsthe date of the Notice
Redemption (the "REDEMPTION PERIOD"). A Notice oétRemption shall not be effective with respect tp portion of this Debenture for
which the Holder has previously delivered a Not€€onversion (as hereinafter defined) or for caoaians elected to be made by the Holder
pursuant to Section 4 during the Redemption Pefiibd. Redemption Amount shall be determined asifHblder's conversion elections had
been completed immediately prior to the date ofMb&ice of Redemption. On the Redemption Paymei¢ Dhe Redemption Amount must
be paid in good funds to the Holder. In the evhat€ompany fails to pay the Redemption Amount @Rkedemption Payment Date as set
forth herein, then such Redemption Notice shalitdéand void. After the Redemption Payment Datdesis the Company shall default in the
payment of the Redemption Amount, interest willseto accrue on the Debenture or the portion tieadled for redemption.
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4. CONVERSION RIGHTS OF HOLDER.

(a) Conversion. The Holder of this Debenture wél/a the right, at the Holder's option, to convérbmaany portion of the Principal Amount
hereof (subject to the limitations set forth in @@t 4(b)), into shares of Common Stock at any tprier to maturity (unless earlier redeem
at the Conversion Price of $6.55 per share (subjeatljustment as described below). The right toved the Principal Amount of this
Debenture called for redemption will terminatels tlose of business on the business day pridret®edemption Payment Date for such
Debenture, unless the Company subsequently fagaydhe applicable Redemption Amount. The sharesmmon stock to be issued upon
such conversion are hereinafter referred to asGE@NVERSION SHARES".

(b) Conversion Restrictions and Limitations. If tiempany has not previously obtained Shareholdgré\yal (as defined below), the num
of shares of Common Stock that may be issued bZtmepany or acquired by the Holder upon any coneersf this Debenture shall be
limited to the extent necessary to insure thatp¥ahg such conversion, the total number of shaféSommon Stock then beneficially owned
by the Holder and any Affiliates and any other Basswhose beneficial ownership of Common Stock ddal aggregated with the Holder's
for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended, does not exceed%D9the total number of issued and
outstanding shares of the Company's Common StddRXIMUM AMOUNT ISSUABLE"). Shareholder Approval islefined as obtaining
the vote of the Company's shareholders as mayduéreel by the applicable rules of the Nasdaq S@afi Market to approve the issuance of
shares of Common Stock in excess of the Maximum dahéssuable.

(c) Mechanics of Holder's Conversion. In the etbat the Holder elects to convert this Debentute @ommon Stock, the Holder shall give
notice of such election by delivering an executed eompleted notice of conversion ("NOTICE OF CONR&EON") to the Company and
such Notice of Conversion shall provide a breakdowreasonable detail of the Principal Amount tisdteing converted. In the event that the
Holder elects to convert only a portion of the Detibee, then the Holder shall also forward and swutee this Debenture to the Company with
the Notice of Conversion. On each Conversion Dasehereinafter defined) and in accordance withl@sce of Conversion, the Holder shall
make the appropriate reduction to the Principal Ama@s entered in its records and shall providéevrinotice thereof to the Company wit
five (5) business days after the Conversion DaaehElate on which a Notice of Conversion is detider telecopied to the Company in
accordance with the provisions hereof shall be @geaConversion Date (the "CONVERSION DATE"). Arfoof Notice of Conversion is
annexed hereto as Exhibit A. Pursuant to the tefitise Notice of Conversion, the Company will issgructions to the transfer agent as
soon as practicable thereafter, to cause to bedsand delivered to such Holder certificates fertlamber of full shares of Conversion Sh
to which such Holder shall be entitled as aforesaid, if necessary, a new Debenture representynareonverted portion of this Debenture.
The Company shall not issue fractional Conversibar&s upon conversion, but the number of ConveiSkares to be received by any
Holder upon conversion shall be rounded down tanthé whole number and the Holder shall be entitegayment of the remaining
principal amount in cash. In the case of the eserof the conversion rights set forth herein thevesosion privilege shall be deemed to have
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been exercised and the Conversion Shares issuadatesuich conversion shall be deemed to have bseedsipon the date of receipt by the
Company of the Notice of Conversion. The Holdedldtmtreated for all purposes as the record haddi¢hhe Conversion Shares, unless the
Holder provides the Company written instructionsht® contrary.

(d) Adjustment Provisions. The Conversion Price anchber and kind of shares or other securitie®tssued upon conversion determined
pursuant to this Debenture shall be subject tostifjent from time to time upon the happening ofaierévents while this conversion right
remains outstanding, as follows:

() Reclassification. In case of any reclassifioaficonsolidation or merger of the Company witlinbw another entity or any merger of ano
entity with or into the Company, or in the caseny sale, transfer or conveyance of all or subistiyntll of the assets of the Company
(computed on a consolidated basis), each Debetiteneoutstanding will, without the consent of angld¢r, become convertible only into the
kind and amount of securities, cash or other ptgpeceivable upon such reclassification, constilicia merger, sale, transfer or conveyance
by a Holder of the number of shares of Common Shoeitkwhich such Debenture was convertible immedlyaprior thereto, after giving

effect to any adjustment event.

(i) Stock Splits, Combinations and Dividends.Hétshares of Common Stock are subdivided or cordbirte a greater or smaller number of
shares of Common Stock, or if a dividend is paidtnCommon Stock or any preferred stock issuetth®yCompany in shares of Common
Stock, the Conversion Price shall be proportioyatetiuced in case of subdivision of shares or stiiklend or proportionately increased in
the case of combination of shares, in each suaghlmathe ratio which the total number of share€a@fnmon Stock outstanding immediately
after such event bears to the total number of shair€ommon Stock outstanding immediately priosuoh event.

(e) Issuance of New Debenture. Upon any partialersion of this Debenture, a new Debenture comtgittie same date and provisions of
this Debenture shall, at the request of the Holdelissued by the Company to the Holder for thegipal balance of this Debenture and
interest which shall not have been converted ai.pitie Company shall not pay any costs, fees oo#mr consideration to the Holder for
production and issuance of a new Debenture.

(f) Interest on Payment Date. In the case of anlyeb&re which has been converted after any Recatd, Dut on or before the next Interest
Payment Date, the interest due on such Interesh®atyDate, shall be payable on such Interest PatyDeie notwithstanding such
conversion. The interest shall be paid in castherliiterest Payment Date.

(9) Reservation of Shares. The Company shall dinadis reserve for issuance and maintain availalhleof its authorized but unissued
Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effectimg full conversion of the Debenture, the full numbkshares of Common Stock
deliverable upon the conversion of the Debentumftime to time outstanding. The Company shall ftone to time (subject to obtaining
necessary director and stockholder action), in @=zte



with the laws of the State of Texas, increase thikaized number of shares of its Common Stock @y time the authorized number of
shares of its Common Stock remaining unissued sbéalbe sufficient to permit the conversion of Bebenture.

5. SECURITY. This Debenture shall be secured bgeddf trust covering the property located at 9@DPort Blvd, Houston Texas.

6. EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. The followingeadeemed to be an event of default ("Event of Diéfghereunder: (i) the
failure by the Company to pay any installment ¢éiast on the Debenture as and when due and pagmadbihe continuance of any such
failure for 30 days, (i) the failure by the Compan pay all or any part of the principal on theb@ature when and as the same become due
and payable at maturity, by acceleration or othsewfiii) the failure of the Company to perform amnversion of Debentures required under
the Debenture and the continuance of any suchréaftur 30 days, (iv) the failure by the Companybserve or perform any other covenan
agreement contained in the Debenture and the a@toe of such failure for a period of 30 days afterwritten notice is given to the
Company by the Holders, (v) the assignment by tha@any for the benefit of creditors, or an applaraby the Company to any tribunal for
the appointment of a trustee or receiver of a sutist part of the assets of the Company, or tmencencement of any proceedings relating to
the Company under any bankruptcy, reorganizatioangement, insolvency, readjustment of debtsptiiien or other liquidation law of ar
jurisdiction; or the filing of such application, ire commencement of any such proceedings agam&ampany and an indication of cons

by the Company to such proceedings, or the appeintiof such trustee or receiver, or an adjudicatioine Company bankrupt or insolvent,
or approval of the petition in any such proceediagsl such order remains in effect for 60 daygydra default in the payment of principal
interest when due which extends beyond any staaddgof grace applicable thereto or an accelemdto any other reason of maturity of any
indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company anthggregate principal amount in excess of $780a0@ (vii) final unsatisfied
judgments not covered by insurance aggregatingdess of $750,000, at any one time rendered aghi@sompany and not stayed, bon

or discharged within 75 days.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuingh@tthan an Event of Default specified in claugeapove with respect to the Company), t
in every such case, unless the principal shall laéready become due and payable, the Holder dd#ieenture then outstanding, by notice in
writing to the Company (an "Acceleration Noticetf)ay declare all principal and accrued and unpdatést thereon to be due and payable
immediately. If an Event of Default specified imake (v) above occurs with respect to the Compahgrincipal and accrued and unpaid
interest thereon will be immediately due and pagain the outstanding Debenture without any dedtarair other act on the part of the
Holder. The Holder is authorized to rescind suatearation if all existing Events of Default, othtban the non-payment of the principal and
interest on the Debenture which have become detydny such acceleration, have been cured or waived
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7. LIMITATION ON MERGER, SALE OR CONSOLIDATION. Th€ompany may not, directly or indirectly, consotelavith or merge into
another person or sell, lease, convey or trandifer aubstantially all of its assets (computedsotonsolidated basis), whether in a single
transaction or a series of related transactionantdher person or group of affiliated personsesskither

(a) in the case of a merger or consolidation, tam@any is the surviving entity or (b) the resultisgrviving or transferee entity is a
corporation or limited liability company organizadder the laws of any state of the United Statéseaipressly assumes by supplemental
agreement all of the obligations of the Compangannection with the Debenture.

Upon any consolidation or merger or any transfealbbr substantially all of the assets of the Campin accordance with the foregoing, the
successor corporation or limited liability compdoymed by such consolidation or into which the Campis merged or to which such
transfer is made, shall succeed to, and be sutestifar, and may exercise every right and powdhefCompany under the Debenture with
same effect as if such successor corporation dtelghtiability company had been named therein asGbmpany, and the Company will be
released from its obligations under the Debentxeept as to any obligations that arise from a essult of such transaction.

8. REGISTRATION RIGHTS.

(@) In the event that the Company files a RegistneStatement to register shares of its CommonkSiaih the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form SB-2, S-3 or other similar f¢gexcept for Form S-8 or Form S-4) than the Compaifiyundertake to use its best
efforts to register for resale from time to timethg Holder all of the shares into which the Debeminay be converted under the same
Registration Statement. The Company shall usesis$ dfforts to cause the Registration Statemeb¢tome effective under the Securities Act
as promptly as is practicable and to keep the Regjizn Statement continuously effective under3eeurities Act for a period of the earliel

(i) three years from the effective date or (ii)ilall of the shares which were registered for le$amve been sold.

(b) From time to time, the Company shall prepar fila with the SEC a post-effective amendmentio Registration Statement or a
supplement to the related Prospectus or a supplasn@mendment to any document incorporated thérgireference or any other required
document, so that such Registration Statementwftlcontain any untrue statement of a materialdacimit to state a material fact require
be stated therein or necessary to make the statgiienein not misleading, and so that, as thexed€livered to purchasers of the securities
being sold thereunder, such Prospectus will notagorany untrue statement of a material fact ort@émstate a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statertertsin, in light of the circumstances under whindly were made, not misleading; provide
the Holder copies of any documents filed in sucinbers as the Holder shall reasonably request;rdodm the Holder that the Company has
complied with its obligations and that the Registra Statement and related Prospectus may be osélef purpose of selling all or any of
such securities (or that, if the Company has fdgubst-effective amendment to the Registratione&tant which has not yet been
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declared effective, the Company will notify the Het to that effect, will use its best efforts tawee promptly the effectiveness of such post-
effective amendment and will immediately so notfig Holder when the amendment has become effective)

9. NO PERSONAL LIABILITY OF SHAREHOLDERS, OFFICERS]RECTORS. No recourse shall be had for the payroktihe principal
or the interest on this Debenture, or for any clhased thereon, or otherwise in respect theredfased on or in respect of any Debenture
supplemental thereto, against any incorporatockstalder, officer, or director (past, present, wufe) of the Company, whether by virtue of
any constitution, statute, or rule of law, or bg #nforcement of any assessment or penalty orwigerall such liability being by the
acceptance hereof, and as part of the consideratiadhe issue hereof, expressly waived and retkase

10. LISTING OF REGISTERED HOLDER OF DEBENTURE. THigbenture will be registered as to principal ia Holder's name on the
books of the Company at its principal office in ldtan, Texas, after which no transfer hereof shalNddid unless made on the Company's
books at the office of the Company, by the Holdenebf, in person, or by attorney duly authorizediiting, and similarly noted hereon.

11. GOVERNING LAW; CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. THIS BENTURE SHALL BEGOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS WITH OUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAWS
PROVISIONS THEREOF.

12. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER. Any waiver or amendmengheto shall be in writing signed by the Holder. fdidure on the part of the
Holder to exercise, and no delay in exercising, &gyt hereunder shall operate as a waiver therewfshall any single or partial exercise by
the Holder of any right hereunder preclude any otinéurther exercise thereof or the exercise of @ier rights. The remedies herein
provided are cumulative and not exclusive of ameptemedies provided by law.

13. RESTRICTIONS AGAINST TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT.

(a) This Debenture may not be sold, transferresigaed, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise dispotbkd the registered Holder hereof, in
whole or in part, unless and until either (i) thed2nture has been duly and effectively registesedesale under the Securities Act of 193:¢
amended, and under any then applicable state sesuaws; or (ii) the registered Holder delivasglie Company a written opinion accepte
to its counsel that an exemption from such redistiaequirements is then available with respectrtp such proposed sale or disposition.
Company has the absolute right, in its sole digameto approve or disapprove such transfer. Aaggfer otherwise permissible hereunder
shall be made only at the principle office of then@pany upon surrender of this Debenture for caattell and upon the payment of any
transfer tax or other government charge connetieewith, and upon any such transfer a new Debemtubebentures will be issued to the
transferee in exchange therefor.The transfereki®tebenture shall be bound
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by the provisions of this Debenture. The regisfahe transfer of this Debenture shall occur ugendelivery of this Debenture, endorsed by
the registered Holder or his duly authorized aggrrsignature guaranteed, to the Company or itstea agent. Each Debenture instrument
issued upon the transfer of this Debenture shatt lilae restrictive legend contained herein congpisly imprinted on it.

(b) In the event the Company successfully effeaggstration of the Common Stock into which this Beture is convertible, the Company
may stop or prevent the transfer of such CommookSfar a period not to exceed 60 days in the etrenCompany files a registration
statement for the sale of its securities, and foindefinite period of time if the Company, in &sle discretion, believes that such security
holder has material non-public information.

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; HEADINGS. This Debenture ctinges the entire agreement between the Holdett@@€ompany pertaining
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all nidicontemporaneous agreements, representationsidadstandings, written or oral, of
such parties. The headings are for reference pespmsly and shall not be used in construing orpméging this Debenture.

15. NOTICES. All notices and other communicationsvided for herein shall be in writing and shalldeemed to have been duly given if

delivered personally, transmitted by facsimile srmaission (fax) or sent by registered or certifiegilnreturn receipt requested, postage
prepaid, or overnight air courier guaranteeing raxt delivery:

(a) If to the Company, to it at the following adsse

10959 Cutten Road Houston, Texas 77066 Attn: Esicgan
(fax) 281-397-6765

(b) If to registered Holder, then to the addrest®é on the front of this Debenture, unless changedotice in writing as provided for herein.

A notice or communication will be effective (i)dklivered in person or by overnight courier, ontiasiness day it is delivered, (i) if
transmitted by telecopier, on the business daytfeh confirmed receipt by the addressee theraewaf (&) if sent by registered or certified
mail, three (3) business days after dispatch.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Ricks Cabaret Internationat.lhas caused this Debenture to be duly executiésl @orporate name by the mar
signature of its President, and a facsimile o€dgporate seal to be impressed, imprinted or ergrérereon, attested by the manual signature
of its Secretary.

Dated: , 2006.

RICK'S CABAR ET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Witnessed:

/sl Eric La ngan

Eric Langan

President and Chief Exutive Officer Witness
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THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES S8JABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS CONVERTIBLE
DEBENTURE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED ("ACT"), OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES LAWS. THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THEOMMON SHARES ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS
CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FORALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF
AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AS TO THIS CONSRTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES
ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENJRE UNDER SAID ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLSATISFACTORY TO RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL,
INC. THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.

CERTIFICATE -RCI-C.D. NO. 502

CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE
OF
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL,INC., a Texas corporation with its principal offioeated at 10959
Cutten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 (the "COMPANWYHonditionally promises to pay to Wade McElroyost address is 3004 Lafayette
Avenue, Austin, Texas 78722, or the registerecjass, upon presentation of this Convertible Delreniine "DEBENTURE") by the
registered holder hereof (the "HOLDER") at the adfof the Company, the principal sum of $125,000t68 "PRINCIPAL AMOUNT"),
together with any accrued and unpaid interest tireeend other sums as hereinafter provided on 80riR008 (the "MATURITY DATE"), if
not sooner paid.

The following terms shall apply to this Debenture:
1. PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST.

(a) Interest on the Principal Amount outstandingebader shall be paid in cash, monthly, in arregtrthe rate of twelve percent (12%) per
annum from the date of issuance commencing witHitbemonthly payment due June 1, 2006 and morghlyments thereafter due on the
first day of each successive month ("INTEREST PAYWIEDATE"), to the person in whose name(s) such Délre is registered at the cl
of business on the 15th day immediately precedinty $nterest Payment Date (the "RECORD DATE");
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(b) The Company shall pay to the Holder the Priacmount of this Debenture and all interest acdriereon, but not yet paid, on the
Maturity Date, subject to any of the events speditielow:

(i) The Company in its sole discretion choosestteem all or any part of the outstanding Princfpabunt in accordance with Section 3
hereof; or

(i) The Holder in its sole discretion chooses ¢mwert all or any portion of the outstanding PrpatiAmount in accordance with Section 4
hereof.

2. PAYMENT. Payment of any sums due to the Holdetar the terms of this Debenture shall be madenitted States Dollars by check or
wire transfer at the option of the Company. Paynsball be made to any account or address desighgttéte Holder any time prior to any
payment due hereunder. If any payment hereundeldvadbierwise become due and payable on a day ochwit@inks are closed or permitted
to be closed in Houston, Texas, such payment bbahme due and payable on the next succeedingrdatioh banks are open and not
permitted to be closed in Houston, Texas ("Busifi¥sg’). The Company may prepay all or any parhef principal of this Debenture before
maturity without penalty, and interest shall imnadly cease to accrue on any amount so prepaid.

3. THE COMPANY'S OPTION TO REDEEM. The Debenturdl wé subject to redemption at the option of therPany, in whole or in part,
at 100% of the principal face amount of the Debentadeemed plus any accrued and unpaid intehestREDEMPTION AMOUNT") on
the Redemption Payment Date (as hereinafter défia¢dny time and from time to time, upon not lg&s 10 nor more than 30 days notice
to the Holder.

The Company shall deliver to the Holder a writtestibe of Redemption (the "NOTICE OF REDEMPTION"esffying the date for the
redemption (the "REDEMPTION PAYMENT DATE"), whictate shall be at least 10 but not more than 30 dfigsthe date of the Notice
Redemption (the "REDEMPTION PERIOD"). A Notice oétRemption shall not be effective with respect tp portion of this Debenture for
which the Holder has previously delivered a Not€€onversion (as hereinafter defined) or for caoaians elected to be made by the Holder
pursuant to Section 4 during the Redemption Pefiibd. Redemption Amount shall be determined asifHblder's conversion elections had
been completed immediately prior to the date ofMb&ice of Redemption. On the Redemption Paymei¢ Dhe Redemption Amount must
be paid in good funds to the Holder. In the evhat€ompany fails to pay the Redemption Amount @Rkedemption Payment Date as set
forth herein, then such Redemption Notice shalitdéand void. After the Redemption Payment Datdesis the Company shall default in the
payment of the Redemption Amount, interest willseto accrue on the Debenture or the portion tieadled for redemption.
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4. CONVERSION RIGHTS OF HOLDER.

(a) Conversion. The Holder of this Debenture wél/a the right, at the Holder's option, to convérbmaany portion of the Principal Amount
hereof into shares of Common Stock at any timer paianaturity (unless earlier redeemed) at the @asion Price of $6.55 per share (subject
to adjustment as described below). The right toredrthe Principal Amount of this Debenture caltledredemption will terminate at the clc

of business on the business day prior to the RetlemPayment Date for such Debenture, unless thepgaay subsequently fails to pay the
applicable Redemption Amount. The shares of comstock to be issued upon such conversion are hétimaferred to as the
"CONVERSION SHARES".

(b) Conversion Restrictions and Limitations. If tiempany has not previously obtained Shareholdgré\yal (as defined below), the num
of shares of Common Stock that may be issued bZtmepany or acquired by the Holder upon any coneersf this Debenture shall be
limited to the extent necessary to insure thatp¥ahg such conversion, the total number of shaféSommon Stock then beneficially owned
by the Holder and any Affiliates and any other Basswhose beneficial ownership of Common Stock ddal aggregated with the Holder's
for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended, does not exceed%D9the total number of issued and
outstanding shares of the Company's Common StddRXIMUM AMOUNT ISSUABLE"). Shareholder Approval islefined as obtaining
the vote of the Company's shareholders as mayduéreel by the applicable rules of the Nasdaq S@afi Market to approve the issuance of
shares of Common Stock in excess of the Maximum dahéssuable.

(c) Mechanics of Holder's Conversion. In the etbat the Holder elects to convert this Debentute @ommon Stock, the Holder shall give
notice of such election by delivering an executed eompleted notice of conversion ("NOTICE OF CONR&EON") to the Company and
such Notice of Conversion shall provide a breakdowreasonable detail of the Principal Amount tisdteing converted. In the event that the
Holder elects to convert only a portion of the Detibee, then the Holder shall also forward and swutee this Debenture to the Company with
the Notice of Conversion. On each Conversion Dasehereinafter defined) and in accordance withl@sce of Conversion, the Holder shall
make the appropriate reduction to the Principal Ama@s entered in its records and shall providéevrinotice thereof to the Company wit
five (5) business days after the Conversion DaaehElate on which a Notice of Conversion is detider telecopied to the Company in
accordance with the provisions hereof shall be @geaConversion Date (the "CONVERSION DATE"). Arfoof Notice of Conversion is
annexed hereto as Exhibit A. Pursuant to the tefitise Notice of Conversion, the Company will issgructions to the transfer agent as
soon as practicable thereafter, to cause to bedsand delivered to such Holder certificates fertlamber of full shares of Conversion Sh
to which such Holder shall be entitled as aforesaid, if necessary, a new Debenture representynareonverted portion of this Debenture.
The Company shall not issue fractional Conversibar&s upon conversion, but the number of ConveiSkares to be received by any
Holder upon conversion shall be rounded down tanthé whole number and the Holder shall be entitegayment of the remaining
principal amount in cash. In the case of the eserof the conversion rights set forth herein thevesosion privilege shall be deemed to have
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been exercised and the Conversion Shares issuadatesuich conversion shall be deemed to have bseedsipon the date of receipt by the
Company of the Notice of Conversion. The Holdedldtmtreated for all purposes as the record haddi¢hhe Conversion Shares, unless the
Holder provides the Company written instructionsht® contrary.

(d) Adjustment Provisions. The Conversion Price anchber and kind of shares or other securitie®tssued upon conversion determined
pursuant to this Debenture shall be subject tostifjent from time to time upon the happening ofaierévents while this conversion right
remains outstanding, as follows:

() Reclassification. In case of any reclassifioaficonsolidation or merger of the Company witlinbw another entity or any merger of ano
entity with or into the Company, or in the caseny sale, transfer or conveyance of all or subistiyntll of the assets of the Company
(computed on a consolidated basis), each Debetiteneoutstanding will, without the consent of angld¢r, become convertible only into the
kind and amount of securities, cash or other ptgpeceivable upon such reclassification, constilicia merger, sale, transfer or conveyance
by a Holder of the number of shares of Common Shoeitkwhich such Debenture was convertible immedlyaprior thereto, after giving

effect to any adjustment event.

(i) Stock Splits, Combinations and Dividends.Hétshares of Common Stock are subdivided or cordbirte a greater or smaller number of
shares of Common Stock, or if a dividend is paidtnCommon Stock or any preferred stock issuetth®yCompany in shares of Common
Stock, the Conversion Price shall be proportioyatetiuced in case of subdivision of shares or stiiklend or proportionately increased in
the case of combination of shares, in each suaghlmathe ratio which the total number of share€a@fnmon Stock outstanding immediately
after such event bears to the total number of shair€ommon Stock outstanding immediately priosuoh event.

(e) Issuance of New Debenture. Upon any partialersion of this Debenture, a new Debenture comtgittie same date and provisions of
this Debenture shall, at the request of the Holdelissued by the Company to the Holder for thegipal balance of this Debenture and
interest which shall not have been converted ai.pitie Company shall not pay any costs, fees oo#mr consideration to the Holder for
production and issuance of a new Debenture.

(f) Interest on Payment Date. In the case of anlyeb&re which has been converted after any Recatd, Dut on or before the next Interest
Payment Date, the interest due on such Interesh®atyDate, shall be payable on such Interest PatyDeie notwithstanding such
conversion. The interest shall be paid in castherliiterest Payment Date.

(9) Reservation of Shares. The Company shall dinadis reserve for issuance and maintain availalhleof its authorized but unissued
Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effectimg full conversion of the Debenture, the full numbkshares of Common Stock
deliverable upon the conversion of the Debentumftime to time outstanding. The Company shall ftone to time (subject to obtaining
necessary director and stockholder action), in @=zte



with the laws of the State of Texas, increase thikaized number of shares of its Common Stock @y time the authorized number of
shares of its Common Stock remaining unissued sbéalbe sufficient to permit the conversion of Bebenture.

5. EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. The followingeadeemed to be an event of default ("Event of Diéfehereunder: (i) the
failure by the Company to pay any installment ¢éiast on the Debenture as and when due and pagmadbihe continuance of any such
failure for 30 days, (i) the failure by the Compan pay all or any part of the principal on theb@ature when and as the same become due
and payable at maturity, by acceleration or othgewfiii) the failure of the Company to perform amnversion of Debentures required under
the Debenture and the continuance of any suchréafrr 30 days, (iv) the failure by the Companybserve or perform any other covenan
agreement contained in the Debenture and the a@toe of such failure for a period of 30 days afterwritten notice is given to the
Company by the Holders, (v) the assignment by thia@any for the benefit of creditors, or an applaaby the Company to any tribunal for
the appointment of a trustee or receiver of a suthistl part of the assets of the Company, or tmeneencement of any proceedings relating to
the Company under any bankruptcy, reorganizatioangement, insolvency, readjustment of debtsptiiien or other liquidation law of ar
jurisdiction; or the filing of such application, ire commencement of any such proceedings agam&dampany and an indication of cons

by the Company to such proceedings, or the appeintiof such trustee or receiver, or an adjudicatioine Company bankrupt or insolvent,
or approval of the petition in any such proceedimgsl such order remains in effect for 60 daygvra default in the payment of principal
interest when due which extends beyond any staaddgof grace applicable thereto or an accelemdto any other reason of maturity of any
indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company anthggregate principal amount in excess of $780a0@ (vii) final unsatisfied
judgments not covered by insurance aggregatingdess of $750,000, at any one time rendered aga@sompany and not stayed, bon

or discharged within 75 days.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuingh@tthan an Event of Default specified in claugeapove with respect to the Company), t
in every such case, unless the principal shall ladready become due and payable, the Holder dbdimenture then outstanding, by notice in
writing to the Company (an "Acceleration Noticaet)ay declare all principal and accrued and unpdtést thereon to be due and payable
immediately. If an Event of Default specified imake (v) above occurs with respect to the Compahgrincipal and accrued and unpaid
interest thereon will be immediately due and pagain the outstanding Debenture without any dedtarair other act on the part of the
Holder. The Holder is authorized to rescind suatebaration if all existing Events of Default, oththan the non-payment of the principal and
interest on the Debenture which have become detydny such acceleration, have been cured or waived

6. LIMITATION ON MERGER, SALE OR CONSOLIDATION. Th€ompany may not, directly or indirectly, consotelaith or merge into
another person or sell, lease, convey or trandifer aubstantially all of its assets (computedsotonsolidated basis), whether in a single
transaction or a series of related transactionantaher person or group of affiliated personsesskither

(a) in the case of a merger or consolidation, tbm@any is the surviving entity or (b) the resultisgrviving
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or transferee entity is a corporation or limiteability company organized under the laws of anyestd the United States and expressly
assumes by supplemental agreement all of the aloligaof the Company in connection with the Debantu

Upon any consolidation or merger or any transfaalbér substantially all of the assets of the Campin accordance with the foregoing, the
successor corporation or limited liability compdoymed by such consolidation or into which the Campis merged or to which such
transfer is made, shall succeed to, and be sutestifar, and may exercise every right and powehefCompany under the Debenture with
same effect as if such successor corporation dgtelghtiability company had been named therein as@bmpany, and the Company will be
released from its obligations under the Debentxeept as to any obligations that arise from a essult of such transaction.

7. REGISTRATION RIGHTS.

(@) In the event that the Company files a Regisinabtatement to register shares of its CommonkSiaih the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form SB-2, S-3 or other similar f¢gaxcept for Form S-8 or Form S-4) than the Compaifiyundertake to use its best
efforts to register for resale from time to timethg Holder all of the shares into which the Debemimay be converted under the same
Registration Statement. The Company shall usesis$ dfforts to cause the Registration Statemeb¢tome effective under the Securities Act
as promptly as is practicable and to keep the Regjisn Statement continuously effective under3leeurities Act for a period of the earliel

(i) three years from the effective date or (ii)ilall of the shares which were registered for lke$mve been sold.

(b) From time to time, the Company shall prepar file with the SEC a post-effective amendmenti® Registration Statement or a
supplement to the related Prospectus or a supptesnamendment to any document incorporated thdrgireference or any other required
document, so that such Registration Statementwilcontain any untrue statement of a materialdacimit to state a material fact require
be stated therein or necessary to make the stateitienein not misleading, and so that, as thexed#livered to purchasers of the securities
being sold thereunder, such Prospectus will notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ort@émstate a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statertenrtsin, in light of the circumstances under whindly were made, not misleading; provide
the Holder copies of any documents filed in sucimbers as the Holder shall reasonably request;rdndm the Holder that the Company has
complied with its obligations and that the Registra Statement and related Prospectus may be osdéldef purpose of selling all or any of
such securities (or that, if the Company has fdqubst-effective amendment to the RegistrationeBtanht which has not yet been declared
effective, the Company will notify the Holder taatteffect, will use its best efforts to secure pptlsnthe effectiveness of such post-effective
amendment and will immediately so notify the Holddren the amendment has become effective).
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8. NO PERSONAL LIABILITY OF SHAREHOLDERS, OFFICERS]RECTORS. No recourse shall be had for the payrogthe principal
or the interest on this Debenture, or for any clhased thereon, or otherwise in respect theredfased on or in respect of any Debenture
supplemental thereto, against any incorporatockstolder, officer, or director (past, present, wufe) of the Company, whether by virtue of
any constitution, statute, or rule of law, or bg tnforcement of any assessment or penalty orneigerall such liability being by the
acceptance hereof, and as part of the consideratiadhe issue hereof, expressly waived and retkase

9. LISTING OF REGISTERED HOLDER OF DEBENTURE. Tidebenture will be registered as to principal inltt@der's name on the
books of the Company at its principal office in Idtan, Texas, after which no transfer hereof shaW&lid unless made on the Company's
books at the office of the Company, by the Holdenebf, in person, or by attorney duly authorizediiting, and similarly noted hereon.

10. GOVERNING LAW; CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. THIS BENTURE SHALL BEGOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS WITH OUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAWS
PROVISIONS THEREOF.

11. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER. Any waiver or amendmengheto shall be in writing signed by the Holder. fdibure on the part of the
Holder to exercise, and no delay in exercising, iégiyt hereunder shall operate as a waiver therewfshall any single or partial exercise by
the Holder of any right hereunder preclude any otinéurther exercise thereof or the exercise of atiher rights. The remedies herein
provided are cumulative and not exclusive of ameptemedies provided by law.

12. RESTRICTIONS AGAINST TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT.

(a) This Debenture may not be sold, transferresigaed, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise dispotbkd the registered Holder hereof, in
whole or in part, unless and until either (i) theb@nture has been duly and effectively registevedesale under the Securities Act of 193:
amended, and under any then applicable state Sesuaws; or (ii) the registered Holder delivasstie Company a written opinion accepte

to its counsel that an exemption from such redistiaequirements is then available with respectrtp such proposed sale or disposition.
Company has the absolute right, in its sole digameto approve or disapprove such transfer. Aagdfer otherwise permissible hereunder
shall be made only at the principle office of then@hbany upon surrender of this Debenture for caatieti and upon the payment of any
transfer tax or other government charge connetieewvith, and upon any such transfer a new Debemtubebentures will be issued to the
transferee in exchange therefor.The transfereki®ftebenture shall be bound by the provisionsisfDebenture. The register of the transfer
of this Debenture shall occur upon the deliveryhig Debenture, endorsed by the registered Holdbisaduly authorized attorney, signature
guaranteed, to the Company or its transfer agexth Bebenture instrument issued upon
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the transfer of this Debenture shall have theirtiste legend contained herein conspicuously impdron it.

(b) In the event the Company successfully effeaggstration of the Common Stock into which this Beture is convertible, the Company
may stop or prevent the transfer of such CommookSfar a period not to exceed 60 days in the etreCompany files a registration
statement for the sale of its securities, and foindefinite period of time if the Company, in &sle discretion, believes that such security
holder has material non-public information.

13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; HEADINGS. This Debenture ctinges the entire agreement between the Holdett@€ompany pertaining
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all andicontemporaneous agreements, representationsdacstandings, written or oral, of
such parties. The headings are for reference pespmsly and shall not be used in construing orpméting this Debenture.

14. NOTICES. All notices and other communicationsvided for herein shall be in writing and shalldeemed to have been duly given if

delivered personally, transmitted by facsimile sraission (fax) or sent by registered or certifiegilpreturn receipt requested, postage
prepaid, or overnight air courier guaranteeing raxt delivery:

(a) If to the Company, to it at the following adsse

10959 Cutten Road Houston, Texas 77066 Attn: Esicgan
(fax) 281-397-6765

(b) If to registered Holder, then to the addrest®d on the front of this Debenture, unless changedotice in writing as provided for herein.

A notice or communication will be effective (i)dklivered in person or by overnight courier, onltisiness day it is delivered, (ii) if
transmitted by telecopier, on the business daytfah confirmed receipt by the addressee theraaf (&) if sent by registered or certified
mail, three (3) business days after dispatch.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Ricks Cabaret Internationat.lhas caused this Debenture to be duly executiésl @orporate name by the mar
signature of its President, and a facsimile o€dgporate seal to be impressed, imprinted or ergrérereon, attested by the manual signature

of its Secretary.

[Corporate Seal]

RICK'S CABAR ET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Witnessed:

/sl Eric La ngan

Eric Langan

President and Chief Exutive Officer Witness
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THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES S8JABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS CONVERTIBLE
DEBENTURE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED ("ACT"), OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES LAWS. THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THEOMMON SHARES ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS
CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FORALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF
AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AS TO THIS CONSRTIBLE DEBENTURE AND THE COMMON SHARES
ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS CONVERTIBLE DEBENJRE UNDER SAID ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLSATISFACTORY TO RICKS CABARET INTERNATIONAL,
INC. THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.

CERTIFICATE -RCI-C.D. NO. 503

CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE
OF
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL,INC., a Texas corporation with its principal offioeated at 10959
Cutten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 (the "COMPANWYHonditionally promises to pay to Ryan McElroy,08b address is 2601 East 7th,
Apt. 202, Austin, Texas 78702, or the registeregigemee, upon presentation of this Convertible Dalrenthe "DEBENTURE") by the
registered holder hereof (the "HOLDER") at the adfof the Company, the principal sum of $100,000t68 "PRINCIPAL AMOUNT"),
together with any accrued and unpaid interest tireeend other sums as hereinafter provided on A0riR008 (the "MATURITY DATE"), if
not sooner paid.

The following terms shall apply to this Debenture:
1. PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST.

(a) Interest on the Principal Amount outstandingebader shall be paid in cash, monthly, in arregtrthe rate of twelve percent (12%) per
annum from the date of issuance commencing witHitbemonthly payment due June 1, 2006 and morghlyments thereafter due on the
first day of each successive month ("INTEREST PAYWIEDATE"), to the person in whose name(s) such Délre is registered at the cl
of business on the 15th day immediately precedinty $nterest Payment Date (the "RECORD DATE");
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(b) The Company shall pay to the Holder the Priacmount of this Debenture and all interest acdriereon, but not yet paid, on the
Maturity Date, subject to any of the events speditielow:

(i) The Company in its sole discretion choosestteem all or any part of the outstanding Princfpabunt in accordance with Section 3
hereof; or

(i) The Holder in its sole discretion chooses ¢mwert all or any portion of the outstanding PrpatiAmount in accordance with Section 4
hereof.

2. PAYMENT. Payment of any sums due to the Holdetar the terms of this Debenture shall be madenitted States Dollars by check or
wire transfer at the option of the Company. Paynsball be made to any account or address desighgttéte Holder any time prior to any
payment due hereunder. If any payment hereundeldvadbierwise become due and payable on a day ochwit@inks are closed or permitted
to be closed in Houston, Texas, such payment bbahme due and payable on the next succeedingrdatioh banks are open and not
permitted to be closed in Houston, Texas ("Busifi¥sg’). The Company may prepay all or any parhef principal of this Debenture before
maturity without penalty, and interest shall imnadly cease to accrue on any amount so prepaid.

3. THE COMPANY'S OPTION TO REDEEM. The Debenturdl wé subject to redemption at the option of therPany, in whole or in part,
at 100% of the principal face amount of the Debentadeemed plus any accrued and unpaid intehestREDEMPTION AMOUNT") on
the Redemption Payment Date (as hereinafter défia¢dny time and from time to time, upon not lg&s 10 nor more than 30 days notice
to the Holder.

The Company shall deliver to the Holder a writtestibe of Redemption (the "NOTICE OF REDEMPTION"esffying the date for the
redemption (the "REDEMPTION PAYMENT DATE"), whictate shall be at least 10 but not more than 30 dfigsthe date of the Notice
Redemption (the "REDEMPTION PERIOD"). A Notice oétRemption shall not be effective with respect tp portion of this Debenture for
which the Holder has previously delivered a Not€€onversion (as hereinafter defined) or for caoaians elected to be made by the Holder
pursuant to Section 4 during the Redemption Pefiibd. Redemption Amount shall be determined asifHblder's conversion elections had
been completed immediately prior to the date ofMb&ice of Redemption. On the Redemption Paymei¢ Dhe Redemption Amount must
be paid in good funds to the Holder. In the evhat€ompany fails to pay the Redemption Amount @Rkedemption Payment Date as set
forth herein, then such Redemption Notice shalitdéand void. After the Redemption Payment Datdesis the Company shall default in the
payment of the Redemption Amount, interest willseto accrue on the Debenture or the portion tieadled for redemption.
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4. CONVERSION RIGHTS OF HOLDER.

(a) Conversion. The Holder of this Debenture wél/a the right, at the Holder's option, to convérbmaany portion of the Principal Amount
hereof into shares of Common Stock at any timer paianaturity (unless earlier redeemed) at the @asion Price of $6.55 per share (subject
to adjustment as described below). The right toredrthe Principal Amount of this Debenture caltledredemption will terminate at the clc

of business on the business day prior to the RetlemPayment Date for such Debenture, unless thepgaay subsequently fails to pay the
applicable Redemption Amount. The shares of comstock to be issued upon such conversion are hétimaferred to as the
"CONVERSION SHARES".

(b) Conversion Restrictions and Limitations. If tiempany has not previously obtained Shareholdgré\yal (as defined below), the num
of shares of Common Stock that may be issued bZtmepany or acquired by the Holder upon any coneersf this Debenture shall be
limited to the extent necessary to insure thatp¥ahg such conversion, the total number of shaféSommon Stock then beneficially owned
by the Holder and any Affiliates and any other Basswhose beneficial ownership of Common Stock ddal aggregated with the Holder's
for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended, does not exceed%D9the total number of issued and
outstanding shares of the Company's Common StddRXIMUM AMOUNT ISSUABLE"). Shareholder Approval islefined as obtaining
the vote of the Company's shareholders as mayduéreel by the applicable rules of the Nasdaq S@afi Market to approve the issuance of
shares of Common Stock in excess of the Maximum dahéssuable.

(c) Mechanics of Holder's Conversion. In the etbat the Holder elects to convert this Debentute @ommon Stock, the Holder shall give
notice of such election by delivering an executed eompleted notice of conversion ("NOTICE OF CONR&EON") to the Company and
such Notice of Conversion shall provide a breakdowreasonable detail of the Principal Amount tisdteing converted. In the event that the
Holder elects to convert only a portion of the Detibee, then the Holder shall also forward and swutee this Debenture to the Company with
the Notice of Conversion. On each Conversion Dasehereinafter defined) and in accordance withl@sce of Conversion, the Holder shall
make the appropriate reduction to the Principal Ama@s entered in its records and shall providéevrinotice thereof to the Company wit
five (5) business days after the Conversion DaaehElate on which a Notice of Conversion is detider telecopied to the Company in
accordance with the provisions hereof shall be @geaConversion Date (the "CONVERSION DATE"). Arfoof Notice of Conversion is
annexed hereto as Exhibit A. Pursuant to the tefitise Notice of Conversion, the Company will issgructions to the transfer agent as
soon as practicable thereafter, to cause to bedsand delivered to such Holder certificates fertlamber of full shares of Conversion Sh
to which such Holder shall be entitled as aforesaid, if necessary, a new Debenture representynareonverted portion of this Debenture.
The Company shall not issue fractional Conversibar&s upon conversion, but the number of ConveiSkares to be received by any
Holder upon conversion shall be rounded down tanthé whole number and the Holder shall be entitegayment of the remaining
principal amount in cash. In the case of the eserof the conversion rights set forth herein thevesosion privilege shall be deemed to have
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been exercised and the Conversion Shares issuadatesuich conversion shall be deemed to have bseedsipon the date of receipt by the
Company of the Notice of Conversion. The Holdedldtmtreated for all purposes as the record haddi¢hhe Conversion Shares, unless the
Holder provides the Company written instructionsht® contrary.

(d) Adjustment Provisions. The Conversion Price anchber and kind of shares or other securitie®tssued upon conversion determined
pursuant to this Debenture shall be subject tostifjent from time to time upon the happening ofaierévents while this conversion right
remains outstanding, as follows:

() Reclassification. In case of any reclassifioaficonsolidation or merger of the Company witlinbw another entity or any merger of ano
entity with or into the Company, or in the caseny sale, transfer or conveyance of all or subistiyntll of the assets of the Company
(computed on a consolidated basis), each Debetiteneoutstanding will, without the consent of angld¢r, become convertible only into the
kind and amount of securities, cash or other ptgpeceivable upon such reclassification, constilicia merger, sale, transfer or conveyance
by a Holder of the number of shares of Common Shoeitkwhich such Debenture was convertible immedlyaprior thereto, after giving

effect to any adjustment event.

(i) Stock Splits, Combinations and Dividends.Hétshares of Common Stock are subdivided or cordbirte a greater or smaller number of
shares of Common Stock, or if a dividend is paidtnCommon Stock or any preferred stock issuetth®yCompany in shares of Common
Stock, the Conversion Price shall be proportioyatetiuced in case of subdivision of shares or stiiklend or proportionately increased in
the case of combination of shares, in each suaghlmathe ratio which the total number of share€a@fnmon Stock outstanding immediately
after such event bears to the total number of shair€ommon Stock outstanding immediately priosuoh event.

(e) Issuance of New Debenture. Upon any partialersion of this Debenture, a new Debenture comtgittie same date and provisions of
this Debenture shall, at the request of the Holdelissued by the Company to the Holder for thegipal balance of this Debenture and
interest which shall not have been converted ai.pitie Company shall not pay any costs, fees oo#mr consideration to the Holder for
production and issuance of a new Debenture.

(f) Interest on Payment Date. In the case of anlyeb&re which has been converted after any Recatd, Dut on or before the next Interest
Payment Date, the interest due on such Interesh®atyDate, shall be payable on such Interest PatyDeie notwithstanding such
conversion. The interest shall be paid in castherliiterest Payment Date.

(9) Reservation of Shares. The Company shall dinadis reserve for issuance and maintain availalhleof its authorized but unissued
Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effectimg full conversion of the Debenture, the full numbkshares of Common Stock
deliverable upon the conversion of the Debentumftime to time outstanding. The Company shall ftone to time (subject to obtaining
necessary director and stockholder action), in @=zte



with the laws of the State of Texas, increase thikaized number of shares of its Common Stock @y time the authorized number of
shares of its Common Stock remaining unissued sbéalbe sufficient to permit the conversion of Bebenture.

5. EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES. The followingeadeemed to be an event of default ("Event of Diéfehereunder: (i) the
failure by the Company to pay any installment ¢éiast on the Debenture as and when due and pagmadbihe continuance of any such
failure for 30 days, (i) the failure by the Compan pay all or any part of the principal on theb@ature when and as the same become due
and payable at maturity, by acceleration or othgewfiii) the failure of the Company to perform amnversion of Debentures required under
the Debenture and the continuance of any suchréafrr 30 days, (iv) the failure by the Companybserve or perform any other covenan
agreement contained in the Debenture and the a@toe of such failure for a period of 30 days afterwritten notice is given to the
Company by the Holders, (v) the assignment by thia@any for the benefit of creditors, or an applaaby the Company to any tribunal for
the appointment of a trustee or receiver of a suthistl part of the assets of the Company, or tmeneencement of any proceedings relating to
the Company under any bankruptcy, reorganizatioangement, insolvency, readjustment of debtsptiiien or other liquidation law of ar
jurisdiction; or the filing of such application, ire commencement of any such proceedings agam&dampany and an indication of cons

by the Company to such proceedings, or the appeintiof such trustee or receiver, or an adjudicatioine Company bankrupt or insolvent,
or approval of the petition in any such proceedimgsl such order remains in effect for 60 daygvra default in the payment of principal
interest when due which extends beyond any staaddgof grace applicable thereto or an accelemdto any other reason of maturity of any
indebtedness for borrowed money of the Company anthggregate principal amount in excess of $780a0@ (vii) final unsatisfied
judgments not covered by insurance aggregatingdess of $750,000, at any one time rendered aga@sompany and not stayed, bon

or discharged within 75 days.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuingh@tthan an Event of Default specified in claugeapove with respect to the Company), t
in every such case, unless the principal shall ladready become due and payable, the Holder dbdimenture then outstanding, by notice in
writing to the Company (an "Acceleration Noticaet)ay declare all principal and accrued and unpdtést thereon to be due and payable
immediately. If an Event of Default specified imake (v) above occurs with respect to the Compahgrincipal and accrued and unpaid
interest thereon will be immediately due and pagain the outstanding Debenture without any dedtarair other act on the part of the
Holder. The Holder is authorized to rescind suatebaration if all existing Events of Default, oththan the non-payment of the principal and
interest on the Debenture which have become detydny such acceleration, have been cured or waived

6. LIMITATION ON MERGER, SALE OR CONSOLIDATION. Th€ompany may not, directly or indirectly, consotelaith or merge into
another person or sell, lease, convey or trandifer aubstantially all of its assets (computedsotonsolidated basis), whether in a single
transaction or a series of related transactionantaher person or group of affiliated personsesskither

(a) in the case of a merger or consolidation, tbm@any is the surviving entity or (b) the resultisgrviving
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or transferee entity is a corporation or limiteability company organized under the laws of anyestd the United States and expressly
assumes by supplemental agreement all of the aloligaof the Company in connection with the Debantu

Upon any consolidation or merger or any transfaalbér substantially all of the assets of the Campin accordance with the foregoing, the
successor corporation or limited liability compdoymed by such consolidation or into which the Campis merged or to which such
transfer is made, shall succeed to, and be sutestifar, and may exercise every right and powehefCompany under the Debenture with
same effect as if such successor corporation dgtelghtiability company had been named therein as@bmpany, and the Company will be
released from its obligations under the Debentxeept as to any obligations that arise from a essult of such transaction.

7. REGISTRATION RIGHTS.

(@) In the event that the Company files a Regisinabtatement to register shares of its CommonkSiaih the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form SB-2, S-3 or other similar f¢gaxcept for Form S-8 or Form S-4) than the Compaifiyundertake to use its best
efforts to register for resale from time to timethg Holder all of the shares into which the Debemimay be converted under the same
Registration Statement. The Company shall usesis$ dfforts to cause the Registration Statemeb¢tome effective under the Securities Act
as promptly as is practicable and to keep the Regjisn Statement continuously effective under3leeurities Act for a period of the earliel

(i) three years from the effective date or (ii)ilall of the shares which were registered for lke$mve been sold.

(b) From time to time, the Company shall prepar file with the SEC a post-effective amendmenti® Registration Statement or a
supplement to the related Prospectus or a supptesnamendment to any document incorporated thdrgireference or any other required
document, so that such Registration Statementwilcontain any untrue statement of a materialdacimit to state a material fact require
be stated therein or necessary to make the stateitienein not misleading, and so that, as thexed#livered to purchasers of the securities
being sold thereunder, such Prospectus will notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ort@émstate a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statertenrtsin, in light of the circumstances under whindly were made, not misleading; provide
the Holder copies of any documents filed in sucimbers as the Holder shall reasonably request;rdndm the Holder that the Company has
complied with its obligations and that the Registra Statement and related Prospectus may be osdéldef purpose of selling all or any of
such securities (or that, if the Company has fdqubst-effective amendment to the RegistrationeBtanht which has not yet been declared
effective, the Company will notify the Holder taatteffect, will use its best efforts to secure pptlsnthe effectiveness of such post-effective
amendment and will immediately so notify the Holddren the amendment has become effective).
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8. NO PERSONAL LIABILITY OF SHAREHOLDERS, OFFICERS]RECTORS. No recourse shall be had for the payrogthe principal
or the interest on this Debenture, or for any clhased thereon, or otherwise in respect theredfased on or in respect of any Debenture
supplemental thereto, against any incorporatockstolder, officer, or director (past, present, wufe) of the Company, whether by virtue of
any constitution, statute, or rule of law, or bg tnforcement of any assessment or penalty orneigerall such liability being by the
acceptance hereof, and as part of the consideratiadhe issue hereof, expressly waived and retkase

9. LISTING OF REGISTERED HOLDER OF DEBENTURE. Tidebenture will be registered as to principal inltt@der's name on the
books of the Company at its principal office in Idtan, Texas, after which no transfer hereof shaW&lid unless made on the Company's
books at the office of the Company, by the Holdenebf, in person, or by attorney duly authorizediiting, and similarly noted hereon.

10. GOVERNING LAW; CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. THIS BENTURE SHALL BEGOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS WITH OUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAWS
PROVISIONS THEREOF.

11. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER. Any waiver or amendmengheto shall be in writing signed by the Holder. fdibure on the part of the
Holder to exercise, and no delay in exercising, iégiyt hereunder shall operate as a waiver therewfshall any single or partial exercise by
the Holder of any right hereunder preclude any otinéurther exercise thereof or the exercise of atiher rights. The remedies herein
provided are cumulative and not exclusive of ameptemedies provided by law.

12. RESTRICTIONS AGAINST TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT.

(a) This Debenture may not be sold, transferresigaed, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise dispotbkd the registered Holder hereof, in
whole or in part, unless and until either (i) theb@nture has been duly and effectively registevedesale under the Securities Act of 193:
amended, and under any then applicable state Sesuaws; or (ii) the registered Holder delivasstie Company a written opinion accepte

to its counsel that an exemption from such redistiaequirements is then available with respectrtp such proposed sale or disposition.
Company has the absolute right, in its sole digameto approve or disapprove such transfer. Aagdfer otherwise permissible hereunder
shall be made only at the principle office of then@hbany upon surrender of this Debenture for caatieti and upon the payment of any
transfer tax or other government charge connetieewvith, and upon any such transfer a new Debemtubebentures will be issued to the
transferee in exchange therefor.The transfereki®ftebenture shall be bound by the provisionsisfDebenture. The register of the transfer
of this Debenture shall occur upon the deliveryhig Debenture, endorsed by the registered Holdbisaduly authorized attorney, signature
guaranteed, to the Company or its transfer agexth Bebenture instrument issued upon
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the transfer of this Debenture shall have theirtiste legend contained herein conspicuously impdron it.

(b) In the event the Company successfully effeaggstration of the Common Stock into which this Beture is convertible, the Company
may stop or prevent the transfer of such CommookSfar a period not to exceed 60 days in the etreCompany files a registration
statement for the sale of its securities, and foindefinite period of time if the Company, in &sle discretion, believes that such security
holder has material non-public information.

13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; HEADINGS. This Debenture ctinges the entire agreement between the Holdett@€ompany pertaining
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all andicontemporaneous agreements, representationsdacstandings, written or oral, of
such parties. The headings are for reference pespmsly and shall not be used in construing orpméting this Debenture.

14. NOTICES. All notices and other communicationsvided for herein shall be in writing and shalldeemed to have been duly given if

delivered personally, transmitted by facsimile sraission (fax) or sent by registered or certifiegilpreturn receipt requested, postage
prepaid, or overnight air courier guaranteeing raxt delivery:

(a) If to the Company, to it at the following adsse

10959 Cutten Road Houston, Texas 77066 Attn: Esicgan
(fax) 281-397-6765

(b) If to registered Holder, then to the addrest®d on the front of this Debenture, unless changedotice in writing as provided for herein.

A notice or communication will be effective (i)dklivered in person or by overnight courier, onltisiness day it is delivered, (ii) if
transmitted by telecopier, on the business daytfah confirmed receipt by the addressee theraaf (&) if sent by registered or certified
mail, three (3) business days after dispatch.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Ricks Cabaret Internationat.lhas caused this Debenture to be duly executiésl @orporate name by the mar
signature of its President, and a facsimile o€dgporate seal to be impressed, imprinted or ergrérereon, attested by the manual signature

of its Secretary.

[Corporate Seal]

RICK'S CABAR ET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Witnessed:

/sl Eric La ngan

Eric Langan

President and Chief Exutive Officer Witness
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